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Tuesday, December 17, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Good morning, everybody.  We are here to conclude the last part of the hearing process for the Phase II proceeding.  There was a settlement agreement which the Board accepted, and we are going to deal with the remaining issues over the next three days.  We are very intent on completing all of the evidence within the three days.  We do not want to spill over into the New Year on this one, so we are really hoping that everybody will pay attention to the time limits that we have put in, and, if you are not paying to attention to them, then I will draw your attention as we go.

All right.  Could we have the land acknowledgement, please.
Land Acknowledgement


MS. SANASIE:  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on these lands and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of them.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  Thank you.  We will take appearances next.
Appearances


MR. STEVENS:  Good morning, Commissioner Moran.  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is David Stevens.  I represent Enbridge Gas.  With me today from the Enbridge Gas regulatory team are Vanessa Innis and Joel Denomy.  Counsel who will be assisting through the hearing process are Tania Persad, who is to my right, as well as Henry Ren, who is in the audience, both of whom are with the Enbridge legal group, as well as my college Patrick Copeland.  Thank you.

Oh, I am sorry.  I should also mention that Angela Monforton from Enbridge will be assisting us by projecting exhibits as helpful during the exam.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  The all-important Ms. Monforton.

MR. STEVENS:  Indeed.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Commissioners.  My name is Ian Mondrow.  I am counsel for the Industrial Gas Users' Association, the acronym for which is IGUA.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  Kent Elson, counsel for Environmental Defence.

MR. LI:  Good morning, everyone.  Clement Li, representing BOMA or Building Owners' and Managers' Association.

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning.  Julie Girvan, on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.  And Lawrie Gluck will also be appearing on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning.  My name is Mark Garner.  I am appearing for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  It is Michael Millar, counsel for OEB Staff.  I am joined by Khalil Viraney, of Staff, and my cocounsel Mr. Ian Richler.  Mr. Chair, I am not sure how many people may be online, as well.  There we go.

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning.  Randy Aiken on behalf of the London Property Management Association.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  It is Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers and for the Canadian Biogas Association.

MS. WAINEWRIGHT:  Good morning.  Linda Wainewright on behalf of Six Nations Natural Gas.

MR. ABU-ESEIFAN:  Good morning.  Khaled Abu-Eseifan on behalf of the Kitchener Utilities, and I am accompanied by Jaya Chatterjee, as well.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning.  Tom Ladanyi on behalf of Energy Probe.

MR. POLLOCK:  Good morning.  Scott Pollock, counsel for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. WALKER:  Good morning.  Scott Walker for the Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators, OAPPA.

MR. DAUBE:  Good morning.  Nick Daube for Three Fires Group and Minogi Corp.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I should also put in an appearance for Amanda Montgomery on behalf of the [audio dropout] coalition.  For the sake of efficiency, I will be doing much of the work on behalf of both organizations, but I will put in an appearance for Ms. Montgomery, as well.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  All right.  I think that completes the appearances.  We are ready to move to the first panel.  Mr. Stevens, I think you are up.
Preliminary Matters


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  Just as a preliminary matter, I want to note for the record that Enbridge will be filing slight updates to a couple of CVs that were filed, where minor mistakes were noted, so we will do that today.  I don't think they have any bearing on the qualifications and the experience of the folks, but, just so you won't be surprised, that is coming later today.

So, with that, we will turn our attention to panel 1.  With us today are, closest to you, Ian Garnett, who is the manager, process and compliance, with Enbridge Gas.  And with him is Michael McGivery, director of work management and operations support for Enbridge Gas.  Before we proceed, perhaps they can be affirmed.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  You will be sworn in both at the same time.  I will read a declaration, and you can respond first with your name, the company, and how you respond.  So I will read it, and then we will go one and then the other.

The Panel is depending upon you to tell us the truth, and the law requires us to do so.  Before you testify, we must ask you these questions:

Do you solemnly promise this Panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, and do you understand that breaking that promise would be offence under our law?

MR. GARNETT:  Ian Garnett, Enbridge Gas; I do.

MR. McGIVERY:  Michael McGivery, Enbridge Gas; I do.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you.
METER READING PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT (ISSUE 8) - EGI PANEL 1

Ian Garnett,

Michael McGivery; Affirmed

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Stevens


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Garnett, on behalf of the panel, can you confirm that the evidence related to the meter-reading issue in this Phase II proceeding, including the interrogatory responses, was prepared by you or under your direction?

MR. GARNETT:  I can.

MR. STEVENS:  And can you confirm that, to the best of your knowledge, it is accurate?

MR. GARNETT:  I can.

MR. STEVENS:  And do you adopt it on behalf of yourself and Mr. McGivery for the purposes of your testimony?

MR. GARNETT:  I do.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  With that, I understand that the witnesses have a brief presentation to make, and, in connection with their presentation, they have two slides, a title slide and a slide with a bit of information provided in advance.  Perhaps, just for completeness of the record, we could mark that as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, that will be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT K1.1: EGI PANEL 1 PRESENTATION


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  With that, I will turn it over to you, Mr. Garnett, for your opening comments.
Presentation by Mr. Garnett


MR. GARNETT:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Good morning.  Ms. Monforton, if you wouldn't mind just going to slide 2, any of the numbers I am speaking to might just help folks follow along.

I am here to address the operation challenges that Enbridge Gas has been [audio dropout] in OEB's decision in Phase I.  I am also here to provide some rationale behind our proposal to remove inaccessible meters from the meter-reading performance metric calculation as part of Phase II's broader scorecard issue.

I want to note that Enbridge has carefully considered OEB's decision in Phase I, and we have also considered comments from intervenors, but, contrary to the OEB's findings that no unusual circumstances are persisting beyond Enbridge Gas' control, these circumstances are indeed persisting.

In 2022, 32 percent of consecutive estimates were a result of access-related issues.  That percentage grew to 49 percent in 2023, and, as of October this year, 60 percent of all consecutive estimates are related to access issues.

Just in terms of volumes, Enbridge has approximately 4 million customers, which means we are obligated to provide about 48 million reads to our billing system every single year.  The number of reads that we are asking to exclude are 277,000 or approximately 46,000 consistently on a bimonthly basis.

Enbridge Gas has invested $7.5 million since 2022, over $7.5 million since 2022, in a variety of technology, process, and customer-engagement initiatives and this has significantly improved our meter reading performance metric.  Approximately 80 percent improvement, from 5 percent in 2021 to 0.97 percent as of October 2024.

We have also seen the benefits to customers.  We have seen a 70 percent reduction in consecutive estimate related complaints through the ORB, and we have also seen over 37 percent reduction in billing related complaints coming through our ombuds department.

But despite all of these improvements, despite favourable weather conditions, despite improved resource performance, we are still having significant challenges hitting this metric as a result of the unusual circumstances that are persisting and our ability or inability to access meters and obtain reads.

Enbridge has provided evidence on these unusual circumstances which include a significant increase in the number of pools the associated lock gate.  There is an increase in dogs on properties preventing us from access continues to be obstructions, construction debris overgrowth, but one of the key customer behaviours that has changed in recent year is the increased security measures that customers are taking as a result of the perceived and actual security threats.  Things like break and enters, robberies, fraud, thefts these kinds of things.  And it is causing folks to be much more conservative with gaining access to their properties and increasing, again, locked gates and things of that nature.  Again, these access issues contribute to 60 percent of the overall consecutive estimate, which means if we were to read 100 percent of the meters that we had access to, essentially eliminate weather and resource all together, we still could not obtain this metric.

The issue of how Enbridge can meet this metering performance metric with an inability to access such a large percentage of meters remains unresolved.  I am now going to turn it over to my colleague, Mr. McGivery, to talk about the options that Enbridge is looking at and also some of the challenges with them.

MR. McGIVERY:  Thank you, Mr. Garnett.  Without approving this proposal, Enbridge Gas may need to resort to disconnecting meters to eliminate the inaccessible meter issues.  This is not an ideal solution, nor is it Enbridge's intent.  Disconnecting meters we believe is not the viable solution that is in the best interest of our customers, or Enbridge Gas, and we expect this would lead to many more customer complaints to the OEB.  ERTs and AMI are a much better long-term solution and option to address the MRPM metric.  And if the OEB does not approve costs related to those solutions, then eliminating inaccessible meters from the metric on a more permanent basis may be appropriate.

The longer-term solution of meter reading could be the implementation of advance metering infrastructure, known as AMI.  This will eliminate the need for manual meter readings and we are eager to share our AMI proof of concept later in Phase III.  However, even if AMI was approved today, full implementation of this solution is more like at least 8 to 10 years away.  Therefore, we have proposed a fair solution to the meter reading performance metric by removing inaccessible meters, which are outside the company's control.

Enbridge Gas is doing everything within reason in the short term and has a plan to resolve the situation in the long term by implementing an [audio dropout] solution.  It is not appropriate to hold the company for issues outside of its control and beyond reasonable resources and costs expectations to mitigate MRPM in the near term.  Therefore, Enbridge Gas proposes to remove inaccessible meters from the equation for 2024 in the remainder of IR term.  Thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. McGivery.  And with that, the witnesses have completed their opening remarks and are ready to receive questions from others.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  BOMA, Mr. Li, I think you are up first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Li


MR. LI:  Yes.  Can you hear me?  Yes?  Okay.  Good morning.  Good morning, panel.  Good morning everyone.  I only have a few questions, but I probably won't take the whole 20.  So, let's see how it goes.

Let's start with more like a clarification.  At a very high level, did the rationale of your proposal is that despite the extra effort of Enbridge that includes, like, customer outreach and marketing communication increasing the number of meter reading staff by 12.5 percent since March 2022 process improvement involves the call centre billing centre -- billing system, I mean, technology improvement, installing ERT meters.  So, despite all this work Enbridge is not expecting to be able to [audio dropout] MRPM target without excluding inaccessible meters in the calculation; right?

MR. GARNETT:  Ian Garnett.  That is correct, Mr. Li.  We are seeing significant challenges as a result of access.

MR. LI:  Yes, okay.  So, actually in your evidence I believe that you mentioned even if you were allowed to exclude the inaccessible meters in your calculations and with the additional effort that it still will be a challenge; is it correct?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.  Just to clarify however, when we first submitted that in May, since then we are expecting if we were to remove inaccessible meters we think we can achieve it this year.

MR. LI:  Oh, you think you can?

MR. GARNETT:  We think we can.

MR. LI:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.  And in your presentation you just did a few minutes ago you mentioned that Enbridge, since 2022, has spend $7.5 million.  Now, is it just OM&A or is it including the ERT capital?

MR. GARNETT:  It is a combination of both.

MR. LI:  So, it is everything; all the incremental, the extra effort?

MR. GARNETT:  Correct.

MR. LI:  I see.  Okay.  Now, if you turn to -- well, actually you don't have to, but anyway.  I am looking at Exhibit I1.7-BOMA-2, which is basically your response to BOMA's IR question number 2.  Okay.

In your response in part A, you stated that Enbridge has considered utilizing ERT and AMI meters as long-term solution for this inaccessible meters.  And then a little bit, and then you said but supply chain issues and cost implication, resource issue all make ERT meters an attractive solution, and AMI appears to be the preferred long term solution.  Right?  That is correct, right?  Yes.

And with all this in front of you, you have been spending $7.5 million and the fact that you concluded it seems like AMI appears to be the preferred long-term solution.  Has Enbridge considered that you should shift your focus to your preferred long-term solution, that is AMI, and have you considered or planned to accelerate the AMI pilot timeline?  I know that you mentioned that it is going to be 10 years, but have you considered accelerating this timeline, and, if yes, what is -- what does that mean; and if not, like, can you give me some rationale why not?

MR. McGIVERY:  Michael McGivery.  So, understanding that the proof of concept is still underway and more information will be provided in Phase III, we are balancing a future AMI type of solution by when we are doing our MXGI program, our meter exchange program, that we do on an annual basis, we are currently purchasing AMI capable meters and installing those through that program for a future potential use for AMI.  So, we believe we are balancing future AMI solution and giving us the flexibility depending on what that solution may look like in the future by leveraging our meter exchange program with installing AMI capability meters.

MR. LI:  So, in other words, can you confirm that this is the fastest that you can get to AMI, or do you think this is, like, have you considered different scenario that actually accelerate AMI timeline?

MR. McGIVERY:  I think it is more appropriate to wait for the proof of concept because there is a lot of issues that need to be, we will say, resolved with AMI and a strategic plan in place.  You think of LDC infrastructure, cellular networks for AMI.  There is lot of technology.  It is not just installing the meter; there is a lot of strategic and partnerships within industry that will have to take place to fully benefit from an AMI-type solution.

MR. LI:  Right.  Now, in the technical conference in the summer, I think we asked a very similar question, which is jurisdictional review, that in other jurisdictions such as FortisBC, they actually have full natural gas AMI deployment approved by the regulator, and it is currently being deployed, full scale.

Have you looked into that in terms of lessons learned?

MR. McGIVERY:  I believe the group that is leading that AMI-proofing concept has been in touch with Fortis, but I cannot comment on those interactions.

MR. LI:  And the status report is not going to come out until Phase III, is it correct, when it comes to the AMI pilot?

MR. McGIVERY:  That is correct.  Enbridge will be providing the proof-of-concept findings in Phase III.

MR. LI:  Is there anything else you can disclose at this point when it comes to the AMI status?  Because I know what you are talking about is proof of concept.  I think we are just very eager to find out a little bit more, like, where are we heading right now.  Because I know you mentioned that it is 10 years away.

Do you have a preliminary timeline that you can share?

MR. McGIVERY:  Unfortunately, I do not because we have to work within the industry, and that will be post-the proof of concept in Phase III, what I perceive to be a natural course of action.

However, what I can share is if we were able to get an AMI-type meter in these inaccessible areas with our inaccessible customers, that would provide a long-term mitigation solution for inaccessible customers.

But gaining access to install the meter will still present a challenge, but we are hopeful that we can overcome that, over time.

MR. LI:  So, with the long-term AMI solution, are you quite confident that you will be able to resolve this metrics issue?

MR. McGIVERY:  In the long term, if we can get access to install that meter in these inaccessible locations with these inaccessible customers, we are confident that will provide a long-term solution for this issue.  Yes.

MR. LI:  Okay.

MR. GARNETT:  Mr. Li, do you mind if I could just add something?  One of the things that we can confirm from the proof of concept is that the pilot that we have seen has a hundred percent resolution from that test case on meter-reading performance.  So we know it is a solution.

As Mr. McGivery said, the issue with AMI is the timeline around this.  As you know, we are being measured against this metric now.  And the issue is not -- is our ability to gain access to these customers.

And, as you mentioned earlier, our investments, we are trying to get in touch with customers.  We are trying to reach out, we are trying to get by, we are trying to get to their houses monthly.  We are doing a lot of things to try to get interactions with them so that we can read their meter.  That will always be one of the inhibiting factors to move AMI faster with these particular customers, is the fact that we need to access their meter in order to [audio dropout] and get them on to either an AMI or an ERT [audio dropout].  I just wanted to reiterate that.

MR. LI:  No, thank you.  It is just my opinion that, like, because you are spending a lot of money right now, and all these mitigation efforts that you are talking about that is worth $7.5 million in the last two years, they are almost band-aid solutions, though, in a way, until you find a long-term solution.

Is that correct?  Is it the right way to describe it?

MR. GARNETT:  No, I don't think so.  As Mr. McGivery indicated, we are trying to acquire as many ERT [audio dropout] which are forward [audio dropout] that will meet [audio dropout].  So we are incorporating that.  And I think if you look at VECC 4 you will see that, you know, in 2024, we expected to purchase somewhere around 75,000.  And when you think about our about current government exchange program, between 100,000 and 120,000 meters, a good portion of how we are exchanging meters is related to this technology.

Again, the challenge is how do you target the accessible customers or the inaccessible customers so that you can get these meters in place for these customers that we can't get access to, and obviously in a cost-effective way that allows you to actually [audio dropout] manage and being able to read them remotely because, again, a random sampling isn't as ideal, either.

MR. LI:  I see.  Can you confirm that all the ERT meters that you are installing are actually compatible with AMI technology?

MR. GARNETT:  I am pausing because I don't know a hundred percent of that, Mr. Li.  I know that the meters that we are acquiring, the last time I checked.  But is it a hundred percent?  I can't confirm it is a hundred percent, but I know that the meters were [audio dropout] are meant to be compatible with AMI.  Yes.

MR. LI:  Okay.  Thank you.  Actually, this is really quick.  These are all the questions I have.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Li.  We are just going to pause for a minute to allow Commissioner Sword to attend to something.  So take a moment of silence.

Next up, Mr. Quinn for FRPO.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Good morning, Commissioners.  Good morning, witness panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn, I am here on behalf of FRPO.  And hopefully we can move through this quite quickly, because we are on the time frame.

So this billing issue and the issue of inaccessible meters has some history.  And, in reviewing the history, not only from this proceeding but from Phase I, I was unable to see where Enbridge has acknowledged the impact of its billing integration wherein as we understand it, and please confirm for me, the Union Gas customers, legacy Union Gas customers were moved to the Enbridge billing system in July of 2021.  Is that correct?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.  We integrated our systems in July 2021.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And so does Enbridge have an internal audit process wherein its performance is reviewed internally and reports are generated for the purpose of internal audit?

MR. GARNETT:  Mr. Quinn, could you just clarify what you mean by performance, internal performance?

MR. QUINN:  I will leave it to the specifics of an internal audit; is there an internal audit process that Enbridge has to look at its performance, financial and otherwise?

MR. GARNETT:  So my understanding is we of course follow the SOX controls in terms of an audit process, Mr. Quinn.  But I am not an expert in that particular area.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, this may need to be taken back, anyway.

Would you not have knowledge as to whether your billing system underwent any form of internal audit in 2021?

MR. GARNETT:  I am not aware of that, no.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But you do have requirements to do audits on your billing performance under GDAR.  Correct?

MR. GARNETT:  I actually don't know that, Mr. Quinn.  I would have to check, to be honest.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I didn't think this would be something that you wouldn't be familiar with.  But in 7.3.2 of GDAR, it is called "audits."  And it says:
"Distributors must audit their billing data for accuracy."

Are you not familiar with that?

MR. GARNETT:  Just personally, no, I am not familiar with the [audio dropout], unfortunately.  I wish I was an expert in all the GDAR, but I am not familiar with that particular clause.  No, sorry.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then I would like to ask by way of undertaking that Enbridge produces its audits, whether GDAR related or internal audit related, for 2021 through 2023 specifically pertaining to your billing system and the billing data accuracy.

Can you undertake that, please?

MR. STEVENS:  Just a moment, please.  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Enbridge Gas is prepared, you know, subject to any confidentiality concerns -- I am not sure that there are any; I just [audio dropout] in case -- is prepared to produce any audits that it has done of billing data for accuracy between 2021 and 2023, as stipulated by GDAR.

MR. MILLAR:  That is Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING J1.1:  TO PRODUCE ANY AUDITS OF BILLING DATA FOR ACCURACY BETWEEN 2021 AND 2023, AS STIPULATED BY GDAR.


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just a point of clarification:  You said "subject to confidentiality."  Is that something that you would produce the information but claim confidential treatment over it, or you would refuse to produce it?

MR. STEVENS:  No, no.  The former, recognizing that confidential [audio dropout] --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I just wanted to --


MR. STEVENS:  -- without having seen the data, ae don't know whether there would be some sort of confidentiality concern associated with public consumption.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I just wanted to clarify.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That was the clarification I was going to seek, so thank you very much.

I think the best place to go next, if I may ask, Ms. Monforton, if you can turn up Exhibit I1.7-STAFF-2, attachment 1, please.  Thank you.  Yes.  I was going to ask if you can -- if we just focus on the top of 2022, that is great.  It is a great view.  Can the witnesses see that okay?

MR. GARNETT:  We can, Mr. Quinn.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  I am not going to ask you to do any math.  I will do the math for you subject to check, but I was interested in the distribution of the numbers.  And, of course, there are a lot of numbers here, but the distinction I would like to draw your attention to is, first off, there are two distinctions.  One is the overall numbers, and then, two, the difference between the two legacy territories.

So if I may, first, the total number of consecutive estimate meters in -- we will just use Enbridge Gas Distribution column -- is 739,000.  When I add the Enbridge columns between total customer-caused inaccessible meters and the total number of non-customer-caused inaccessible meters, I am getting the same number for Enbridge.  When you add 401 to 338, I get 739.  Do you see that?

MR. GARNETT:  I do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So are you attributing all of the consecutive estimate meters to either inaccessible meters caused by customers or inaccessible meters not caused by customers?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, so the IR specifically asked us to clarify the difference between customer-impacted access versus non, so this is an attempt to split that out.  Essentially, the total customer-caused is the inaccessible meters that we are speaking to.  The non-customer-caused would be meters that we are unable to read for other reasons, such as weather as an example.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, that is good clarification.  So, in that category of "other," would that be that you cannot find that customer because their account did not get transferred in your billing system correctly?

MR. GARNETT:  That could be one reason.  If what you are referring to is if the route wasn't there but not -- a very, very small portion of that number could be because of that.

MR. QUINN:  Well, let's just say we have quite a number of members and a lot of them experienced that issue.  You are familiar that you did have, especially in Union Gas territory, an inability to find customers that did not get transferred properly in your transition of your billing system?

MR. GARNETT:  I can't speak to the scope or to the scale of that, Mr. Quinn, but I am aware.  We periodically have to do meter-reading-route reviews in order to ensure accuracy, and meter readers can report if they are unable to find an address that is on their route, for the company to investigate and clarify that for them.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, maybe this might help.  Let's turn to the percentages.  So I simply -- and, if you could, take these numbers subject to check.  When I look at total number of consecutive meter reads that are in the second set of columns, I have 739 for Enbridge out of 2.6, 2.7 million actual number of meters.  I get 2.7 percent for the Enbridge territory.  Would you take that number subject to check?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, I can take that number subject to check.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, in the Union territory, the same math of 1.17 million opposite Union's 8-point -- sorry, 18.8 million actual meters, I get 6.2 percent.  Would you take that number, subject to check?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, Mr. Quinn, I will.

MR. QUINN:  So there is a significantly higher level in the Union territory.  Can you offer an explanation as to why that number would be so much higher in the Union legacy territory?

MR. GARNETT:  I can, Mr. Quinn.  You will recall we had to switch meter-reading vendors in 2020 and saw significant challenges with getting that meter-reader vendor onboard, up to speed, resolving resourcing issue, so a big, big reason for the difference between legacy Enbridge and legacy Union Gas rate zone was that the legacy Union Gas rate zone has to swap a new meter-reading vendor, and it has taken some time to get them up to speed.

You will notice conversely, in 2023, the significant improvement there as a result of vendor understanding the business much better and working with Enbridge Gas to really figure things out.  And that is where you will see such a dramatic improvement in 2023.  That is the explanation.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so that meter-reading vendor that left its agreement with Enbridge, they were only reading meters in Union legacy territory?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just in your discussion with my friend from BOMA, you were talking about ERT, and I was very interested in the conversation of ERT versus AMI.  So, just so we make sure the record is clear, ERT, can you provide what the acronym stands for?

MR. McGIVERY:  Michael McGivery.  Thank you for the question, Mr. Quinn.  So "ERT" stands for "encoder reader transmitter," and then "AMI" is "advance metering infrastructure."

ERT, to -- I guess the easiest way to explain it is a device that is within the meter that gives technologically capabilities where, if a meter reader was driving down the street, it would get the signal and be able to read the meter without having to, say, go up to it or go beyond a locked gate, things of that nature, any obstructions that Mr. Garnett said in his opening statement that may prevent us from reading that meter.  So it is advantageous to mitigate these inaccessibility issues.

And then AMI is a step further in advanced technology, where you can utilize cellular technology to send the read directly to our office without sending a resource to site.  That is why we believe that is a better and more improved longer term solution.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, I have the benefit of your evidence in front of me.  Would you take it as a friendly amendment:  It is "encoder received transmitter" for "ERT"?

MR. McGIVERY:  We accept.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So there was evidence on concerns about supply chain issues about, it sounds like, 75,000 ERTs were to be purchased in 2024.  Is that correct?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so can you tell me what the cost is -- sorry, the customer-related cost associated with ERT?  What would be the cost, incremental cost, of ERT on a meter as opposed to a standard meter that is not equipped?

MR. GARNETT:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, are you speaking to the cost of the meter itself?

MR. QUINN:  The incremental cost.  So if you were to buy a standard meter or a meter ERT equipped, what would be the incremental cost of the ERT enabled meter?

MR. GARNETT:  I think Mr. Garner through VECC provided an IR.  Let me just find it and I will reference that, and I think it...

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Because where I am going with this, and I don't know if it is included in that IR, is for the same situation, a standard meter versus an AMI equipped meter what is the incremental cost?

MR. GARNETT:  So, I can speak to that.  I mean, again, the ERTs that we are purchasing, the signal is just what needs to change between the two.  So, whether we drive down the street to pick up the signal from a van, as an example, or connect it to cellular technology, so the incremental cost is the infrastructure for AMI to support the remote read as opposed to the meter itself.  So, the cost is very similar, virtually the same, Mr. Quinn, between the two meters, ERT and AMI.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That is not the answer that I was expecting.  Do you have evidence to support that?

MR. GARNETT:  I don't with me, no.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Could you provide those costs, the incremental cost of ERT versus the incremental cost of AMI?  I think the Board would be happy to see that at this juncture.  More of it will come in Phase III, I understand.  But we are talking about inaccessible meters and hopefully a shorter term solution, as Mr. Li was referring to, to get customer satisfaction.

MR. STEVENS:  To be clear, Mr. Quinn, are you asking for the incremental cost just for the metering infrastructure?  In other words, the difference in cost of a meter between a conventional meter versus either an ERT meter or an AMI meter?  Or are you asking for the incremental cost associated with both the ERT/AMI meter and the additional technology or infrastructure needed to read those meters?

MR. QUINN:  Not the latter, Mr. Stevens.  I asked for customer related costs, so the meters themselves versus the total infrastructure to receive the signals on the other end.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  It sounds like we do have an answer that addresses some of that and we can confirm in an undertaking whether there is any incremental cost as between an ERT and AMI meter.  So, we are prepared to provide an undertaking that will advise as to what is the incremental cost of an ERT enabled meter versus a conventional meter and what is the incremental cost of an AMI enabled meter versus a conventional meter.

MR. MILLAR:  That is undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING J1.2:  TO ADVISE THE INCREMENTAL COST OF AN ERT-ENABLED METER VERSUS A CONVENTIONAL METER; TO ADVISE THE INCREMENTAL COST OF AN AMI-ENABLED METER VERSUS A CONVENTIONAL METER.


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Garner, did you want to make a comment?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  Sorry, I was just trying to be helpful to Mr. Garnett who was looking for, I believe, I1.7-LPMA-3, which actually does have, I believe, something that goes to the difference between an ERT meter and a regular meter.  And I think that is what he was looking for.  I was just trying to be helpful.  That is also in our compendium, which will come later.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

MR. QUINN:  I will review that, but I trust, if it is not complete, Enbridge can complete the undertaking as taken.  So, thank you.  Okay.

I see that has been pulled up.  If we can go back, Ms. Monforton, to the STAFF-2, Exhibit I1.7-STAFF-2 that I referred to, thank you.  Okay.  I have done some percentages before with Enbridge legacy territory being 2.7.  In 2023, it dropped down to 1.1.  Now, since this meter vendor, per se, was only in the Union legacy territory and it accounts for some of the higher difference, what I am reading from this chart is between 2022 and 2023 the percentage of total number of consecutive estimate meters went down from 2.7 to 1.1.  That, in terms of quantity, is over 400,000 meters.

So, to the extent that these meters were otherwise inaccessible, just on the Enbridge territory, we have got in round numbers over 200,000 meters that have gone from being customer-related inaccessible and then in -- sorry, I might have been confusing the record here.  So, in the total customer inaccessible meters in 2022 in the Enbridge territories over 400,000.  In 2023, this was 188.  So, that is less than half of these customer related inaccessibles over 200,000 meters.

Given that Enbridge had trouble with getting ERTs, can you explain how these meters went from customer-related inaccessible to all of a sudden the problem is fixed in one year?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, I can speak to the improvement.  A lot of it, one:  Post-pandemic conditions, of course, assist with some of them.  Also the mitigation efforts really helped, so again increasing staffing, you know, 12.5 percent, 18 percent specifically in the new vendor.  So significant increase in the amount of staff that the meter reader is using.  The new technology makes it easier to access real-time uploading, less chance of error.  Real time status allows folks to be able to work longer hours to address folks that might be at home in the evening, work during the day.

We improved a lot of our communications which did two things:  one, it really drove the customer reads up, so again, consecutive estimates is if we can get an  estimate -- or if we get an actual read through some means, which includes a customer read, that is an actual read.  That doesn't necessarily mean we have gained access.  And even if we are getting access it doesn't mean we are going to be able to gain access again.

So a lot of these improvements and the communications with customers, we did a lot of marketing campaigns and some you may have experienced the meter reading campaigns that we do incenting folks to provide reads.  Any time a customer contacts us in the contact centre we ensure to ask them to provide a read if they are able to.  So, a lot of these combined factors with the increased staffing, the increased communication, the increased education, the increased technology improvements, post pandemic conditions really takes care a lot of the bulk of the issue.  What is left now and the reason why access is such a bigger percentage, being 60 percent as opposed to 49 percent in 2023, is because we have lowered the number of consecutive estimates.

So, what is left?  So, what is left is 60 percent of the customers that we can't get access to.  So, the other folks, the significant reduction, we have been able to get in touch with them.  We have been able to sort of work through them.  The reason why we are here is because what is left is the that folks we can't get access to.  So, that is what is left.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I recognize my time just ran out so I will defer further questions to Phase III.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. LI:  Mr. Quinn, it is Mr. Li from BOMA.  Would you mind if I have a follow-up question?

MR. QUINN:  I am in the hands of the Board, as you are.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Go ahead, Mr. Li.

MR. LI:  Thank you.  No, it's just because since we are talking about AMI/ERT.  So, I have a follow-up questions.  When you talk about AMI meters, I am still trying to understand you are saying that it is compatible, or mostly believe that mostly compatible, when it comes to AMI versus ERT.  Can you confirm that an AMI meter is it similar to, in the electric world, the smart meter that you are capable of -- or when AMI is up you can actually pull hourly profile when it comes to natural gas consumption?

MR. McGIVERY:  Unfortunately we can't comment on that.  That capability sounds like you referring to the LDC world, time of use, things of that nature.  Gas is not electronic.  I don't believe so, but I would defer to the Phase III of the proof of concept.

MR. LI:  When it comes to it the ERT meters that you are deploying right now, you can only get just consumption?  You cannot get the hourly interval data?

MR. McGIVERY:  I can't answer that unequivocally, currently.  I do know that we can get a read remotely with the AMI- or ERT-type meter.  And the AMI meters that we are installing have both capabilities, where you can get the read or get it through the cellular technology, if we can get that technology up and running.  But I can't answer your question.

MR. LI:  Right.  So you are talking about a monthly read, right?  Or by [audio dropout]

MR. McGIVERY:  It will provide us a read whenever we request one.

MR. LI:  I see.

MR. McGIVERY:  Obviously, driving down the street would require us to be there, in whatever frequency that is; where AMI, it would be dependent on battery life.  So you would want to balance that out, because you don't want to get to site and change out batteries for these AMI meters.

But we can increase that frequency is my belief, whether it is monthly, daily, hourly, and get that read, potentially.

MR. LI:  I see.  Okay.

MR. McGIVERY:  But it doesn't give the reporting that you are referring to.  I can't comment on that.

MR. LI:  I see.  No, that is very helpful.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Li.  I think we will move on to Ms. Girvan, next, please.

MR. LI:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning, hi.  I am Julie Girvan with the Consumers Council of Canada.

Can you explain to me, how often does Enbridge actually read the meters for its customers?

MR. McGIVERY:  Currently, we read the meter bimonthly.

MS. GIRVAN:  And is that in both Union rate zone and the Enbridge rate zones?

MR. McGIVERY:  That is.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And has that always been the case?

MR. McGIVERY:  It hasn't.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Can you explain?

MR. McGIVERY:  So, in 2019, when we moved to the new meter-reading vendor, we consolidated to bimonthly meter reading.  But I should just -- because we are going to talk about access, we do off-cycle reading.  So anytime we don't get a read as per our bimonthly reading, we attempt to read those meters monthly.

So, I think for the purposes of what we are speaking to, it is important to think about the fact that meters we are not able to access or not able to read, that we do attempt to read [audio dropout].

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Enbridge has a scorecard, and this particular meter-reading performance metric is part of that scorecard.  What are the consequences to Enbridge as a company and also internally to employees of not meeting the target?

MR. GARNETT:  I can't speak to it, exactly.  I mean, we are held accountable to these metrics and their potential for fines and compliance issues, that way.  We also have performance metrics with the contractor.  They have a contract laid out with an obligation to hit their metrics, as well.

MS. GIRVAN:  What contractors are you talking about?

MR. GARNETT:  Sorry, our meter-reading vendor contractors.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So they are subject to a performance, these metrics, as well.  And what are the consequences to the vendors if they don't meet the targets?

MR. McGIVERY:  Hi, Mike McGivery; I can speak to that.  So we have tried to take a balanced approach and an aggressive approach with our contractors to make sure the reads are the most important thing they are doing when they are out there.  Obviously, safety is also paramount.

But if they fail to get a read, they don't get paid for that read.  And we also give them an incentive if they are able to get the entire route read, a hundred percent.  So if you think about a carrot and a stick, we trying to utilize both approaches with our contractors when they are out in the field.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And in the original evidence, and I guess we can pull it up:  it is Exhibit 1, tab 7, schedule 1.  On page 4, you referred to the main reasons for not meeting the target in 2019 were extreme weather conditions and a key vendor exiting the meter-reading market and ending its contract with Enbridge.  And you have referred several times to that vendor issue.

But I think you said to me in an interrogatory response that the vendor issue has been resolved.  Is that correct?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So is the primary reason you are not meeting the target, weather?

MR. GARNETT:  Which target are you referring to, sorry, Ms. Girvan?

MS. GIRVAN:  The meter-reading performance metric.

MR. GARNETT:  The current metric?  No, I mean, like I said, 60 percent of the consecutive estimates preventing us from hitting the target are as a result of access.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. GARNETT:  Not being able to access the meter.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Because this does say that the two main reasons are weather and the vendor exiting the market.  But...

MR. GARNETT:  Sorry, that is why I was clarifying which metric you are referring to.  In 2019, those were the main reasons.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. GARNETT:  But they are not, today.

MS. GIRVAN:  But access?

MR. GARNETT:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So you referred to in your opening presentation the schedule, your presentation, the 277,321.  And you say, of those reads, 2,077 -- sorry, 277,321 are inaccessible meters.  So how many -- can you first of all explain how that 277,000 was derived?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes.  So the meter readers submit why they are not able to read a meter, called skipped codes, and categorized by access.  And we essentially tally them up.

The only caveat to that number is we have forecasted a little bit, till the end of the year.  So that is a forecasted 227,000 as a result of inaccessibility, based on year-to-date data as of October, and then trying to come up with the forecasted number for the end of 2024.

MS. GIRVAN:  Is that assuming that the meters are read bimonthly?  Is that your assumption for that number?

MR. GARNETT:  So, just to clarify, that 277,321 would be we have attempted to read the meter, and we are unable to because of access.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  And so can you -- I am trying to get a sense of the problem.  Can you tell me how many customers today have inaccessible meters?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes.  So we have finally been able to do some data pulls, so I can provide a bit of context around that.  What I can tell you is since July 2021, we have had 263,000 approximately customers on the list on every single year, which I think is interesting compared to the 277,000 number.  Also, 75,000 customers have been on that list more than three times per year.

So when you think about 277,000 inaccessible customers, and you think about 46,000 consistently on the list, bimonthly, being able to do that data pull and trying to pull up the repeat customers since July 2021, it is helpful to understand that 263,000 customers based on ours are repeatedly on the list every single year.  And, again, 75,000 are on the list repeatedly, three times per year.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Can you explain to me the process you follow?  So, say you come to my house and I have a pool in the backyard and my meter is in the backyard, and I am not giving you access to my backyard, it is locked.  What is the process that you follow, Enbridge follows, to try to get a read from that customer?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes.  So first and foremost, the meter-reading vendor will come to your house, will look around to see if they can gain access.  In this scenario, they identify that there is a pool, there is a locked gate, they are not able to get access.  The first thing they will do is try to knock on the door to see if you are home.  And, if you are home, obviously ask if they can be granted access.

Hopefully you allow us access and grant us access, and we will read your meter.  But, if you are on this list, it means that probably hasn't happened.  And so if that is the case, if the customer is not home, we leave a door hanger to let them know that we have been by their property, we have tried to read your meter, we are unable to read your meter.  Please contact us.  And that information goes to our call centre.

And a part of the technology is that it is real time, which is great.  So if the customer calls, then our call centre can say, yes, we were by today, we were unable to read it, you have a locked gate.

And then, after that -- well, that is basically where it ends, of course.  They leave the door hanger.  They code it on their device of why they couldn't read the meter, and then they will move on.

MS. GIRVAN:  But what happens if it keeps happening?  So say I don't answer the door and you come again and again and again.  How long can that go for before you actually -- like, what is the remedy in the sense that what do you do?


MR. GARNETT:  Yes.  I mean, what we do is we continue to -- so what we are trying to do is -- and, I mean, I think we are here today because the challenge is really granting access for a lot of these customers.  But what our approach has been, so far, is -- so we do attempt to read the meter continuously on a bimonthly basis; we don't change the schedule.

As I mentioned, we do off-cycle reading, so we prioritize and we send lists to meter-reading vendors, so they attempt to read off cycle, or meters that we haven't been able to read in the previous month, to continuously attempt to read those on a monthly basis.

The technology allows to extend hours, hoping in these circumstances perhaps you are working during the day, so you are not home when we are there, so we can extend hours and try to, you know, get there in the evening.

And then really blasting the communications with customers, so they understand what we are trying to do, how meter reading impacts them, how it impacts billing, that we are trying to gain access.  And again, working with them and incenting for customer reads so that, if we are not able to get access, at least get an actual read.

MS. GIRVAN:  So, in that time period, it is all just estimates, so it could go on for months and months and months of estimates?

MR. GARNETT:  That is right.  If we are not able to get an actual read, we have to estimate.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Am I correct that your conditions of service for your customers require access to meters?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So how do you enforce that?

MR. GARNETT:  So, currently, we haven't enforced it for inaccessible meters.  Many of the customers on the inaccessible list are still paying their bills; they are not refusing to pay their bills.  To move the meter or to disconnect the customer isn't advantageous for the customer in this case, so our approach so far has been, again, to just continuously communicate, attempt to read the meter, continue to estimate and work with customers to educate them on the importance of this.  But we haven't yet enforced with these customers the conditions of service, that we have to gain access.

MS. GIRVAN:  And why not?

MR. GARNETT:  Again, the enforcement activity to do so would be to disconnect the customer, something of that nature, which isn't advantageous for the customer, we don't feel.

MS. GIRVAN:  I guess, if you could turn to LPMA number 6, it is 1.7-LPMA-6, and refer to the bottom of that page.  It says:  When situations arise where Enbridge Gas meters become inaccessible, you reserve the right to relocate the meter as necessary, at the cost of the customer.

So do you do that?

MR. McGIVERY:  Michael McGivery.  We do reserve that right.  We use that very sparingly.  We have found that, if we educate, reinforce, engage the customer as much as we can, whether it is communication, the door hanger as Mr. Garnett said, robo-dialers, e-mails if they are on an electronic billing system -- not all are, but we will leverage all technology.  And, typically, we can resolve these over time, versus disconnecting the customer, which we think would be a disadvantage to, one, the customer the base, the cost associated with that to Enbridge, the ratepayers and the customer, for the HVAC piping beyond the meter.  We will use every resource and leverage every lever we have before we would take such action, so it is used very sparingly.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, but you have still got 75,000 customers saying you can't have access?

MR. McGIVERY:  They say that we cannot have access.  It is a very significant issue in terms of this metric, but, over time, they will call in a read at times or provide us access, but that doesn't mean we are getting access for any future visit, so then we are going through the same, we will say, course of action over and over again.  As Mr. Garnett said, we have the data now where we have those repeat inaccessibles, but they will provide a read at some point in time.  We will get access at some point in time, but then we are back with the same challenge on a routine basis.

MS. GIRVAN:  But, if you remove the inaccessible meters from this metric that we are talking about today, doesn't that reduce your incentive to try to correct that problem?

MR. McGIVERY:  I would say no.  And the reason I would say no is billing is a very important to Enbridge.  Our customers are very important to Enbridge, and we will still be tackling these inaccessibility issues.  We will be looking to resolve these.  We will still be hoping to use AMI meter technology post Phase III, through our MXGI program, maybe more beyond to resolve these issues.  And we have incentive, just from a billing aspect, that is fundamental to Enbridge, that we would still make these a priority.

If we were granted this, we would still track these and be willing to track these and continue our efforts to resolve these.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I think with Mr. Quinn you were talking about both the encoder receive transmitters and the AMI technology.  Have you done any estimates about what it would cost to implement either of those two across the board?

MR. McGIVERY:  Unfortunately, we haven't.  It is still in a proof-of-concept stage, scalability, economies of scale, partnering infrastructure.  Companies throughout the province who have that technology in place, I would think from a personal perspective, would be the right play in terms of mitigating, we will say, savings for the customers and economies of scale.  I think that all has to work its way through the proof of concept, which will be in Phase III.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And just a couple questions, follow-up:  If you could turn to 1.7-VECC-4 -- and again this looks at the costs of these ERT meters -- I am having a little trouble understanding.  If you turn to table 2, you referred to 2024 and 77,000 meters purchased, but the actual spend is $22,000.  Can you explain that?

MR. GARNETT:  That is actually --


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, $22 million?

MR. GARNETT:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So have you actually spent $22 million in 2024 on these meters?

MR. McGIVERY:  That is correct.  And that is through our MXGI program.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and was that in your budget?

MR. McGIVERY:  It was, and the reason why -- and it has happened over time, and some of it is unintentional, some of it is intentional -- is there have been extreme and significant supply challenges with our typical diaphragm meter in COVID, and, in order to comply with the MXGI meter exchange program, we had to purchase AMI-capable meters, which were readily available throughout COVID and could gain that supply.  So that is why you see those increases throughout those years.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right, thank you.  I just had one other question.  If you can refer to Board Staff -- it is 1.7-STAFF-1, and, at the bottom of that page, it says:
"The number of billing-related complaints decreased from 330 cases in 2023 to 104 in 2024 when comparing the January-to-May period."

Do we have updated numbers for that, so I would say January to October?

MR. GARNETT:  We do actually, and I wrote them down in case this would come up.  So, from 2023 year-to-date, there was 1,165 billing-related ombuds complaints through our ombuds office.  This year, there are 546.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  What is your sense of the difference?  Like, why has that changed?

MR. GARNETT:  A lot of the factors have to do -- I mean we are doing a much better job.  Reading the meters and improving the performance has a lot to do with billing performance, of course.  The more actual reads we can get, the more accurate it is.  In our education to customers and helping them understand, there was also some confusion around when we estimate a bill versus when it is an actual bill, so we have been doing a lot of education with customers, too, to help them understand how the billing system works and how their billing is produced.  And I think a combination of those has really, really helped them from last year to this year.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just one final question:  If say, a customer, you can't get access to the meter repeatedly, how long will you let that go in the sense of how long might I get an estimated bill?  Like, is there some sort of limit, or can it just keep going if (a) I don't call it in or (b) you can't get access to my meter?  How long can that go?

MR. GARNETT:  What we have seen -- and I think we provided this in an IR -- is, on average, customers currently inaccessible are on the list for seven months.  And, to respond to an earlier question, one of the challenges is that customers do come on and off, so, whether they provide us a read, they will come on and off.  So I mean we do flag and try to target these customers and try to focus on them, and we have implemented where we will actually do physical phone calls with contact-centre agents if it goes long enough, to try to address it.  But, until you get an actual read, of course the system will estimate the bill.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could it go on for years?

MR. GARNETT:  We haven't seen it go on for years so for, so, fortunately, our ability to interact and mitigate things, we  haven't seen it go that far.  But we have seen it go -- like I said, on average it is seven months, so we have seen it go for a period of time within the year, but we try to address it and get a handle on it as much as we can.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Mr. Garner, you are next.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Just before I start, Mr. Chair, I think I have 20 minutes, and I am very cognizant of your desire to keep this hearing moving, as we all are.  However, the way the Board had set up the schedules, they just simply cut our times across, so what I would like to ask your indulgence in is I may spend a lot more time on this panel, but I will guarantee that I will give you back all of that time, if not more, on the others, so, with a bit of your indulgence as I go through this, hopefully, I can even do it within the time we have got.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  Well, just on that point, Mr. Garner, maybe we will just take the morning break now, and then we won't break up your cross-exam.

MR. GARNER:  That would actually be preferable to me.  Thank you.  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So we will come back at 11:00.
--- Recess taken at 10:42 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:02 a.m.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Although my examination may have been better with the mics off, so.  Good morning, gentlemen.  Nice to see you again.  I do have a few questions following on to this.  And I have submitted a compendium.  And perhaps we could have that marked  as an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  That is exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT K1.2:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR EGI PANEL 1


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  And I am not sure how much I will be referring directly to it, but I do want to just bring up a couple of things in it.  One of the things that I want to just explore, and it may be difficult, you may not have the answer to this, but in that decision if you go to PDF page 8 of the Board's finding on the original issue of what we are talking about.  Enbridge agreed that the review of GDAR is required to take care of this issue.  Is that your position in having this exemption, that the ultimate solution is to change the requirement?  Or is this exemption that you are seeking simply a temporary exemption to when you fix this problem?

MR. McGIVERY:  Enbridge's position was that it did agree that a full GDAR review was required as we were seeking a different metric.  However, in this case, and what we are presenting here today is keeping the metric the way it is but having a little bit more definition around it to address inaccessible properties or customers.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, so I understand what I think you are proposal.  Your proposal is we couldn't make the metric, so rather than meet the metric what we have done is we have excluded a group of the people who were causing us not to meet the metric, which are these inaccessible meters.

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, I think with, you know, new data since Phase I, Mr. Garner, and, you know, more time it is clear that inaccessible meters is, you know, a significant part of the issue.  So, the reason why it is not a temporary solution is because all of our information, you know, our forecasting tells us this problem isn't going away.  So, the temporary component, and a temporary exemption, what we are looking for is for the data and the evidence that we have is to have this portion, these inaccessible meters, removed for the period of the -- for the IR period at the very least and to visit it.

MR. GARNER:  Well, I guess that is what I was asking.  It is a temporary solution for the period of the rate plan you are saying, which means that what I am really trying to get at is:  If the issue is we have inaccessible meters and if the issue we are ultimately never going to solve this problem completely to the extent that we will ever be able to meet that metric, then one would presume that you would look to see GDAR change, such that your temporary solution is somehow embedded into a permanent solution; is that the plan?

MR. GARNETT:  I think temporary for us is that we think that there are solutions in place and we do think at some point will be able to address this.  It is not in the near-term foreseeable future.  As Mr. McGivery talked to you a bit about the AMI and ERT solutions, we do think technology is the solution to this issue.  And so, you know, that itself lends that it is temporary, but not in the near term by, you know, the very least.

MR. McGIVERY:  I will just add to that.  We believe that what we have proposed is a fair approach.  I understand the line of questioning where it may seem we are removing inaccessible meters to achieve the metric.  What we are proposing is a fair balance.  We take responsibility of whether we need to account for that with resourcing and how we operate.  We need to account for resourcing how we strategically plan our routes and manage our contractors and things of that nature.  We accept that.  But what is out of our control is customers who fortify their homes, their properties don't comply with the cost of -- the conditions of service to provide us access.  We believe this is a fair and balanced approach that holds Enbridge accountable, but also recognizes unrealistic factors that go into inaccessible meter.

MR. GARNER:  Mr. McGivery, I am not casting aspersions on what you are doing.  I will do that later in my cross.  But what I am really trying to do right at the moment is understand this question is:  The Board grants you what you are seeking; at the end of this IRM term is the Board going to be reviewing again something that you didn't do?  Or is the plan is, yes, we will have the done by this, or, yes, we will hit the GDAR and ask the Board to change [audio dropout] isn't a plan?  That is what I am really asking.

So, you want an exemption.  What are you telling the Board what you are going to do at the end of its exemption?  Are you going to have fixed this problem and no longer need to do this thing?  That is what I am really trying to get at.

MR. STEVENS:  Just if I may, Mr. Garner, just to make sure the record is clear.  Enbridge isn't seeking an exemption here.  I mean, perhaps what you are saying is that, effectively, but technically speaking Enbridge is not seeking an exemption.

MR. GARNER:  Point taken.  It is not technically an exemption; you are excluding people that gets you to make the metric, which -- a dog by another name.

MR. McGIVERY:  So, Enbridge's position, if I can make an attempt to answer the question that you are seeking, is compose our solution for this IR term, which will allow us to have more data, more efforts to mitigate these issues.  Understand it more with more data, but also provide time for Phase III, the proof of concept, to leverage technology in this space that has been done with other utilities across the province in the LDC world.  And then we can revisit this in the next IR term and have a lot more information and make a more educated decision going forward what is in the best interest of the customers as well as the utility.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  So, you are not undertaking at the end of this to be able to meet the metric without excluding inaccessible meters.  You are not doing that, you are studying the problem and come back with your see what happens at the next rebasing?  A good -- the same way you are saying it; do you agree with that?

MR. McGIVERY:  Can you say that again?

MR. GARNER:  Well, I am saying is what you are saying is you are not undertaking to the Board to resolve this problem of inaccessible meters right now.  You are undertaking to the Board in four years, or whenever the rate period is, to come back having more data and revisit the issue with the Board as to whether you need?

MR. McGIVERY:  We believe that we were granted what we are proposing Enbridge can achieve this metric.  However, to say unequivocally we will, there is still a lot of factors that we are going to have to manage.  And I can't predict other challenges that may come in this space, but we believe under normal circumstances that we have seen in past years we should be able to make this metric if granted this proposal.

MR. GARNER:  I think I understand what you are saying.  And hopefully the Board does.  The other thing -- the next thing I wanted to talk about was -- well, first of all before we go too far, can we go to your presentation.  Just bring that up for a minute.  Ms. Girvan asked you questions about this and I don't want to go over stuff she has already done or I won't get invited to that pool she has never told me about.  But this number that you have on 70 percent reduction in consecutive complaints reported through the OEB.  Where does that figure come from and what is the data behind that figure?

MR. GARNETT:  So, our ombuds office tracks the number of RAPs received from the OEB or any escalations through the OEB and try to categorize them.  So, the ombuds has categorized those.  A bit of a manual effort, so that is why we have been working on obtaining that for 2023 and 2024.  But that's where that 70 percent reduction comes from.

MR. GARNER:  And is there data, then, you have that supports this 70 reduction some place?

MR. GARNETT:  There is.

MR. GARNER:  That shows it?  Can you produce that in a form that allows us to see the calculation, how it was done?

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something, Mr. Garnett, that is already on the record somewhere?

MR. GARNETT:  It is not.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  And so is it in -- has the data been collected in such a way that it can be shared?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, the data I have seen is a count of the number of -- actually, just so I have seen that.  And we do have that data.

MR. STEVENS:  Would it be satisfactory, Mr. Garnett, to provide an undertaking to disclose the data that supports the information in the fourth bullet in Exhibit K1.1?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  I am simply really just trying to find out how the 70 percent gets calculated.  Right?

MR. GARNETT:  If it is helpful, I did write down the numbers just to speak to it, similar to Ms. Girvan on the ombuds cases.

So, in 2023 year to date, there was 222 consecutive estimate-related complaints through the OEB.  In 2024, for the same period, it is 69.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I think I don't need the undertaking.  Maybe the Board would like it, but I don't.  Thank you.

The next, in that slide, I wanted to talk about was this, the current MRPM is 0.97, it says here, up to October 2024.  If you go to my compendium, and we go to, I believe it is PDF page 14 where the scorecard is on there, I believe if we look at line -- and maybe I am -- line 8.  Mine is a little bit small, here.  That is the equivalent metric, isn't it, the meter-reading performance in that scorecard?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.  The scorecard, up until 2023.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So if we examine those figures, what we see is prior to 2019 or 2018, at 0.5, and then basically an escalation that starts in the Covid period, as you have made some things.  And then what I call a large decline in 2023, followed by another, if I look at your current evidence, a large decline already.  Right?

So it seems to me you are making very good progress in resolving this problem, and only have a very short way to go.  So why is it that very short way is so difficult to reach, now?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes.  So when you look historically, you are right, sharp incline, sharp decline.  And one of the ways I look at, even to your previous question is when this metric was developed, these unusual circumstances didn't exist.  So when this metric was officially agreed to, these unusual circumstances weren't there.

In 2019/2020, the pandemic period is when a lot of these circumstances changed with customer behaviour.  Of course, we had the additional vendor issues which of course dramatically reduced our performance, and then a steep incline.  And we spoke to a lot of the mitigation efforts earlier in conjunction with post-pandemic conditions.

And so the way I look at this is you are back down to new normal, and the net new normal is not at the metric where it was before, and that is because of these unusual circumstances.

So we feel our mitigation efforts have brought us back to pre-2020 or pre-2019 performance.  The unique scenario is that these unusual circumstances weren't there then, and they are there, now.

MR. GARNER:  Well, you were at 0.5 for both Union and Enbridge rate areas prior to -- or in 2018.  And you were at 0.97 now, after it had gone up a lot.

Is 0.97 the new normal?  Is that what you are telling us?

MR. GARNETT:  With the issue of inaccessible meters, we don't see the inaccessible meters going away.  So we would like to have the metric at 0.5 exclude the sort of new scenario that wasn't there then, which is the access issues, which is why we want to exclude them so that we are measuring to the same level of performance.

MR. GARNER:  But to be clear, the 0.97 is calculated on the current methodology, without -- it includes the inaccessible-meter issue, does it not?

MR. GARNETT:  We measure inaccessibility the same way.  It is that the unusual circumstances and the volume of access issues that is driving it to be 0.97, versus pre-2019.

MR. GARNER:  I am just asking a more simple, direct question:  Is the metric that is on the scorecard is calculated in the same way that the metric is on your presentation for the 0.97?  They are calculated that...


MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And talking about this vendor change, you said, I mean, Covid happened, you are saying that happened.  But as you say, your vendor changed.  Right?  And so you had issues with your new vendor.  So why wouldn't I ascribe all of your problems to the fact that you have a new vendor?  Does your new vendor have as many readers as your old vendor did, for instance?

MR. GARNETT:  The meter-reader vendor currently has more readers than our previous vendor.

MR. GARNER:  Did they lack experience?  Is that what it was?

MR. GARNETT:  It took them a while to get up to speed, exactly.  They had to get used to the routes.  They had to train new people.  There is a lot of factors that caused them to get up to speed.

But, when you look at -- I think a good way to look at that is if you look at the legacy Enbridge versus the legacy Union rate zones, and you see the comparable performance between the two meter-reading vendors.  The legacy Enbridge vendor has been around for a long, long time.  So, if you set that as the bar for performance, you will see that the new vendor is performing very similar, if not the same performance as the legacy Enbridge vendor is.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Now, I had -- and I apologize, because during the technical conference I know you tried to help me through some of this.  But I am going to ask you again, a little bit on this.

When we are talking about inaccessible meters, meters you want to exclude, as I understand it, first of all there are two types of meters that are inaccessible, ones that are what I call locked out in some fashion.  You are locked out of it.  It is inside, it is somewhere; the meter itself is physically inaccessible.

And then there is an inaccessibility that is due to weather or, as your evidence has -- you know, it is what I call the postman issue with that dog, which you have the same picture of the same dog twice, which maybe if we get rid of the dog we will get rid of this problem.  But that dog, you know, those type of things.

So we have two things:  One is I where, you know, I can't read the meter this time, and then those where I can't read the meter any time, because it is locked.  You know, can't there, opened up.  Now, which one of those do you exclude in your exclusion one?

MR. GARNETT:  Just to clarify a little bit, there are four categories.  One, meter issues, battery-type situations, things that -- malfunctioning meter.  Two is resources.  So a meter reader was sick that day, weren't able to get coverage; that route wasn't able to be read.  Weather, as you mentioned.  Those are three.  And then the fourth category encompasses all of the other reasons where a meter reader was able to physically get to site, but wasn't able to physically access to [audio dropout].

MR. GARNER:  But for your purpose of excluding inaccessible meters, does that exclude both meters that are permanently inaccessible for some reason?  What I call permanent means the meter itself is locked away inside a house, something like that; it is not inaccessible that way.

And then as I understand it, then there are some meters that are not accessible for periods of time, weather being one of them, let's say.  Which ones are being excluded in your proposition to the Board?

MR. GARNETT:  Well, just to clarify, we are not aware of any meters that are permanently locked away that we have never had access to.  But the category that we are looking to remove is anything where a meter reader has taken a reasonable attempt to access the meter and could not access it.  The locked gate, or Ms. Girvan's example with the pool is probably the easiest one, where you attempt to go to the house, the property is completely enclosed in a gate, and the only way to access it is through that gate which has a physical lock on it, and no one is home in order to unlock the gate to allow access.

MR. GARNER:  But I understood that those -- there are meters that that will happen, as Ms. Girvan went through, every time you go there; the gate is locked every time.  So that meter, no matter how many times the reader goes up, is not going to be accessible.  So that is one type of exclusion you are seeking.  Is that right?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So just wait:  So now there is another type of meter which, for two runs in a row, the dog has been out in the front and the postman and your meter reader both can't get to the front door, or get to the house.  They are both excluding it because of that safety issue, let's say.

Is it that type of meter, after so many consecutive non-reads, is that meter now part of the removal?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.  If the dog was preventing the meter reader from accessing that meter each time it attempted and, in that scenario -- you know, it could be on a monthly basis -- as long as the dog is preventing the reader from accessing it, physically, that would be a part of inaccessible meters.

MR. GARNER:  But it wouldn't be the first -- it wouldn't make it the first time.  It has to, like, be the second time it is not done?  Is that how it works, in your plan to exclude that meter?  So it is only inaccessible once, and the next time the person comes around, the reader comes around, it is now accessible --


MR. GARNETT:  Correct.

MR. GARNER:  -- it doesn't go into the calculation?  Is that --


MR. GARNETT:  Correct.  If a meter reader goes to access the meter and can't access it, they record it as a skip code, in that case, you know, hazardous dog or harmful dog, so they can't access it.  That would be coded as inaccessible on our list, as a part of our consecutive estimates.

If we then returned next month, and hopefully the dog is inside and we are able to access and read the meter, then we would have an actual read.  It would come off of the consecutive estimate and it wouldn't be considered inaccessible anymore.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And I have to admit, I get confused as to number of meters and reads that is being thrown around here.  But does the company distinguish or keep track of what I call the permanent inaccessible meters, i.e. regardless of how many times the reader shows up, they are never going to have access, free access, because it is behind a locked gate, it requires permission, something to that effect, as opposed to the periodically inaccessible.

MR. GARNETT:  So the only data that we have been trying to get, you can imagine the amount of data.  It is hard to farm this data, but what we are trying to get a sense of is the repeat customers.  So, again, I am not aware of permanent customers that we can't access, but what we have been able to track that I mentioned earlier is the number of times customers show up on our consecutive-estimate list.  And I can confirm that 75,000 customers have shown up on that list since July 2021; they are coming on the list three times per year.  So they will come on, come off, come on.

And, similarly, 263,000 which was sort of what I mentioned to the 277,000, because those customer come on our list every single year.  So, if those customers who we have historical data who have been on our list once a year, if they continue to do so, that is enough to not allow us to hit the metric.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  If we go to -- just one second.  If we go to, let's go to -- I am trying to find the table that was spoken to this morning, that you were looking for and I want to talk about.  This is the LPMA one, and this is at page 27, PDF 27 of my compendium, and it is LPMA-3.  And this interrogatory, as I understand it, says the installation of an ERT meter and the installation of a standard meter is about the same -- not the same, and the incremental meter cost is about, if you are looking at this roughly, it is $100 over the meter.  Is that about -- that is what it looks like to me for a residential customer.

MR. McGIVERY:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  Right, and so, if one were motivated to find what I call the, as you say, through whatever algorithm you have, define those meters which I call "inaccessible by design", so to speak, as opposed to "inaccessible by accident or circumstance," right, would those type of places be targets of an ERT meter?

MR. McGIVERY:  So, the majority of the ERT meters that are being purchased today are for the MXGI program, as we install those.  And a lot of that has resulted through the supply chain challenges, but we are purchasing discretionary meters above and beyond that, as I like to refer to them, and we are targeting those in inaccessible areas if we can get access.  So we do purchase above and beyond to try to help solve this issue.  However, access, you still need access to install these meters, so there is a lot of coordination with the customer.

MR. GARNER:  You have to install them somewhere.  But let's go to page 25 of the, of this.  We have ERT meters and the number you [audio dropout] I am hesitant to characterize, Mr. McGivery, your evidence, but the way I am hearing it is:  Of the 77,000 meters, the estimate for ERT meters that are being purchased in '24, they are either purchased for a pilot on AMI of some type or they are simply being purchased and were purchased in twenty -- you know, because they were the meters available, the supply wasn't giving you, I guess, traditional mechanical diaphragm meters before, and so you had to purchase them; that was the only kind of meter.

So those meters, am I right, the $22 million and the 77,000 meters of '24, those meters which have capability are partially being used for an AMI pilot?  Is that correct?  And partially just being used because they are the only meters available to put into, let's say, a new subdivision?

MR. McGIVERY:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  And so they are not particularly targeted.  And this is -- when you say "incremental," you are conveying to me the idea that that is for normal business or the pilot, but we are also trying to pick up some to deal with our missed or reading customers.

MR. McGIVERY:  Yes.  Just for clarification, I just want to separate ERTs versus AMI.  So ERTs we are purchasing to target inaccessible customers, where the AMI are purchased for that project, proof of concept and our MXGI program.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, so I am a little confused this way.  I understand AMI and the technology that is basically an infrastructure to basically query a meter and bring it back to an office and put the data into the office.

The meter, itself, I don't know the technology, and I am not sure from what I have heard this morning that either of you do know the technology difference between a ERT meter and what I call a "smart" meter because, as I understand, there can be a difference between those.  An ERT meter can be a meter that simply broadcasts out its reading and is not as intelligent as a smart meter.  Is that correct?

MR. McGIVERY:  That is correct.  An ERT meter is where we have that installed and we would still have to physically drive down the street to pick up that signal, where an AMI meter sitting in an office anywhere in the province, we'll say, can get that signal sent to us and that read.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So now I am getting confused this way.  So, of those 77,000 ERT meters, they couldn't be used for the pilot then because they are not smart meters; AMI is requiring a smart meter to query and send back.

MR. GARNETT:  I don't think Mr. McGivery and I know exactly the percentage of the 77,000 of the ERT meters that are AMI-equipped, but we do understand that a good chunk of the ERTs that we are installing have the ability to move to AMI as a part of just changing the infrastructure, so how they absorb the consumption through remote means versus driving around the street but through cellular technology.  So a lot, a good portion of, the meters we are purchasing are able to take advantage of the AMI infrastructure if you were to install the AMI infrastructure.  I don't know the exact proportion of that.

But, again, I think the key message in my mind is, you know, ERTs and AMI are a good solution for access.  The challenge is:  How do you target those customers; how do you gain access?  You are trying to communicate to them on a monthly basis.  You are knocking on their door.  You are visiting them once a month.  You are doing everything to gain access, just to get a read now, let alone exchange their meter, inspect their appliances.

So I don't think it is, at least in my mind I don't think it is a matter of whether ERT and AMI is a good solution; I think it is how do you use that solution to target the specific issue.  And that is really the challenge because you have got to get in touch with customers; you are already communicating with them, like I said, on a very frequent basis to try to gain access and get in touch with them.  So you have got to do that in order to exchange the meter.  It is really:  So, then, what do you do?  You have 77,000 meters; you want to get them installed; you still want to progress, and so we have a meter exchange program.  We exchange roughly 120,000 meters a year.

So we want to at least get these meters installed, and so, unfortunately, from an accessibility perspective, we have to do it as mass of scale.  So we leverage our government exchange program.  We will leverage, you know, new builders where we can target, you know, hundreds or maybe even a couple of thousand.  So we are installing them.  We know that it is a good solution.  The challenge is being able to target the inaccessible customers to be able do that.

MR. GARNER:  Well, it sounds to me like you know where the, what I call "repeat inaccessible customers" are since you keep the data on the repeat ones.  And I am simply wondering why, if you are seeking the Board to eliminate these customers from your metric, why you are also not demonstrating how you are actually addressing that inaccessibility problem with that customer through a meter that won't have to be accessed in the traditional way of having someone walk up to it and look at the meter.

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, I mean I think what we are trying to show the Board is that we are doing everything possible to read this meter, to exchange the meter for an ERT, leverage AMI.  You know, I think our evidence suggests exactly why we are not able to target these customers.  Again, we are knocking on the door.  We are going by every month.  We are doing mass communications to them on a monthly basis.  We are speaking to customers that call us.  Whether it is about a meter-reading issue or otherwise, we are still asking them, based on our systems, if we don't have a meter read, to see if we can get a meter read.  The technology allows us to have a conversation, so we can say, "Hey, this is why we haven't been able to read your meter.  Are you aware of this?"

We have had situations where there was a gate, as an example, that was broken; the customer said, "Oh, the gate where the meter is is broken.  We can leave the other gate open."  So then, the next month, we can access that customer [audio dropout]


Yes, I mean I think what we are trying to say is that we are doing everything we can to access these customers, and, if we were able to get in touch with them -- and, again, our evidence is we are trying to get in touch with them.  We're trying to talk to these people.  We are trying to gain access.  We are just not able to do so.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Garner, I just am wondering if we could do a time check?

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I think I am just about done.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  My last question is:  Ms. Girvan asked you is that the Union rate zone went from monthly to bimonthly billing; correct?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  And if you are on bimonthly and I think if you are a normal customer with a meter being read and you are on bimonthly you get your meter read bimonthly; right?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. GARNER:  So, if you have an inaccessible meter and it is read bimonthly and becomes periodically inaccessible; does doing that make the problem worse or better than a monthly system?

MR. GARNETT:  Well, you know, I think trying to access it as much as possible and communicate as much as possible is a good approach.  So, the more we can get out there the more that we can extend our hours and try to get in touch with folks in the evening, the more that we can attempt to read it, I think is a good approach.  You know, the more you increase the frequency the probability goes up.  So, yes, we try to get in touch with them as often as possible.  We try to read them monthly in these cases, because we haven't obtained a read.  So, yes, like I said, we're trying to do as much as we can to get out there and --


MR. GARNER:  So, you would agree with me then a monthly billing system would be less difficult for the customer to understand the problem than a bimonthly system?

MR. GARNETT:  No, I don't think so.  I don't think understanding a bimonthly read is complicated for customers.  And, you know, you look at the legacy Enbridge rate zone we have been doing bimonthly reads for a long, long time.  I don't think that is a complicated --


MR. GARNER:  But isn't it true that what happens on a bimonthly read is that the customer then depending on the circumstance won't know for two months what their problem is until they get their thing?

MR. GARNETT:  No, because, again, if accessibility is the problem we are attempting to read the meter on a monthly basis, we are also sending communications to customers on a monthly basis informing them that we have tried to attempt your meter read, we are unable to do so.  So, no, from my perspective there is no reason why customers should not know that we haven't been out there and why their meters haven't been read.

MR. STEVENS:  Excuse me, Mr. Garner.  Just at the risk of doing re-examination before it is my turn, I feel like there is a disconnect in terms of the record that is being formed.

MR. GARNER:  Sure, go ahead.

MR. STEVENS:  You had asked, I think, about monthly billing not about readings.

MR. GARNER:  That is right, I was talking about what the customer's circumstance on the monthly billing so that they would not see their bill.  Their bill would be estimated; right?

MR. STEVENS:  And I think Mr. Garnett was speaking to bimonthly readings, not bimonthly billings.  My understanding is both the Union and Enbridge rate zones continue to have monthly bills.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.  And that is the end of my questions.  Thank you, Panel.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Garnett.  Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  I have a compendium that it is for the entire hearing, so don't worry there are things that are --


MR. MILLAR:  We will mark that as K1.3.
EXHIBIT K1.3:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to make sure I understand the proposal, what has gone on.  Am I correct in Phase I Enbridge requested a partial exemption from the meter reading performance measure; correct?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That was from the target where you sought to increase it from the current 0.5 percent to 2 percent; do I have that right?

MR. GARNETT:  You do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you sought a partial exemption from GDAR related to the MRPM target because it was -- the target is contained in the gas distribution access rule, GDAR; correct?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And ultimately the OEB denied the request to adjust the target; correct?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now, as part of Phase II, you are asking to change how the metric is calculated; correct?

MR. GARNETT:  Just to clarify as a part of our exception request it was also suggested through compliance staff that bringing the meter reading performance metric through the rebasing was a good place to do so.  Also meter reading performance impacts broad customer base so, you know, I think the scope of the issue, you know, makes sense to do so.  And, you know, we are not here changing the metric this time.  We are here just to, again, to remove inaccessible meters.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But just to back up for second you keep saying exemption.  Mr. Stevens said, no, we are not seeking an exemption.  So, my first question is:  Are you seeking an exemption?  I just want to be clear.

MR. GARNETT:  No, we are proposing to remove inaccessible meters from the meter reading performance calculation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Can we turn to page 31 of the compendium.  And this is from the gas distribution access rule, GDAR under this is section 7, Service Quality Requirements Performance and Measurement.  If we can flip to the next page, and if we go down to 7.33 this says Meter Reading Performance.  And I am just going to read it here for you:
"A distributor may choose to estimate the meter read for various reasons which may include limited access, EG a customer has an inside meter or access to the meter is restricted, and the expense of actual meter reads, it is cost prohibitive to get actual meter reads each month.  As a result the following measurement is put in place to set out the minimum requirements for meter reads."

Do you see that?

MR. GARNETT:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if we go to 7.331 it says meter reading performance measurement.  It says:
"The meter reading performance measurement requirement will measure the percentage of meters with no read for a consecutive month.  Callers who call in the meter read will be considered to have had their meter read, the measurement will be calculated as follows:  The number of meters with no read for four consecutive months or more divided by the total number of active meters to be read, the measurement shall not exceed 0.5 percent on a yearly basis."

Do you see that?

MR. GARNETT:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, it seems to me GDAR sets out how to calculate this measure; correct?  It says the number of meters with no read for four consecutive months divided by the total number of actual meter reads; correct?

MR. GARNETT:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So, when you say you are not speaking an exemption you are just excluding a set of -- then you are, in fact, seeking an exemption; correct?

MR. STEVENS:  I am sure this is something we will address in submissions, Mr. Rubenstein.  I think it is -- I mean, I understand your question.  But it is strikes me as, really, a question of argument.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am a bit unclear.  Because you have said one thing, your witness is saying another thing about what is being requested.  So, I am confused actually what the company's position is.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  And I think the witnesses have said on several occasion that the company's position is that it is seeking to exclude inaccessible meters from the calculation of this metric.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  You would agree with me as a factual matter that excluding a set of meters, which would in essence be changing this to read number of meters with no read for four consecutive months or more, excluding -- and I believe the language in your evidence is customer meters that can't be read -- I apologize.  Customer driven conditions beyond the control of the company.  That is what you would have to be reading into that; correct?

MR. GARNETT:  Sorry, could you clarify the question again, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I just want to make sure as a factual matter if we were going to interpret this as you said, it would be essentially changing the wording from number of meters with no read for four consecutive months or more excluding inaccessible meters, and I believe the actual evidence talks about, sort of, how you define that to be inaccessible because of for customer-driven conditions beyond Enbridge's control; would that be fair?

MR. GARNETT:  The way I look at this is when this metric was developed these unusual circumstances in the accessibility problem wasn't a part of the development of this metric which means what we are asking for is to be measured the same way that we always have, because those factors didn't exist.

So, we are looking to be measured to the same standard that we always have.  We just were calling out with our evidence that there is, again, these unusual circumstances that are now apart of the equation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I wasn't getting at the if is a good idea or a bad idea.  I just want to make sure I understand what we would be doing.  Now, you say it wasn't part of the development, but if we go back to under 7.33, it does talk about meters that may not be -- it talks about the distributor may choose to estimate meter reads for various reasons, which may include limited access, EG, a customer has inside meter access to meters that is restricted.  So, it does reference that there may be meters that are inaccessible; correct?

MR. GARNETT:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, when you say the issue hadn't arisen, what you are referring to is, and I think this is what your evidence talked about and what you have discussed with my friends is that, there has been an increase in the amount of inaccessible meters as a result of circumstances from the pandemic and people's willingness to allow Enbridge to access them.  Is that what you are talking about?

MR. GARNETT:  I think customer behaviour has changed.  Some of the access issues are the same.  I think they fundamentally have changed though in terms of customer behaviour, so I do think they are different.  And the subsequent outlier to that is the fact that the overall access issues have increased.  But I do think the reasons for the access is what has fundamentally changed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You had inaccessible meters pre-Covid.  Correct?

MR. GARNETT:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They may have been less, but they were inaccessible meters, previously?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand from the evidence, we don't know the number of them.  We can't do a comparison because, as I understand, you only started tracking inaccessible meters in 2022.  Do I have that right?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Going back to the adjustment to the calculation that you are seeking, if we remove inaccessible meters from the metric, shouldn't we also reduce the target from 0.5?

MR. GARNETT:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why not?

MR. GARNETT:  Because again, it is unfair to measure the company against unusual circumstances that is outside of our control.  So, by also reducing the performance, it doesn't create a solution.  All it does is make the problem worse.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, if the target of 0.5, which was in GDAR, was created at a time when there were at least some inaccessible meters, and now we are removing all inaccessible meters, shouldn't we make an adjustment to that metric to reduce it from 0.5?  I don't know if it is 0.4 or zero-point -- isn't that fair, for trying to get us back to the position we were in?

MR. GARNETT:  No, I don't think so, because the position that the -- the unusual circumstances and the accessibility issues are -- you know, as per our evidence, are something that is outside of our control.  So it would make the metric harder, or a smaller component of meters, it doesn't make sense.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And I would just like to ask you a question, just following up on some questioning that you had with Mr. Quinn on behalf of FRPO earlier on.  And maybe if we just go back to the page and we scroll up to 7.3.2, you were asked a question about audits, billing audits, and you weren't familiar with the GDAR provision.

So, since I have it, I just want to take you to it, just to make sure I understand what the company is doing and what it is not doing.  So under 7.3.2, "Billing Performance, it says:
"The billing performance standard is a quality assurance standard.  The standard requires gas distributors to have a verifiable quality assurance program in place.  No specific metric is attached to this requirement."

And then in 7.3.2.1, "Audits":
"Distributors must audit their billing data for accuracy.  Manual checks must be done to validate their data when meter reads fall outside of the criteria as set out in the quality assurance program for excessive high or low usage.  In addition, the quality assurance program must include random audits of data, quality and billing accuracy."

Do you see that?

MR. GARNETT:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me just ask a couple of questions.  Does Enbridge have a quality assurance standard for billing performance?

MR. GARNETT:  In terms of the checks and balances that I am familiar with, we have system quality checks in place.  Again, that relates to that, which confirms high-low.

Also meter readers, when they submit a read, we also have high-low checks to confirm that the read being submitted is within the tolerance.  It is the internal audit piece that Mr. Quinn was referring to that I am not familiar with.  But we do have QA checks, and we do have system checks in place.  And, like I said, we do have meter-reading controls in place to confirm that the reads are within the control.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you audit the billing data for accuracy?  And I know the question originally was posed in sort of the internal audit function of the company, and we had asked some IRs in Phase I about that.

But putting aside who is doing it, is the company lower-case auditing, in a sense, the billing data for accuracy?  Is the billing group doing that?

MR. GARNETT:  So I think we took an undertaking to look into the auditing.  I don't know if this is helpful, Mr. Rubenstein, but, you know, all reads are reviewed, quality checked, controlled.  Through all the system checks, there is flags for high-low, there is high-low consumptions.  There are implausible reads that are manually worked.

And, again, the devices that the meter readers have also validate high-low reads.

So there is a lot of those checks that I can speak to in terms of quality control, if you confirm those as audits.  But in terms of a formalized annual audit, I can't speak to that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then where it says under 7.3.2.1, it says:
"Manual checks must be done to validate data when the meter reads fall outside criteria as set out in the quality assurance program for excessively high or low use."

Does Enbridge do that?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you, very much, panel.  Those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, just for a moment, in case it is helpful, Mr. Rubenstein, [audio dropout] pointed me to Enbridge's scorecard.  And I know it is on the record.  I will just point out that at line 5 of the scorecard, there is reporting of the number of manual audits each year.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

Mr. Millar, do you have any questions?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.  Much of my material has been covered, so I just have a couple of things left.  Good morning, panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.

Could I ask us to turn up Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule tab 1, schedule 7, VECC 2?  And hoping we can have page 2 of that interrogatory response?  Okay.  Great.

You see here this, it shows here MRPM actual performance from 2019 through to 2024, including your year-to-date numbers for 2024?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, we see that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And if I look that top of the page, it looks like this was updated about a month ago, November 15?  So these numbers are quite recent, for 2024?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, as of October 2024, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, very much.

And it is my understanding that you are doing better in 2024 than you had initially expected.  Is that correct?

MR. GARNETT:  I couldn't comment versus initially expected, but we are doing better than we were last year.

MR. MILLAR:  So I am recalling a conversation you had with one of my friends today where I believe it is in the initial evidence, you were saying even include excluding inaccessible meters, your were unlikely to hit the target, but your view on that has changed more recently.  Is that correct?

So, if we include inaccessible meters, you think you probably could hit the target?

MR. GARNETT:  I see where you are headed -- yes.  So when you look at excluding inaccessible meters, Mr. Millar, originally our forecast from when the evidence was submitted looked like we weren't -- we wouldn't be able to -- it was going to be close; it was between 0.5 and 0.6, I believe is what we stated in our evidence as to what we would hit if we excluded that.

But based on what we are seeing now in our forecasting, it is not blowing it out of the water by any means, Mr. Millar.  But we think we can hit the target by the end of the year.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So it is better than you had expected a year ago, say?

MR. GARNETT:  Fair enough.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And it is a marked improvement over 2023.  Why shouldn't we expect this trend to continue?


MR. GARNETT:  It is a good question.  We tried to provide a forecast, an updated forecast on STAFF-2, to highlight where we think we are going with this.  And, you know, again, this year was a good test case because we had really good, favourable weather conditions.  We have had really strong vendor performance.  And our mitigation efforts have really taken a toll.  So we see a lot of diminishing returns from the investments we have made in that regard.  And we have seen a peak year in terms of vendor and weather.

So all forecasts that we are looking at, we don't see a short-term solution for the access to gain these meters.   And this is just why we don't think we will be able to hit it without excluding these.

MR. MILLAR:  So the data I see here don't seem to be showing diminishing returns, showing market -- I take your point; maybe you just had a good year, a lot of favourable conditions fell in to place; and there is always going to be noise in the data over any year to year.  But I am not seeing a plateau here.  It looks like consistent improvement every year, which you should be commended for, I think.

But in terms of excluding inaccessible meters, it looks like your numbers are getting better even without that step.

MR. GARNETT:  I think if you look at -- I mean, if you look at 2022 to 2023, from a 4 percent score to a 1.3 percent score, and then a current year to date of, you know, close to one, from 1.3, that is a significant change in the improvement.

And again, we spoke to this a little bit earlier but, you know, post-pandemic conditions, we saw again a significant increase in vendor performance, getting them up to speed.  And that was in and around the same period.  So a lot of factors came together for that significant improvement from 2022 to 2023.

Now you can see from 2023 to 2024, it is much less of an improvement.  And so that is where -- and also, as we spoke to earlier, when you think about the percentage of access issues relative to the consecutive [audio dropout] in 2022, as I mentioned earlier, that is 32 percent, 2023 is 49 percent and, this year, 60 percent of that, that makes up the consecutive estimates around that target is related to access.  So we are seeing consecutive estimates come down, Mr. Millar, but the access issues are becoming more and more prevalent to the reason why.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think I have your answer, so thank you for that.  Switching gears slightly, you have spoken a lot of AMI meters being a long-term solution to this issue.  Is that right?

MR. McGIVERY:  As a potential solution, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, something you are placing a fair amount of stock in.  I mean, I can see why.  If you can read meters remotely, clearly that will help with the problem.  That is how I understand how the solution would work.

MR. McGIVERY:  If Enbridge were to install AMI meters in all these inaccessible issues, it would mitigate the issue.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, I understand that, even outside of the meter-reading issues, there are reasons that Enbridge will periodically have to access physical meters.  Just to give you an example -- and I don't have a lot of detail on this, but you may -- I understand that, pursuant to certain TSSA codes, for example, you actually have to do a manual inspection of meters every 10 years or so.

MR. McGIVERY:  That is correct.  That is what we refer to as our MXGI program, the meter exchange program.

MR. MILLAR:  Right, and there are also -- are there mandatory periodic leak surveys that you have to do or something like that?

MR. McGIVERY:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So, even absent the meter-reading issues, you have to access every meter at some point; obviously, it is not multiple times a year, but you have to get at every meter sooner or later.  Is that fair?

MR. McGIVERY:  Agreed.

MR. MILLAR:  And, even if you move to AMI or EMT [sic] I think was the other example, that is not going to solve that problem.  Correct?

MR. McGIVERY:  Yes, we will still need to gain access.  Even if went to an AMI or a technological solution, we would still have to change batteries or change [audio dropout]


MR. MILLAR:  So how do you deal with that?  How do meters that are chronically inaccessible for meter reading become accessible for this type of work?

MR. McGIVERY:  I think it is a --


MR. GARNETT:  Just to clarify -- and we provide a commentary on this -- our average inaccessible meters are on the list for seven months, and that is where getting new data on the repeat customers I think is helpful.  Because the 277,000 that we are talking about are not just sitting without access; we are able to gain periodic access to these folks, so it is not that.

It is that, as soon as they are on our consecutive-estimate list and we have been consecutively estimate-reading them for four months, that is a part of the metric.  So it is not that we can never gain access to these meters; it is that, if we don't get access and it then forces us to have a consecutive read for four months or more, it impacts this metric specifically.  That doesn't mean we can't access the meter in five months.  The problem is we have already taken sort of a hit on that metric already.

So we are able to gain access eventually, and we do a lot of things to gain access.  This is really about the fact that customers can come on and off the list.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there any different approaches you use for these?  My guess is it is a big deal if you can't meet the TSSA standard and inspect a meter every 10 years.  Are there any different tools you use, if this 10-year period is approaching, to ensure that you can gain access to the meter?

MR. McGIVERY:  Yes.  So we will engage the customers [audio dropout] means that we need to do a regulated safety inspection, things of that nature, and then we will work with the TSSA if we are unable to get access to those issues.  And, as we stated before, the result, similar to this, would be disconnecting those customers.  And have we used that tactic?  Yes, we have.  Do we like to, and is it a last resort?  Absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so this is an instance where you might first, I assume, threaten to disconnect but then ultimately disconnect if push really came to shove on those?

MR. McGIVERY:  We would.  If it poses a safety issue, that is paramount to us.  Where this is more of a, we will say, estimating billing issue, so we don't see it as a safety-critical issue to the public.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, and, for that reason, you haven't chosen to date to employ those tactics for meter reading?

MR. McGIVERY:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, panel, and thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  We have some Commissioner questions.
Questions by the Board


COMMISSIONER SWORD:  How does a meter get read?  You have the digits on the meter, and how does it transfer into the Enbridge device?

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, so a meter reader will input the index on their device.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  So it is a manual input?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  How often do you change meters out, a meter change-out, typically?

MR. McGIVERY:  It is a little convoluted because we do meter sampling with Measurement Canada, things of that nature, but I would say anywhere from 10 to 20 years.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay.  What you are looking at right now is a scorecard issue, and you are seeking exclusion from it.  What would be then a scorecard for the exclusion for demonstrating continuous improvement on it?

So, taking the excluded meters out of the equation, what would be a standard then if that was to be proceeded with?  What would be a measurement as to how you are doing in terms of the excluded meters, in terms of remedying what you seek to?

MR. GARNETT:  I don't think we fully established exactly how we would -- what targets we would set so to speak.  It is something that we first need to hit this metric, focus on gaining access, and we have been hyper-focused on trying to do that.

If we were to exclude these meters, we would be open to figuring out what the right approach is to address that.  But our focus right now is:  We haven't been able to access these meters, which is why we are asking to exclude them.  And that doesn't change our focus on trying to gain access and trying to, again, leverage all the technologies to do that.  But we haven't come up with a specific metric, to answer your question.

MR. McGIVERY:  Commissioner Sword, it is probably worth adding, as well:  These are issues that are outside of Enbridge's control, so it is tough to put a metric that Enbridge can provide to when they are customer-caused events or issues.

We are committed to continuing to track those.  We have established tracking mechanisms since 2022, and we will continue to do that and have no problem sharing those findings in future years.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Okay, thank you.  Commissioner Moran, no more questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.  Commissioner Zlahtic?

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  How do you actually do your estimates?  Do you have some form of an algorithm to estimate when you don't have an actual meter read?

MR. GARNETT:  That is correct.  We have SAP estimation.  "SAP" is our customer information system, which has an algorithm to estimate.  We also have what is called a "dupe," which is also an algorithm that estimates when we don't have actual reads.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Is this algorithm some form of a regression analysis, where it plugs in degree days or...

MR. GARNETT:  Yes, it is a linear regression model essentially, and it uses degree days; it uses historical consumption.  It uses -- yes, essentially, that is exactly what it does.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  And is any work done periodically to update this analysis to improve the accuracy of your estimated bills?

MR. GARNETT:  It is.  It is funny you are asking that because we do periodically look at the algorithm, and we are trying to -- we always want to take a look at how accurate it is.  And we have been trying to take a look at it actually this year to take a look at it.  But, for the most part, it is accurate.

One of the challenges is, of course, if you don't have actual reads, such as this, that is a big contributing factor to help it improve its accuracy.  So really getting as many actual reads is helpful.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  So it is interesting because a lot of the discussion today through the questioning has been talking about customer numbers, inaccessibility, and all that, but what we haven't talked about at all this morning was volumetrically what does this mean in terms of this measurement problem that you have.  I am not quite sure how to frame the question.

How material is the volume that we are talking about?  Do you have a sense for that?

MR. GARNETT:  I don't have a sense for the consumption volume.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  Kind of shame on everybody in this room for not asking that in interrogatories, but that is an issue.  Because I would think that a concern for consumers would be, you suddenly get an estimate, you're a residential customer you get a bill for, I don't know, $400, you know?  Or the reciprocal is you have a credit that you have got to work down.  And I would think the bigger issue here is volumetrically how big an issue is this in terms of the accuracy in the pluses and minus, versus actual billing.

MR. GARNETT:  What I can tell you is many customers on the inaccessible list are paying their bill, and you are right, the accuracy of bills helps when you have actual reads.  What we do try to do is educate customers so that they are aware if they do have an issue with their bill.  And that is where a lot of the technology improvements, so that we have access to that when customers are calling us.  And if they have an enquiry about the accuracy of their bill, that we can have a conversation with them and educate them on what the estimation process is, how actual reads contribute to that.  And we can also tell them that we have been, you know, trying to read their meter and potentially the reason why, so that they can help us.  But it -- actual reads does impact the ability of the accuracy of the bill and we want to really make sure that customers are aware that that is the case.  And we also want them to be aware of what we are doing at least making sure that we are doing our part to try to get the actual read.  And then communicating with them how they can help us.  Because, again, in this case, these inaccessible customers, and the 277,000 that we are talking about, we are really try to make sure that they understand the accuracy of those reads.

I would just add though, again, as a customer, again, some of the inaccessible customers, and we are speaking about the repeat, they will come on the list and off the list.  So, if we have -- if we have been estimating their read for four months, as an example, and next month we get an actual read we are able to course correct that.  So, it is not something where typically you are estimating, estimating, estimating.  At some point when you get an actual read you can, of course, correct the process which is helpful.  So, any time we get an actual read the billing is corrected, actual read billing, it's corrected.  So, it is not a systemic thing that continues on for a long, long period of time.  But actual reads does impact billing, and we are just doing our part to try to educate customers and doing our part to try to get the actual read.

COMMISSIONER ZLAHTIC:  I think those are all my questions, thanks.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  Commissioner Elsayed?

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Just a couple of questions.  Do you have a formal definition of what an inaccessible meter is?

MR. GARNETT:  The way we define it, Commissioner Elsayed, is we have skip codes to categorize.  So, locked gates, dogs, no access, harmful conditions, you know.  We do have a definition of what makes up inaccessible meters.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Because when I saw the photographs, some of them are obvious, like a locked gate, and some of them I don't know.  Some junk piled around the meter, or a tree that is overgrown around the meter.  Did you classify the reasons for the meter reader not being able to actually access the meter?

MR. GARNETT:  We do.  We have about 35 skip codes to try to differentiate between the scenarios as best as possible.  So, we do have those categories.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Okay.  And you mentioned earlier that if they cannot access the meter they leave a door hanger.  What information is on that door hanger?

MR. GARNETT:  Typically it is that we have attempted to read your meter, we were unable to do so, and we provide them with our contact information to say contact us.  And also some information on how they could provide us with a customer read as well.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Does it speak at all to the consequences of not being able to access the meter?

MR. GARNETT:  I can't confirm specifically if the consequences are on there.  I believe we are focused on the fact that we attempted to read the meter, how to contact us, then the consequences on the door hanger.  There is only so much room on the door hanger, so we really want to making sure that they understand that we tried to read the meter and how they can get in contact with us is the focus of it.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  So, my thinking really is that, like, is there any information there that will provide that incentive for the customer to make their meter accessible?

MR. GARNETT:  The way we try to incent is we have a lot of campaigns, meter reading campaigns, across the board.  The number is essentially we want to have a conversation with them.  So, hopefully they contact us and, again, the technology allows our contact center folks to be able to have a conversation, explain to them, one, the importance of actual reads to Commissioner Zlahtic's comment, you know, the important of actual reads on billing, accuracy with them, so they understand that process.  Where they might notice on their bill whether it is an estimated or actual read.  Why; the fact that we have attempted to read the meter and we were unable to.  And then the skip codes, as we said, are provided to the contact centre so that they can also say this is why.

And again, you know, the one example that comes to mind was the broken gate example where the meter reader put couldn't access because the gate, and the gate was broken and locked up.  And that is the side that the meter was on.  The other gate was also locked, but the customer said they would unlock the non-broken gate.  And so the next time to read the meter we were able to access it as an example.

So, the incentives are really to get in touch with us so that we can have a conversation with them, so that they can understand the billing process, how reads relate to that and, you know, what the issue is preventing us access, so hopefully we can come to a resolution.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Have you done any benchmarking with other utilities on how they deal with that issue?

MR. GARNETT:  The difficulty is most other utilities use AMI technology, so, you know, unfortunately we are the ones who do the manual meter reading, so there is not a lot to compare.

COMMISSIONER ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.  I just want to follow up a couple of questions that were asked of you by Mr. Garner and Mr. Rubenstein.  The numerator in the metric, as I understand it, is the number of meter reads that had to be done as estimates for at least four months.  Right?

MR. GARNETT:  That is right.  The number of meters that we had to estimate for four consecutive months.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes.  So, you couldn't access those meters for four months, so now you have to track them as part of the metric and the performance under that metric.  If you exclude the meters that you are talking about, what is left in that numerator?

MR. GARNETT:  The other three categories are weather, resources, and meter issues, such as, you know, dead batteries or things of that nature.  And, again, weather and resources would be, you know, if the meter reader vendor that reader was ill and couldn't read the meters, as an example, that would be considered a resource issue.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  You talked about the campaigns, you talked about the door hangers.  Do you have any statistics on the success rate of those?  Well, let's start with the door hangers.  How many door hangers led to somebody phoning up and telling you what their meter said?

MR. GARNETT:  I don't have the total success of the door hangers and how many they call us.  In terms of the consecutive estimate campaign, I know that we have increased our customer reads by 21 percent over last year.  I also know that only 3 percent of the consecutive -- or the customer reads we get are access related customers.  So, it appears that a lot of our marketing campaigns and folks that are giving us customer reads are also, unfortunately, customers that grant us access.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  So, not part of the group you are trying to exclude here?

MR. GARNETT:  Only 3 percent.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Right.  Have you tried to look at why the door hangers don't work for that other group that you are trying to exclude?

MR. McGIVERY:  We don't have actual data.  We have anecdotal data from the meter readers who end up getting access.  There is a myriad of things.  Some are a lot more, we will say, conservative in fortifying their homes and sceptics of people coming up to their houses, so we can eventually get them off the list by making an appointment, things of that nature.  We think of snowbirds that leave the country for a while and their neighbours.  We can't get in touch with their neighbours, not on their file, to reach out to that customer.  So, eventually when they get back we get them off the list.  It is a myriad of things, but those are the trending factors, anecdotally, from the meter reading company.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  With the emphasis being on anecdotes?

MR. McGIVERY:  Agreed.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Quinn was walking you through some of the numbers, and if I have them correctly, we are looking at 2.7 percent of the total on the EGI side and 6.2 on the Union side.  What would your view be about a metric that would seek to improve those numbers?

MR. GARNETT:  I think you are referring to the 2022 numbers?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes.

MR. GARNETT:  In terms of a metric to improve, are you suggesting that you would split them out?  So both of those numbers and consecutive estimates are a part of the metric today.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  What would you think would be a reasonable percentage miss, you know, given those numbers and subsequent numbers for subsequent years?

MR. GARNETT:  In terms of inaccessible, specifically?  Yeah, I mean I think to Commissioner Sword, it is sort of a similar question.  I don't think we have thought about a specific target.

You know, I guess we could do the math on, you know, we know that approximately we can only miss about 234,000, you know, of the 48 million reads that we have to provide.  So, you know, we could come up with some targets to address that.

However, you know, our perspective and the evidence we trying to provide is that we are doing everything we can to gain access.  So setting targets and having a target to hit doesn't necessarily mean we are going to be able to improve our ability to access customers from our perspective.  And that is why we are proposing that today because, you know, our ability to access customers is just -- we are just not able to do so.

MR. McGIVERY:  And I will just add, just for perspective, would we love to have a metric there and make all efforts to achieve that and show good faith that we are reducing those, we have that commitment to reduce these.  We are going to continue to focus on these inaccessibles.

But personally, I think it would be appropriate to revisit as we have more data at the end of this IRM term, towards the end IR term, or take into account the Phase III AMI proof of concept because ultimately, if we can gain access, which we do eventually get access to these customers, which takes months and months and months, there may be an opportunity to put a device in their premise that would mitigate this issue.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Almost done:  In the replacement program involving ERTs, what percentage of the class that you want to exclude have received ERTs?

MR. McGIVERY:  Unfortunately, I don't have that information on me, on hand.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Is that something you could provide?

MR. McGIVERY:  I think we can make best efforts.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Best efforts would be fine.

MR. MILLAR:  That is Undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING J1.3:  TO ADVISE, FOR THE REPLACEMENT PROGRAM INVOLVING ERTS, WHAT PERCENTAGE OF THE CLASS ENBRIDGE WANTS TO EXCLUDE THAT HAVE RECEIVED ERTS

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And the last area is with respect to the performance metrics for your meter readers.  I think you indicated that they don't get paid if they don't get a read.  Is that the only performance metric for those meter readers?

MR. McGIVERY:  In terms of not, we will say performance in getting the read, that is correct.  We do follow up internally.  If it goes longer, we have technology that indicates which ones are there, our op-staff and other, we will say workers, within the Enbridge resource campaign who can also access those meters or make an attempt to access those meters and engage with the customer.

But in terms of the meter reader specifically it is, yeah, you get paid if you get the read.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you, those are all my questions.  Commissioner Sword?

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Sorry, just one more question if I could, please.

Do you ever have any reaction that is negative from putting a door hanger on a house?

MR. McGIVERY:  We have a lot of negative reactions from some customers.  We have had police come to the scene.  We have had our meter readers physically abused, verbally abused.  We have encountered all sorts of, we will say, negative interactions just by going on their property, touching the door, touching the fence, anything of that nature.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, do you have any redirect?

MR. STEVENS:  I do not.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  I guess that is all we have for this panel.  So thank you, very much, Mr. Garnett and Mr. McGivery, for your assistance to the Panel.  You are excused.

And, with, we will take the lunch break.  We will come back at 1:15.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:17 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:16 p.m.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  All right.  If people are ready, I think we are ready to start with the next panel, which I think is with you ,Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  It is typically our practice in OEB hearings to discuss with parties beforehand and come to an agreement regarding the qualification of expert witnesses so that we can save hearing time and avoid disputes on this topic.

In Phase II, we started that process back in November, and I am able to propose to have the CEG and actually EFG witnesses qualified as experts without opposition from Enbridge, and without opposition from, I believe, any but one party.

Mr. Ladanyi has advised me that his client opposes qualifying either the CEG or the EFG witnesses as experts, and so I will be taking more time than usual to ask both questions about their qualifications and expertise.  I also understand that Mr. Garner doesn't object per se, but may wish to speak to the issue.  So I will ask that you bear with me as I go through what will be somewhat longer questions regarding their qualifications, but, in accordance with the normal practice, I will ask yes-or-no questions to try to speed up the process.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Well, Mr. Elson, before we start down that path, perhaps we can get Mr. Ladanyi to provide us with an overview of what concern he has with respect to these witnesses.  Mr. Ladanyi?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Can I explain the reasons and go ahead right now?  It might take about 10 minutes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I think that is what I am asking you to do, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  We have the resumés; we have the evidence.  We have read all of that.  I think we will cut to the chase and find out what concerns you here.
Submissions on Witness Qualification by Mr. Ladanyi


MR. LADANYI:  All right.  So Energy Probe believes that the Current Energy Group witnesses should not be qualified as experts for the following reasons.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, just before, experts in what way?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, now, this is interesting because this is exactly one of the reasons, what I am going to explain right now, so this is very important.

So, Mr. Elson proposes these witnesses be qualified as experts in energy transition considerations relating to incentive ratemaking mechanisms.

Energy Probe submits that there is no such field of expertise.  This is a new field created by Mr. Elson to get the Current Energy Group witnesses qualified.  Mr. Elson has not explained what are the criteria for individuals to be considered as experts in his new field of expertise.  Mr. Elson has mentioned a number of other jurisdictions and other fields where his witnesses were accepted as experts.  We do not know what criteria these jurisdictions use in qualifying experts or what fields they were qualified in.

Energy Probe submits that being qualified as an expert in another jurisdiction or in another field or in an earlier time does not immediately qualify an individual as an expert in Ontario in this proceeding.

Now, let's look at the academic credentials and expertise of the two witnesses and their relevance to the issues they are testifying to.  And this is issue number 7:  How should Enbridge Gas should be incentivized to implement economic alternatives to gas infrastructure, and how should the recovery of the costs be treated?

Mr. Elson wants to qualify Mr. Cebulko and -- is it "Mr."  or "Dr." McDonnell -- as experts in energy transition considerations relating to incentive ratemaking mechanisms.

Mr. Cebulko has a BA in Political Science and an MBA in Environmental Policy and Natural Resource Management.  Dr. McDonnell has a BA in Finance and a JD in Energy Environment and Natural Resources Law.  Neither has academic credentials or experience that would be required for evaluation of economic alternatives at expert level.  In their evidence, they talk about cost recovery and the cost of capital, but they have no expertise in cost allocation and rate design, nor in determination of the return on equity.  They don't have much knowledge about OEB regulation or gas utilities.

CEG evidence attempts to reargue energy transition issues that were dealt with in Phase I.  Mr. Elson filed about 500 pages of reference material on energy transition that he intends to use in the hearing.  Energy Probe submits that the two CEG witnesses are not here to provide assistance to the Commissioners as experts, but to help Mr. Elson reargue energy transition issues.

The Commissioners should look at OEB form A, Acknowledgement of Expert's Duty, particularly part 3, where it says and I quote:
"I acknowledge that it is my duty to provide evidence in relation to this proceeding as follows:  (a) to provide opinion evidence that is fair, objective, and nonpartisan."

Both CEG witnesses have signed this form.  They must believe that their opinion evidence that is on the record is fair, objective, and nonpartisan.  Energy Probe submits that their opinion evidence is not fair, objective, and nonpartisan.  By reading their evidence and by reviewing their CVs, it is clear the Current Energy Group witnesses are activists who are opposed to the use of natural gas, and want to reduce or eliminate it as soon as possible.

In this proceeding, Environmental Defence Canada, a group that is related to the U.S.-based Environmental Defence, is asking you to qualify two of their American friends who share its beliefs and as experts.  The two witnesses who you are being asked to qualify as experts seem to be activists with strong opinions opposed to natural gas.  Having strong opinions does not qualify an individual as an expert, even if one is an ex-activist from the U.S.

Commissioners should ask themselves why the OEB found it necessary to require that witnesses seeking to be qualified as experts sign form A.  Energy Probe submits that the objective of form A is to prevent exactly the situation that we have here, where a party is asking that partisan evidence be accepted as expert evidence.

Energy Probe believes that for far too long the OEB has qualified witnesses whose evidence has not been fair, objective, and non-partisan.  Certain parties have exploited this permissive attitude by the OEB.  The OEB has an opportunity in this case to enforce its own rules.  If it does not, it is likely there will be an increase in partisan expert evidence in future proceedings.

Energy Probe submits that the Current Energy Group witnesses should not be qualified as experts.  If you decide that they should not be qualified as experts, you can still decide to hear their testimony but give their evidence reduced weight in your final decision in this case.

Thank you.  These are my comments.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Mr. Elson, why don't you provide some reply on that.  Provide an overview of the basis on which you assert these witnesses to be experts.  We have seen the CVs.  We have read the evidence.  I do not think we are going to require you to walk them through that.  We understand what is there.

MR. GARNER:  Commissioner Moran, may I interrupt for just a second?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Garner, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry.  I did not mean to interrupt, but, before I did, I just thought it might be efficient if I added my two cents, and, therefore, Mr. Elson could address both of them at the same time.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Fair enough.  Go ahead, Mr. Garner.
Submissions on Witness Qualification by Mr. Garner


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I only share one small part of what was just said and perhaps make it clear.

I do agree with Mr. Ladanyi that there is no such expertise as "energy transition."  It is not a discipline, neither is it based on a discipline, and, therefore, you can't have credentials in such a thing.  The term, itself, is ambiguous and means different things to different people, depending on your view of CHC, induction, or whatever.  In fact, any transition like this is unique and therefore can't attract expertise.  A unique event by definition doesn't give the opportunity for expertise.

Having said all of that, I was simply going to say we are certainly willing, though, to listen to the panel as experts in ratemaking.  We weren't making any objection to that part of their evidence, if that was fine with Mr. Elson, we are content to stay there.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I would like to ask the witnesses questions about their qualifications.  I can hold off on that for a minute.  Not repeating --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Why don't you go ahead and do that, then, and let's keep it moving.

MR. ELSON:  And what I will do, Mr. Chair, is skip halfway through my planned questions.  The earlier set was already repeated in their CVs, and so what I would like to skip to are some questions relating to some of the specific work that both Mr. McDonnell and Mr. Cebulko have done in relation to the energy transition and gas regulation.  I will start with one question for Mr. McDonnell and then move on for some additional questions for Mr. Cebulko.  And I should note also that the witnesses haven't been sworn in yet, so before we ask questions we should probably do that.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Commissioner Sword.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  To the two witnesses, I will swear you in at the same time if I could, please.  I will ask you a question.  Could you please reply with your name, your organization and your affirmation.

I will put the statement and I'll refer to one individual then the other.  You are about to give witness in this hearing.  This Panel is dependant on you telling the truth and the law requires you to do so.  Do you solemnly promise this Panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth and do you understand that breaking that promise would be offence under our law?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes, I do.

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.
REVENUE DECOUPLING FROM CUSTOMER NUMBERS (ISSUE 7) - ED PANEL 2
Bradley Cebulko,
Matthew McDonnell; Affirmed


COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Just repeat your name and affirmation, I'm sorry.

MR. CEBULKO:  I can go first.  My name is Bradley Cebulko, B-R-A-D-L-E-Y, C-E-B-U-L-K-O and, yes.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Mr. McDonnell.

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes, My, name is Matthew McDonnell, that's M-C capital D-O-N-N-E-L-L, and I so affirm, I do.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you.
Examination on Witness Qualification by Mr. Elson


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will move actually right on to some of the specific work that I believe you have done, Mr. Cebulko, because it is listed in your CV but not quite elaborated on, and this would be some of your work as a consultant.  I understand you have testified in gas rate hearings in 10 states, with a focus on the appropriateness of gas utility capital spending and gas regulatory structures in the context of the energy transition?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you testified in Michigan gas rates case; correct?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the regulator accepted a number of your recommendations in that case relating to the energy transition?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And just to give a sense of that, the regulator said -- I quote:
"It is clear from the record in this case that transition away from fossil fuels and the eventual trend of declining natural gas demand will have impacts on the future of the natural gas system, and these impacts were not sufficiently considered in the company's gas delivery plan as filed."

Is that right?

MR. CEBULKO:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And the regulator in that case ordered the gas company to update its gas delivery plan based on your recommendation to account for the energy transition, including better information on alternatives to capital investment such as pipeline repairs and non-pipe alternatives and the projected impacts of the transition towards electrification and decarbonization; is that right?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you testified in a recent Oregon gas case; right?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And your testimony concerned the risks that investments in gas extensions would be underutilized or stranded in there future; do I have that correct?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you recommended that the regulator end the line extension allowance which previously provided a discount on the costs that connecting customers must pay for a line extension equal to a net present value of 25 years of forecast revenues; is that right?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the regulator agreed with you and eliminated the line extension allowance such that connecting residential customers themselves would pay 100 percent of the cost to connect to the gas system?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes, by 2027.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I think it would be helpful to get a sense of the issues that were in play and the issues that were addressed by your evidence.  I propose to do that by reading two sentences from the regulatory decision there.  And it said:
"In short, we find significant risk that the purported benefits to current customers of paying the line extension allowance will not materialize and we weigh risks to current customers more heavily than we do providing an advantage to new customers who are arriving to the gas system at a time of significant future policy, market and cost uncertainty.  Although NW Natural asserts unfairness to these new customers from eliminating the LEA, we are comfortable with the possibility that new customers will support existing customers by paying their entire connection cost and adding revenue in the near term.  It is our uncertainty about longer term benefits that causes us to weigh more heavily the risks to existing customers."

Now, does that reflect the kinds of issues addressed in your evidence in that case?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you testified in the Peoples Gas and Nicor Gas rates cases in Illinois; right?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And, again, you testified regarding the gas system risks associated with the energy transition?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And the regulator in that case directed Staff to develop a future of gas proceeding to fully explore the issues involved with decarbonization of the gas distribution system; correct?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you testified in the Puget Sound Energy 2024 gas rates case in Washington; right?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you again made a number of recommendations regarding gas regulation relating to the energy transition; correct?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And this included a recommendation to better align the utility's incentives with the public interest by applying a lower return on capital spent on customer connections and capacity expansion; right?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  But we don't have a decision in that case; correct?

MR. CEBULKO:  Not expected until January 15th.

MR. ELSON:  And you testified in two proceedings and represented in another in Washington State regarding performance-based regulation in the gas context; correct?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And that included representing a residential low income advocate in the 2.5 year proceeding, moving away from traditional cost of service ratemaking and adopting performance-based regulation; correct?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And you also provided testimony regarding performance-based regulation in two gas rates cases for Washington State utilities, namely an Avista gas case and another Puget Sound Energy gas case?

MR. CEBULKO:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And there is a number of papers that you have authored or co-authored, some of them with Mr. McDonnell, and those would include:  A Regulator's Blueprint For 21st Century Gas Utility Planning; Regulatory Approvals For a Cost Effective Gas Transition, Rate Making Incentive, and Other Tools; Energy Gas Bill Impact Analysis: A Case Study of the Effects of Planned Capital Expenditures and Electrification Trends; Non-Pipeline Alternatives to Natural Gas Utility Infrastructure: An Examination of Existing Regulatory Approaches; and Non-Pipeline Alternatives: A Regulatory Framework and a Case Study of Colorado Leading Practices in the Screening and Evaluation of NPAs.  Do I have that right?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Now, I apologize, Mr. Chair, for taking up a lot of time, but I thought that background was relevant to the extent of the experience of these witnesses in ways that are not entirely clear on the face of their CVs by getting into some of the previous proceedings and what has actually been ordered in those proceedings.  Again, we propose to have those witnesses qualified as experts in energy transition considerations related to incentive rate-making mechanism.  As I mentioned earlier Enbridge does not object to this.  We chose that wording because it is relatively narrow.  We haven't tried to have them qualified in all aspects of incentive rate-setting mechanisms for instance.

We disagree with the comments of our friends that it is impossible to be an expert in relation to energy transition, and one reason I will say that is because Mr. Neme was qualified as an expert witness on energy transition planning in the gas sector in Phase I, and no parties objected to that; and the Board accepted that expert qualification.

There are, obviously, I think we know at this point distinct issues relating to the energy transition, and in my submission the expertise of these witnesses is particularly robust because of the newness of the topic.  There are no witnesses with, say, 20 years of experience testifying on the impacts of the energy transition in the gas sector, because it was simply not an issue on the radar back then.

So, again, in our submission they are clearly experts in these topics, they have testified on the subject, they have written on the subject, they have presented to regulators on the subject and worked directly as senior staff and counsel for regulators on major projects to develop new performance-based regulation approaches in the gas sector.

And so, with that, subject to any questions that any members of the Panel have, we would ask that they be qualified as experts.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Are there any other submissions?  All right.  We are going to adjourn --

Submissions on Witness Qualification by Mr. Stevens


MR. STEVENS:  Sir, if I may, just very briefly on behalf of Enbridge Gas.  As Mr. Elson has indicated, I do not take issue with the qualification of the experts.  That, of course, should not be taken as agreement as to the weight that should be given to any of the evidence that they should give, nor should it be taken as agreement to the ability of whether it is the experts from CEG or the experts from EFG to be offering, or frankly be asked to offer, opinions that go beyond the scope of the reports that they have submitted in this proceeding and in Phase I.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  It reminds me of the old joke that panels will let anything in but, you know, subject to what weight ultimately they are going to give it.  Right?

MR. STEVENS:  It has come up before, sir.
Reply Submissions on Qualification by Mr. Elson


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I should comment on the weight issue because, you know, I believe Mr. Ladanyi and Mr. Garner suggested we are fine for the evidence to go in, but give it less weight.

We also think that would be inappropriate.  We see now reason to give the evidence of these experienced witnesses any less weight than you would for any other experts that have been before the Board in the past.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  We will adjourn briefly.
--- Recess taken at 1:37 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:40 p.m.
Qualification of Expert Witnesses


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.  The Panel has reached a decision.  The ability to provide opinion evidence is based on either formal qualifications, or experience, or some combination of these things.  Based on what has been submitted and based on our review of the evidence and the CVs that go with the evidence, we are satisfied that the two witnesses are qualified based on their experience and qualifications to assist the OEB on the specific issue before us.

With respect to whatever weight will be given to the evidence, of course that is for the end of the proceeding, when we have heard all of the evidence and we are deliberating on our decision, so we make no comment on any weight issues at this time.

With that, Mr. Elson, I think we are ready to proceed with the evidence.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Elson


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  In the interest of time, I will not ask the witnesses to repeat what is stated in the report, and so I do not have questions for examination-in-chief.  We are very behind time, so I will leave it at that, except to ask the witnesses if they adopt their report and interrogatory responses as their evidence in this proceeding.

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  It is over to you, Mr. Stevens.  You are up first for cross-exam.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stevens


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon, Mr. McDonnell and Mr. Cebulko.  Nice to meet you.  My name is David Stevens.  I am counsel with Enbridge Gas for this proceeding.

Just as a housekeeping matter at the outset, I had provided a compendium that is intended for the examination of CEG and of EFG on revenue decoupling and energy transition evidence.  Can we have that marked as an exhibit, please.

MR. MILLAR:  That is K1.4.
EXHIBIT K1.4:  EGI CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR ED PANEL 1.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Elson, I provided this compendium to you, and I provided the documents relevant to this examination even in advance to you.  Fair to assume that the witnesses have received those documents?

MR. ELSON:  It is fair to assume both that you provided those and that we provided them to the witnesses.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  I can't confirm that they have been able to read every page because time has been very short for them.

MR. STEVENS:  I understand.  I deliberately did not ask that.  So I just want to start with sort of an establishing question.  Just really briefly, is there any delineation as between the two of you in terms of your responsibilities for the portion of your report that addressed revenue decoupling from customer numbers?

MR. McDONNELL:  Good afternoon.  This is Matthew McDonnell.  The question is whether there is any delineation between myself and Mr. Cebulko with respect to the revenue decoupling component of our submitted evidence.  Is that correct?

MR. STEVENS:  That is right.  I want to make sure I am asking the questions first.

MR. McDONNELL:  I will be -- for purposes of efficiency in terms of the question and answer session, I am happy to be the individual to have the questions directed to, though we both were coauthors of the evidentiary report and of this section, as well, so I may refer to my colleague at times, as well.

MR. STEVENS:  Of course.  That is fair.  So I looked through your CVs, and am I right that you don't have any experience with making proposals or otherwise working on Canadian utilities?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is correct, no direct experience with Canadian specific utilities.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, thanks.  Great.  So I would like to turn to your proposal, if I could.  At a high level, I read your proposal to say that the OEB should create a revenue decoupling mechanism that will leave the utility indifferent to customer additions or reductions in the near term.  Do I have that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  The intention of the submitted evidence overall, if I could just add some contextual elements to it, is to suggest that, on a going forward basis, there is a need to really take a hard look at ratemaking structures as they apply to gas distribution utilities, particularly in light of some of the uncertainties and risks that can arise as a result of those uncertainties under time.

With respect to the revenue decoupling mechanism we have proposed, the intention here is in fact to create a more neutral perspective when it comes to revenue on the part of the gas distribution utility within the plan period, itself.  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, thanks.  So you use the term "indifferent" several times, including in a heading.  What do you mean by "indifferent"?

MR. ELSON:  Could you perhaps provide the reference on the screen, so that the witness --


MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  So, if we go to the compendium and if we turn to page 4 of the compendium, here is an example of what I am speaking to.  It is the heading right at the top of the page.

MR. McDONNELL:  The question, just to clarify, is to what is intended by the use of this term, "indifferent."  Correct?

MR. STEVENS:  That is right.

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.  As I mentioned previously, the use of the term "indifferent" is perhaps imprecise insofar as there are other structural incentives that preference a gas distribution utility to continue to add customers to its system.  These include a preference for adding capital in terms of a basis for earning revenues into the future as well as the prospect of future sales revenues from new customer additions.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MR. McDONNELL:  With respect to the revenue decoupling mechanism, itself, what is really intended here, notwithstanding the use of the term "indifferent," is we are suggesting that there are opportunities to mitigate some of the sharpness perhaps of existing incentives for the gas distribution utility to be adding customers during the plan term.

And, in addition to that, I should add that there is a structural disincentive to customers departing the system over the plan term, which is also intended to be mitigated in part by some modifications to a revenue decoupling approach.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  I am going to focus on the additions part, not the departures part.

MR. McDONNELL:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  My read of your proposal is really what you are saying is that a mechanism should be put in place that will discourage the company from adding new customers.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  I don't believe that is fair.  As I mentioned before, I think there is, if you look at the ratemaking framework as a whole, there is certainly a lot of incentive structurally present to continue to encourage the gas distribution utility to be adding customers.  This is really intended to potentially present the utilities a bit more neutral within the plan term period and allowing for a broader approach to sort of investment decisions as a result of that.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  You would view your mechanism as [audio dropout] if Enbridge was to add its planned 40,000 customers [audio dropout], wouldn't you?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am sorry.  I didn't catch the last part of that.  Could you repeat that, please?

MR. STEVENS:  In the event that Enbridge continued to add 40,000 [audio dropout], that would signal to you that your revenue decoupling mechanism was a failure, wouldn't it?

MR. McDONNELL:  No, it would not.

MR. STEVENS:  Why is that?  What would your revenue decoupling mechanism have accomplished at that point?

MR. McDONNELL:  It is really not.  The revenue adjustment mechanism really does not have a specific objective with respect to customer counts, so I can't really comment.  I can't really answer the question because, as proposed, it really doesn't have an objective as to a specific number of additions or not.

It is really intended to -- you know, in the particular situation that you describe, if there are 40,000 additions, what the proposed approach would do is to harmonize actual revenues collected against the forecasted target revenues established.  And so it really is meant to establish more of a neutral approach irrespective of additions or subtractions.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  I have two questions about that.  First, I mean you say the approach is to harmonize revenues collected, revenues forecast.  Another way of saying that is to return all extra revenues or credit all extra revenues achieved to ratepayers.  Right?

MR. McDONNELL:  There would be a reconciliation mechanism, not too unlike an average-use variance account is a reconciliation mechanism, as well.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, but that is not what I asked you.  I asked you:  Are you crediting all of the revenues from new customers on to existing customers rather than allowing the utility to retain those revenues, yes or no?

MR. McDONNELL:  It depends on the specific approach.  If you could help reference which of the variance of the approaches that you are referring to when you ask that question.

MR. STEVENS:  I am speaking to the mechanism.  I mean, you -- after much prodding you provided us with a couple of -- one of them is on an overall customer class basis.  One of them seems to be on a customer-add basis.  It strikes me that under both approaches some view of net revenue is taken away from the utility and given to existing customers.  And that is the net revenue that is accruing from new customers; do I have that right?

MR. ELSON:  I am sorry, Mr. Stevens.  I don't think it is fair to accuse the witnesses of only responding to a question after much prodding.  I didn't see any motion that was provided.  I don't think the question is fairly posed and I would appreciate if you could restate it without implying there has been some sort of deficiency on the part of the witnesses.  As I mentioned earlier, you do understand that the CCC interrogatory responses came later.  That was the fault of my office in not sending it to these witnesses, who had been diligent in my submission, in responding to witnesses.  I apologize, interrupting in the midst of your questions.  But I would just appreciate if the questions could be asked without a negative connotations being included in the wind up.  Thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I apologize for casting aspersions.  I point only to the EGI question 10, which was precisely the same question that CCC had answered, and which was refused by your -- was not answered in the first instance.  And we only saw the CCC number 3 after the conference, but let's move on.  I don't intend to personalize any of this.  So, witnesses, going back to our discussion about your mechanism.  The goal of your mechanism is to address what you see is a concern of stranded assets from less use of the gas system in the future which would be a particular concern with adding new customers; right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.  There is concern with uncertainty around multi-decade asset life investments being placed into the system, continued system expansion presenting a risk potentially to new customers.  In ensuring that the rate making framework as a whole is balancing the incentives extended to the gas distribution company in a manner that ensures that customer additions and system expansion is conducted in a rational fashion and not over exposing existing customers to risks and to an uncertain future.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  And one of the ways -- the primary way that you are proposing to insert this balance is by having the utility credit the revenues from new customers on to existing customers; right?

MR. McDONNELL:  I wouldn't characterize it as the primary way to address that larger set of circumstances.  I think one tool in a regulatory tool kit is to ensure that, at least over the short term of the planned period, that the incentives extended to the utility for adding new customers is not overly sharp.  And conversely that incentives extended to the distribution utility company for customers to choose if they would like to depart the system, through extrication or other means, that there is not a strong financial barrier on the part of the utility's perspective for customers to do so.

The mechanism by which that can be achieved, although there is a variety of approaches that can be taken in terms of this core objective, is by reconciling actual revenues against those targeted.  And an alternative that we proposed as well relating more to customer accounts and reconciling those as well.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  But under each of those approaches, Mr. McDonnell, the impact is to take the revenues in the short term from the new customers that would have been kept by the utility and credit those to ratepayers; right?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not sure I quite understood the question.  Could you repeat that one more time for me, please?

MR. STEVENS:  No, let's move on.  So, would you agree with the proposition that if a utility is told it can't retain the revenues associated with an activity that is going to limit or even eliminate that activity being cared on by the utility?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would not agree with that statement in the context of this mechanism in the broader context of this rate making framework.  Certainly there is a stream of revenues that would continue beyond the specific plan period for any new customer added in a specific plan period.  Those revenues would be, in fact, available to the distribution company in the course of the next plan period.  Furthermore, if there is capital expended in order to connect a customer, the utility would be benefiting from that capital investment as well, in the form of return on that capital expended.  So, as the question is posed I would disagree with the characterization there.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  So, just to make sure we are on the same page here, CEG agrees that any capital expended during the current incentive term is eligible to be added to rate base at rebasing, whether or not the revenues have been retained during this term; correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.  Our proposal does not seek to exclude capital --


MR. STEVENS:  Right.  Okay.

MR. McDONNELL:  -- included in rate base.  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  So, I have read through the few pages that you provided that was provided to us in number 3.  And I would characterize it as a conceptual proposal rather than something that could be implemented, implemented as is.  Is that a fair characterization on my part?

MR. McDONNELL:  No, I would disagree with the characterization.  It is true that the proposal is one of a methodology, a methodological approach.  I think as the methodology is proposed it provides opportunity, with some additional data, and an opportunity for, you know, if the regulator were interested in proceeding with a mechanism such as this, and there has been plenty of evidence submitted into the record as to methodological and mechanics of such an approach, such that the utility could be asked to submit a proposal consistent with that methodological approach.

MR. STEVENS:  But your proposal, as it stands, isn't something that could be implemented; right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Well, insofar as the data availability to me and the time and resources available to me to develop a proposal that could be, sort of, lifted into a tariff?  No, this is not the suggestion.  It would take minimal effort, in my view, to get to that place, however.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And so, the revenue class -- the revenue per customer class variance account that you propose, fair to say that would involve truing up what could amount to over a billion dollars of revenue in a year?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not sure.  I don't have a basis by which to answer that question in terms of the billion-dollar reference.  Could you point me to where that number is coming from?

MR. STEVENS:  I am just speaking as to the revenue requirement that the distribution revenue requirement that the utility is recovering in large part from mass market customers.

MR. McDONNELL:  So, the question -- but could you please repeat the question?  Because I think there is a bit more nuance as to what would actually be trued up versus the entire revenue requirement, if we are talking about new additions during the plan period.

MR. STEVENS:  I am speaking to your customer class variance account proposal, and my understanding was it would compare the allowed revenue for each of the main customer classes with the collected revenue.  Do I have that part right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And I am suggesting to you that if I was to sum the allowed revenue for Enbridge's main customer classes, it doesn't matter if it is a billion dollars, Mr. McDonnell, it is a very large number is what I am suggesting; fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  If you are asking me to agree that the revenue requirement for Enbridge Gas is a large number, I would agree with that.  Large is relative but, you know, I would agree with that.

MR. STEVENS:  I am just -- and I am suggesting to you, simply, we really don't have a lot of details for something that is looking to true up such a giant amount of money.

MR. McDONNELL:  I really don't -- insofar as there is already a variance account in place that trues up the deltas between average use of customers.  I am not really, I don't think that this is necessarily much of a departure from existing practice insofar as, already, Enbridge Gas enjoys a reconciliation mechanism that is currently based on average use.

What is being proposed here is simply a modification of that approach to create a bit more better balance, in my view, over the plan period.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So you have proposed in CCC-3 two ways to accomplish revenue decoupling from customer numbers.  You proposed a revenue per class variance -- I will start again:  Revenue per customer class variance account, and you have proposed a customer account variance account.

Do you have a preference as to between those two?

MR. McDONNELL:  Just one moment.  Allow me to -- you are reading from...?

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry.  So we could look at tab 3 of the compendium, and we would be looking at pages 18 and 19.  And I am pointing to the two examples you provided of how to implement revenue per customer class decoupling.

MR. McDONNELL:  Sure.  And the question posed to myself is whether I have a preference between the two proposals?

MR. STEVENS:  That is right.  You have shown us two ways that your mechanism could be implemented.  Which do you prefer?

MR. McDONNELL:  So my preference is less important.  What I offered was two different approaches depending on the regulator's preference.  The first one, you know, does tackle it more from an actual revenues perspective, and is a bit more of a modification to the average use variance account than the alternative suggestion for regulatory consideration.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So you don't have a preference?

MR. McDONNELL:  If I were to have to choose one, what I would suggest is that the revenue decoupling on a per class basis, that where it -- that is truing up actual revenues does have some benefits.

That being said, there is always trade-offs to different mechanisms, particularly when one is considering a new mechanism.  And so principles of gradualism, you know, may suggest that a per customer account of variance that sits alongside the average use per customer may be preferred in this instance.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Okay.  Thank you.

And so this is called revenue decoupling per customer class.  Are you suggesting that this would involve just residential customer classes?  Would we expand it to commercial customer classes, large volume customer classes?

MR. McDONNELL:  My suggestion is that this would apply to all the customer classes, not just residential.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And so are you aware of Enbridge Gas's customer class makeup.

MR. McDONNELL:  I have not studied it in detail.

MR. STEVENS:  So would you take it subject to check that your proposal would lead to true-ups of 15 or more customer classes?

MR. McDONNELL:  Subject to check.

MR. STEVENS:  And, just for the record, my reference for that is from Phase I -- it is not in my compendium -- Phase I, Exhibit 8, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 2.  That is a table that just sets out all of the current customer classes for Enbridge Gas.  So we are going to look at this for 15 different customer classes.

How do we figure out -- I assume we figure out the allowed revenue for each customer class just by looking at what was approved in the base rates for 2024?

MR. McDONNELL:  You could start by, yes, calculating in allowed -- target revenues based on the test year.  As indicated in the report as well, that that revenue figure could be escalated over the plan period in a manner similar to the escalation applied to -- within the price cap, currently.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  So we would adjust the base amount by the I-minus-X formula, each year.  Right?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is an option certainly; it could be extended to that.

MR. STEVENS:  And what would we do, how would we determine the collected revenue for each customer class per each [audio dropout]?

MR. McDONNELL:  If this approach were to be pursued, there would need to be some accounting for actual revenues collected per class.  That could be done on an annual true-up basis.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And I think you said that there would have to be a weather adjustment done every year?

MR. McDONNELL:  That was suggested within the proposal.  That is not something that would have to happen.  That is/was suggested as a result of this.  The proposal here is that it would be weather adjusted.  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And would there be an average -- would the average use adjustment figure in somehow?

MR. McDONNELL:  If this approach were to be adopted, the average use variance account would be superseded by this reconciliation mechanism in that, in that [audio dropout].

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  We would get rid of the average use [audio dropout] that we -- that was approved in Phase I?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And what other adjustments would have to be made every year?

MR. McDONNELL:  With respect to this specific mechanism?  Or beyond the scope of --


MR. STEVENS:  No.  With respect to figuring out, you know, what are the collected revenues that we are going to use for comparison purposes?  Is there anything else that we need to compare or either add to or take away from actuals?

MR. McDONNELL:  It would depend on the design, the ultimate design of the mechanism.  However, as proposed, the primary adjustment would be a weatherized adjustment.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  And the effect here is that Enbridge Gas is giving back all of the revenues that it is receiving from new customers.  Right?

MR. McDONNELL:  No, I would not agree with that characterization.  The intention is not to give back.  It would operate in either direction.  There may be a circumstance where, if actual revenues collected were less than target, that that would operate to the other direction.  So it is not an intention to operate in a single direction.

MR. STEVENS:  But let's assume that Enbridge Gas is on average adding customers over the next four years, and that is seen in Enbridge Gas's projections, which are found in the response to the ED-4.

So let's just assume that there is net additions over the next four years.  Isn't it fair for me to say that the impact here is that Enbridge Gas is giving back all the revenues from the new customer?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not sure it is fair to say that Enbridge Gas's predictions about customer additions is something that I am willing to accept.  That may well be the case.  If customers were added over the plan period, the operation of this mechanism would be such that if actual revenues collected exceeded the target, as adjusted, that there would be some amount of return to customers during that plan period.

Future revenues from those customers, newly added during the existing plan period, would still flow to the gas distribution company in years outside of that, the plan period in which the customer was added.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  I mean, these revenues are being taken away from the next four years, but then they are eligible to be kept.

MR. McDONNELL:  Well, it simply depends on when that customer is connected.  And it may not be four years for each customer addition; it may be far less than that.

MR. STEVENS:  Got it.

MR. McDONNELL:  It is really a reconciliation mechanism of actual revenues to collected, or to target.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Now you are taking away the revenues, assuming that there is customer growth.  But I don't see any allowance here for Enbridge Gas to get credit for the extra costs it is going to incur from adding customers.  Do I have that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am sorry, could you repeat that question?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  I am just looking at the example in front of us.  It shows us that Enbridge Gas collected an extra $500,000 in revenues, presumably from new customers.  That is being given back.

MR. McDONNELL:  Mm-hmm.

MR. STEVENS:  But there is no line here that shows Enbridge Gas getting credit for the costs that it has incurred to add those new customers.  I haven't missed that, have I?

MR. McDONNELL:  Not in this particular example.  As you see in the alternative, that sits next to the average use variant account; that does include an accounting for incremental costs.

Here, that specific line item is not accounted for.  And there are some reasons for that in terms of just the design of the mechanism itself.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Do you agree that it is fair that Enbridge Gas should get credit for the costs that it has incurred to add new customers, if the requirement is to give back the revenues from those customers?

MR. McDONNELL:  Again, I really don't accept the characterization of taking revenues away and giving it back.  It is really about reconciling total revenues collected against target.

So this can flow another direction, and it can be due to additions of customers or it could just be due to a reduction in use.  Reduction in use is something that the OEB has already agreed that is something that should be trued up.  That can flow in multiple directions.  So here it is really just an extension of those same principles just being applied through a broader lens here.

MR. STEVENS:  But fair to say that the OEB has already solved the question, and, in fact, in the Phase I decision, the OEB agreed upon the continuation of the average use variance accounts.  That is not a problem that needs to be solved, is it?

MR. McDONNELL:  No, I would disagree insofar as, as we look ahead and as we look to the increasing ambiguity of future states and as we reflect on the incentive structures that are embedded within this framework, that is appropriate to take a look at reconciliation mechanisms and whether they appropriately guard against disincentives to customers departing the system, which is not covered currently by the average use variance account or an overexuberance in adding new customers to the detriment of a risk profile that may burden existing customers later on.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  Okay.  You don't talk in any detail within your report as to what costs might be claimed as credits, at least through your second mechanism, do you?

MR. McDONNELL:  I spoke to the inclusion of incremental costs based on the available data to me at the time and within the resource constraints I had at the time.  So, yes, I am sorry.  I will pause there.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So you mentioned the possibility that some incremental [audio dropout] might get credited.  Right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  But you don't agree that there are any other costs that would be credited?

MR. McDONNELL:  I don't believe -- my present understanding in my proposal would be that incremental O&M costs would be credited under the per customer variance account alternative proposal.  And I stand on my proposal.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Did you happen to see your counsel's presentation about the revenue decoupling mechanism that was provided in a motion a few weeks ago?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am aware of the presentation.  I have not reviewed it in detail.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Perhaps we could pull up page 38 of the compendium.  This is an excerpt from that presentation.  Your counsel says that, effectively, utilities are making a windfall through the revenues received from new customers during an [audio dropout].  Do you see that on this slide?

MR. McDONNELL:  I don't see the word "windfall."  Oh, there it is.

MR. STEVENS:  It is in the very last bullet.

MR. McDONNELL:  Okay.  I see the word "windfall."

MR. STEVENS:  Effectively, your customer -- I am sorry.  Your instructing counsel is saying that Enbridge is making $280 million in revenue over the rate term for new customers, and this is way more than the incremental costs, and so it is a windfall.  Do you see that?

MR. McDONNELL:  I see the slide.  I see the word "windfall", yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And do you agree with that proposition?

MR. McDONNELL:  I wouldn't characterize it as a "windfall."  What I think this does a good job of pointing out is the structural incentives in the near term that, in essence, the net effect of which extend a preference for adding new customers in manners that may or may not be in the best interests of all customers.  And all this revenue decoupling mechanism is suggesting is that there are opportunities to rebalance and make more neutral the incentives present during a planned term as extended to the utility, both in terms of new customer additions but also to guard against any sort of financial disincentive on the part of the utility to customers departing the system over a planned period.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So fair to say that, under this theory, the incentive and the -- in your counsel's word -- windfall, it is not related to the fact that these are new gas customers; like this same concern would apply or this same issue would apply under any IR price-cap mechanism, whether it is for a gas utility or an electric utility.  Right?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is correct.  In fact, you know, we have seen electric utilities adopt very similar mechanisms to this.  I would also say it is not necessarily a "theory."  I mean these are approaches that have been recognized in other jurisdictions, particularly given the uncertainty present with demand out into future years.

But I will say, as well, that the risks facing gas utilities are different than those faced by electric utilities, which does enhance perhaps the reason to evaluate this mechanism in light of that uncertainty going forward.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  But fair to say that, if gas utilities are enjoying a windfall from new customers, so too are electric utilities.  Right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Again, I am not using this term, "windfall."  That's not present in my evidence.  I think if the question is -- if I could rephrase the question, perhaps?  What I would say is the incentive structure in place in the near term for adding new customers would be equivalent whether that was an electric utility or a gas utility.

What is different about a gas utility from an electric utility, for the purposes of evaluating the appropriateness of a ratemaking framework, goes towards also the sort of risk of profile of the specific entity as well as what uncertainty may be present in place for that utility in future-out years.

Here, we are talking about the potential with respect to 30 to 40 years from now:  Will gas demand be at the same levels that it is today?  If it is not, there is the real risks that are being borne by existing customers as a result of that.  And I think that is something that needs to be factored in when we are talking about ratemaking frameworks and appropriate balancing of risk and how much risk we are asking customers to bear and whether the specific reconciliation mechanisms that are in place are sending the right financial incentive signals to the utilities so that it is continuing to act in a manner that is consistent with the public interest.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  So, to unpack that a little bit, you are looking to take away those incentives?

MR. McDONNELL:  What incentives?  Excuse me.

MR. STEVENS:  The incentives that you say that the utility is enjoying to add new customers.

MR. McDONNELL:  The proposal that we are offering does not take away all incentives to add new customers, by any stretch.  What we are suggesting -- and the reason for that is that there is still a capital preference inherent in adding new customers, to whom those new customers require a capital expenditure in order to connect them to the system.

What we are just simply saying is, over the planned period itself, there is an appropriate need to sort of balance both financial disincentives to customers departing the system as well as beginning to mitigate in part the sharp incentives present to continue to add customers during a planned period.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.  So did you have the opportunity to read the updated response that Enbridge provided to ED-3?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not certain.  You will have to point me to that.

MR. STEVENS:  It is at the very end of the compendium.  It was just filed on Friday.  In part --


MR. McDONNELL:  Could you direct me to the page number?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  If we go to the very last page of the compendium and work backwards, Angela, please.  If we look at page 340, you will see in the third -- you will see in the third paragraph down Enbridge says:
"In the near term when rates are set through a price-cap mechanism the addition of customers actually creates a drag on, not a windfall."


Would you agree with that statement?

MR. McDONNELL:  My apologies, I don't see this language in the compendium that I have available to me.

MR. STEVENS:  It should be on the screen in front of you.

MR. McDONNELL:  Okay.  Could you give me a moment to -- sorry, I was looking at my own compendium for this information.  So, this is the first time I am seeing this.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, this was filed on Friday.

MR. McDONNELL:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Or Saturday morning, I am sorry.

MR. McDONNELL:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  We are working all hours.

MR. McDONNELL:  Understood.  Could you direct me to the specific language that you would like me to take a look at?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  It is in the second-last paragraph, the last sentence.  It is just the proposition that when rates are set through a price-cap mechanism the addition of customers actually creates a drag on earnings, not a windfall.

MR. McDONNELL:  And is there a question posed to me?

MR. STEVENS:  My question is simply just as a regulatory proposition; do you agree with that?

MR. McDONNELL:  No, I don't agree with that.  I think I would like to confer with my colleague, Mr. Cebulko, before providing a more lengthy answer to that prompt.  Just one moment, please.

MR. ELSON:  Would you like a break-out room for the witnesses?

[Witness panel confers]


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just while we are waiting, how are we doing for time, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  I am doing my best.  This is going to throw me behind.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  I think you are still within your allotted time.

MR. STEVENS:  I know I have till 2:42.  I may need an extra five minutes, but I am going to do my very best.  I am certainly not looking to push things unduly.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  If it helps I have you till 2:45.

MR. STEVENS:  Then I maybe I need even less extra, depending how long we are off.

MR. McDONNELL:  Okay.  Can you hear me okay?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes, please go ahead.

MR. McDONNELL:  Thank you.  Just with respect to the specific question posed referring to this language, you know, in the near term where rates are set through a price-cap mechanism not cost of service, the addition of customers actually creates a drag on earnings, not a windfall, I do not accept that statement as accurate.  I think there is a lot more nuance.  And I would need to see more analysis around justifying, sort of, that statement in order to opine on it with more detail.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Well, I will point you in case you are interested to continue looking at the -- within this response.  But knowing we don't have a whole -- I am going to halfway move on.

Have you had the opportunity to look at the documents that are in my compendium at paragraph -- at tabs 12 through 14?  They relate to an old OEB case that involved Union Gas and Enbridge Gas from 2008.  They are titled EB-2007-0615 and 0606.  If you haven't had a chance to look at them, that is okay.  I am just curious.

MR. McDONNELL:  I have not had a chance to look at them in depth.  I did -- I do not have tabs.  I do not have tabs beyond tab 11 in terms of a chance to have reviewed those.  I have taken a quick look at the document that you are referencing, however.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.  It is not going to be a complicated question.

MR. McDONNELL:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Hopefully we will be okay.  I see your counsel is watching closely, so I'm sure he will let me know if I am going offside.

MR. ELSON:  I was just going to jump in, Mr. Stevens, just to explain.  So, the order of what happened was you had originally sent a partial compendium and the witness has the partial compendium.  You then sent some additional materials, and so those were in a separate document.  And these were in that separate document and then those also went to the witnesses.  And then when you followed up with a full compendium, I had asked you whether there was additional materials for the CEG witnesses, and you said no.  So I think what has happened is the witnesses have not ended up with the full compendium, but they did have these materials.

And one other caveat is that I know Mr. McDonnell has been dealing with some family issues, and so there may be some time constraints from that perspective.  So, when he is saying that he doesn't have it, I think that is the reason why.  And so, the document on his screen, on his computer is probably the old version, and so he will have to refer to the one on the screen.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you for that, Mr. Elson.  I recognize that there is 300 pages here, and that is a tall ask for anybody.  This case that I am referring to is related to the incentive rate mechanisms for Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas back in 2008, and as can be seen in the decision that I am pointing to, in that case Green Energy Coalition and Pollution Probe brought a motion asking to add a Y-factor, effectively, to force or make sure that the utilities were adding new customers.

I mean, interestingly at that point, GEC and Pollution Probe were supportive of extra customers -- worried that the utilities would take the opposite tack in order to try to save money.  And, you know, there is historical reasons for that and I am not going to get into it.  What I am interested in is the paragraph on page 108 of the record, page 2 of this compendium starting with Green Energy Coalition and Pollution Probe.  And perhaps I will just give you a moment to read that.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Stevens, it is Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  You're not suggesting this is a current position of Pollution Probe, are you?  Or relevant today?

MR. STEVENS:  No, not at all.  I am suggesting that this is relevant, though, to the question of what are the incentives and windfalls that a utility enjoys or doesn't enjoy during an IR term.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I just wanted to note that this was some time ago, and may not reflect current circumstances.  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Stevens, while the witness is reviewing this, I would want them to have an opportunity to read the actual Board findings.  I think they would be more relevant than the positions of the parties, and that is on pages 109 to 111.  I am afraid that I would have to e-mail a document to my witnesses for them to be able to peruse it on their own, which I could do if --


MR. McDONNELL:  I do have this particular document --


MR. ELSON:  Great.

MR. McDONNELL:  -- although not in the same format as is being presented on screen.

I have taken a look at the paragraph in question.  So perhaps we could proceed from there.  I do think that the full context of the decision, though, to the extent it is being referenced, is also instructive.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I am happy for you to answer it by way of undertaking if you prefer.  I don't want to use up our time.

MR. McDONNELL:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  My question simply, whether CEG takes the position that GEC and Pollution Probe were incorrect in their -- the proposition that they advanced in an earlier OEB case, stating that there is a disincentive for utilities to add customers during IR and, in fact, it costs a utility money or earnings to add a customer during an IR term.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, I am wondering if I can ask how this will assist us?  I mean, you are referring to language that represents a position taken by a party as opposed to evidence and findings that ultimately resulted.

So I think I am starving with understanding how this will be of assistance to us.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  That is fine.  I will move on.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you.

MR. McDONNELL:  Could I -- okay.

MR. STEVENS:  I don't think we can have it both ways; I don't think we can partially answer the question.

MR. McDONNELL:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  So I would like to move on to a final topic.  Is it fair to say, witnesses, that a common feature of regulatory mechanisms in other jurisdictions which are aiming to incent or secure outcomes is that there is an underlying public policy or legal requirement supporting or requiring that outcome?

MR. McDONNELL:  There was a lot in that question.  Maybe you could just say it one more time, for me?

MR. STEVENS:  For sure.  Fair to say that it is common feature of regulatory mechanisms in other jurisdictions which are aiming to incent or secure outcomes that those outcomes are supported by an underlying public policy or legal requirement?

MR. McDONNELL:  I don't know that is fair to say.  I mean, I think what is fair to say is that all regulation is sort of incentive regulation.  There are incentives inherent in all rate-making structures, and there is a myriad number of different policy objectives that are implicit or embedded in that.

And that can include just bedrock principles such as affordability, and operating in customer interests.

MR. STEVENS:  And do you point to any particular Ontario policy that drives the need for this revenue decoupling mechanism?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would simply point to some of the core objectives of the Ontario Energy Board, as with other regulators, that are seeking to regulate in the public interest and to balance the risks of regulatory incentives that are present in the existing framework, both to balance that in the spirit of ensuring a healthy utility as well as protecting customers from undue risk.

And really all that is being presented here is an opportunity to re-evaluate the rate-making framework and the existing incentives embedded within that in light of a new context that is as presented to it.

So, as circumstances change, a regulator needs to continue to evaluate those circumstances and re-evaluate whether the rate-making framework is well calibrated to those new circumstances, to include a lot of uncertainty into the future about what risk may be borne by existing customers in that framework.

MR. STEVENS:  Would you agree with me that the Ontario government is generally in favour of customer choice?

MR. McDONNELL:  I can't speak as an expert on the positions of the Ontario government with respect to customer choice.  I myself am supportive of customer choice so long as that choice is calibrated to the broader public interest, depending how that manifests within a regulatory framework.

MR. STEVENS:  And would you agree with me that the Ontario government continue [audio dropout] for both gas and electricity?

MR. McDONNELL:  Forgive me, your microphone was just breaking up, Mr. Stevens.

MR. STEVENS:  I apologize.  I have been told that I have been having that problem.  Would you agree with me that the Ontario government is open to new connections for both gas and electric?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not able to comment specifically on the position of the Ontario government.  What I will say is that my understanding is that, you know, policy can be varied and nuanced with respect to a statement such as that.

MR. STEVENS:  Do you have any awareness or understanding of the Phase I decision in this case and the revenue horizon issue?

MR. McDONNELL:  I have awareness of the Phase I decision and the revenue horizon issue.

MR. STEVENS:  And I assume you understand that the OEB's Phase I decision indicated that there should be a zero revenue horizon.  Right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And did you read the materials in my compendium about the reaction of the Ontario government?  Or are you otherwise aware of the reaction of the Ontario government to that determination?

MR. McDONNELL:  I have reviewed the materials that you submitted in the compendium with respect to the -- I believe it was a press release that was included.

MR. STEVENS:  And fair to say that the Ontario government determined that the revenue horizon decision would make gas connections more expensive and more difficult and decided that the decision should not stand, and instead that the ability of customer choice should continue for new connections?

MR. McDONNELL:  I don't agree with that characterization of what was included in the compendium.  What I did see in the compendium was a reference to housing costs and a concern about housing costs, and a concern that there may be some nexus between the Phase I decision and an increase in housing costs.

I did not see language to support the statement that you are suggesting.  But perhaps you could point me to the specific language, and I could respond.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  I am happy to do that.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Stevens, I am sorry to interject again:  Questions asking this witness what Ontario's policy is I think are not helpful, because it is not within their scope of expertise.

But if you were to ask the witnesses is your -- or is decoupling with respect to customer numbers consistent with customer choice, consistent with this, that or the other thing, I think that would be a fair question for them to answer.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Well, I mean, if you are objecting and I understand that you are objecting to me asking questions about their knowledge of what the Ontario government said, then I am happy just to leave the documents to speak for themselves, and end there, right on time.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Well done, Mr. Stevens.  Mr. Mondrow?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr. McDonnell and Mr. Cebulko.  My name is Ian Mondrow; I am counsel for the Industrial Gas Users' Association, and I have just a few questions for you.

I did not provide a compendium, but I am going to be referring to the compendium filed by the School Energy Coalition, which was given Exhibit K1.3 this morning, and which you should have.  SEC filed one compendium for the entire proceedings.  I just have a few references in there that I will be using to ask you some questions.  The first is at page 60 of that compendium.  Actually, if we can go back to page 59, I am looking at -- this is both PDF and actual document page numbers, so this is -- I am going to look at part of an answer, it looks like from you to Enbridge, on an interrogatory.  I am looking at part E, which is on page 60 of the compendium, please.  Thank you.

It says that CEG's revenue decoupling proposal did not specify whether it [audio dropout] limited to in-franchise low-volume rate classes, residential [audio dropout] service.  There should not be structural limitations to applying the approach across all customer classes.

So just pausing there, I take it, gentlemen, you are suggesting that a variation of the decoupling proposal conceptually that you have proposed might apply to the largest contract gas consumers in the province, the large industrials whom I represent?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes, it certainly could operate to include that class.

MR. MONDROW:  And then the answer goes on:  That said, CEG would conduct further analysis to determine whether it [audio dropout] appropriate to limit the decoupling mechanism design proposed to in-franchise low-volume rate classes.

Could I suggest to you that what this should actually say is, that said, CEG would need to conduct further analysis to determine whether it may be appropriate to expand the decoupling mechanism design proposed to large-volume rate classes?

You just don't know whether that would be appropriate or not at this stage, I would expect.

MR. McDONNELL:  I would stand on the response.

MR. MONDROW:  You would stand on the response.  So do you understand what customers are in the largest volume rate classes, what kinds of businesses or industrial operations they operate and how they use gas?

MR. McDONNELL:  The specific characteristics of the individual businesses shouldn't have a huge impact on the higher level true-ups of sales variance.  But I stand on the response that further analysis would be useful in evaluating impacts across classes.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Do you know anything about steelmaking?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not being proffered as a steelmaking expert.

MR. MONDROW:  So do you know -- are you aware, for example, that there has recently been a big, a huge investment in the province for Dofasco to convert to electric arc steelmaking process?  Do you know what electric arc steelmaking process entails?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not an expert on electric arc steelmaking.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Would you accept that, to make steel using the electric steel arc process and to decarbonize that process, in fact, from the historical process, when you convert to electric arc, you actually use a lot more gas to get the carbon for the steel but your emissions go down about 70 percent relative to a coke- or coal-based steelmaking process?  Are you aware of any of that?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not in a position to comment on the specifics that you are laying out.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, would you accept that adding a gas connection or increasing gas volumes might actually support energy transition and decarbonization among large industrial customers?

MR. McDONNELL:  Could you restate that?

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  Would you accept that adding gas connections or increasing gas volume consumption for large industrial customers might actually promote energy transition and decarbonization?

MR. McDONNELL:  In pursuit -- let me think of how to rephrase this in a more accurate way.  I think there are certainly a number of different factors that are present when it comes to decarbonization, particularly decarbonization of industry over the long term.  I am not taking a position, nor am I suggesting that decarbonization is unidirectional or does not include a number of different factors, some of which may, as you suggest, increase individual customers' gas demand.

But that really goes to the spirit of this mechanism, which is intended to create a much more neutral position on the part of the utility over a planned period, whether demand increases, whether it decreases, whether customers connect to the system, whether they depart the system.  It is really about creating a better balance over a planned period.

MR. MONDROW:  Can we go to page 77 of the compendium, please.  So this is a response from Enbridge to Environmental Defence, question number 2 it looks like.  Part of the response -- I am looking at page 77.  I am looking at the second-last bullet, information from Enbridge.  And the second-last bullet on this page says:

"Where average cost and revenue per customer are used for this mechanism," and I think that refers to your proposal, Mr. McDonnell, "then it may be the case that the company will be more inclined to add smaller low-cost customers and delay the addition of larger customers."

And they asked the question, Enbridge asked the question:  Is this taken into account?

So I would ask you:  Have you taken that incentive into account?

MR. McDONNELL:  I don't agree with the question.  I think it is -- to me, it is interesting that Enbridge would suggest that it may strategically gain the expenditure of capital within a planned period to sort of allow that to occur closer to the end of the planned period.

I think there are a number of factors that would go into account when it comes to the addition of a larger customer.  I think that, on the whole, it would be my expectation that Enbridge Gas would be interested in connecting that large customer, notwithstanding any sort of very near-term variations in terms of that may be effected in the near term by a reconciliation mechanism that reconciles actual revenues with the target, against the target.

MR. MONDROW:  So your proposals are actually, as I understood your [audio dropout] Mr. Stevens, about dealing with what you perceive to be a disproportionate near-term incentive to add customers, that you are not against recovery by Enbridge of costs associated with connecting customers; your concern seems to be that there is some sort of unbalanced near-term incentive and that drives, to use your term, strategic gaming or strategic behaviour, and that incentive should be removed, and that is what you are proposing.  Am I correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  Well, no, I would disagree.  My comment about strategic gaming was just in reaction to the specific question.  With respect to the mechanism proposed, it is both -- is to create indifference, right, or at least approach that.  It is impossible to achieve that given other structural incentives embedded within the regulatory framework.

I think the important point here is to also highlight and not lose sight of a financial disincentive to customers exercising choice and departing the system as well as new customers coming onto it.

MR. MONDROW:  So, if the evidence at the end of the day illustrates that it is not indifference that it is creating but a different kind of incentive, you would see that as inappropriate, I assume.  You are not intending to create -- you are intending to create indifference.  You are not intending to disincent customer additions or incent delay of customer additions or anything like that?

MR. McDONNELL:  I wouldn't want the term "indifference" to be overly or myopically applied.  I think that, within the ratemaking mechanism itself, all that is attempted to be offered here is that there is less of an acute financial incentive extended to disincenting customers should they wish to choose to depart the system from the perspective of Enbridge Gas as well as too strong of an incentive to allow for distorted behaviour when it comes to new customer additions.

The term "indifference" was used as a way to express near-term revenue neutrality.  In practice, that is a complicated calculation, and there is nuance present there, and indifference is difficult to achieve with a level of mathematical precision in light of the entire regulatory framework.  So the use of the word "indifference," [audio dropout] if it was confusing in this context.

MR. MONDROW:  That is fine.  Let's use the term "neutrality."  So is it your objective that Enbridge should be neutral whether it adds customers from a financial perspective?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is not what I am recommending with respect to revenue decoupling.  I think the gas utility will remain interested in adding new customers to the gas network even with a revenue decoupling mechanism that trues up actual collective revenues against a target.  What this does do however is guard against a disincentive to customers departing the system and it also creates more balance within an approach towards new customer additions as well.  The interest to add customers will remain, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And that will remain because Enbridge will be able to earn a return not only of its capital but on its capital after the incentive period for new customer additions just not during the incentive period; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Let me just make sure I am understanding the comment.  There will be a capital preference.  There will be an interest in adding new customers insofar as the addition of new customers will add capital expenditures which would afford an opportunity to earn on that capital expenditure.

MR. MONDROW:  Following conclusion of the rate?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So, there is an incentive to add customers because they can recover their cost including their cost of capital, just not during the rate term?

MR. McDONNELL:  The capital expenditure during the rate term would be handled as any other capital expenditure during the rate term under a proposal such as this.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go to -- I have one more question.  Can we go to page 74 of the compendium.  And you have talked a number of times, in fact you seem to lead most often, by this notion of removing an incentive to retain customers.  And in -- at page 74, if we go to the bottom paragraph, this is, again, a response from Enbridge to Environmental Defence question number 2.  And the last paragraph talks about the -- and Enbridge says:
"Enbridge Gas notes the customer signals/impacts may not be as CEG intends.  For example, in the event of customer declines, if that was to happen, if there was a true up of revenue shortfalls then costs will go up for all remaining customers.  Assuming that more affluent customers are more likely to be able to choose electrification options, this outcome would impose greater costs on low usage and low income customers."

So, I take it you would agree, Mr. McDonnell, that under your decoupling proposals if customers attrite to leave the system, the financial implication, the risk associated with that attrition are shifted from Enbridge during the rate plan period to customers, to the remaining customers; right?

MR. McDONNELL:  So, insofar as this mechanism would guard against a degradation of financial integrity of Enbridge Gas over a plan period due to departing customers then, yes, that is the intention of the mechanism, as well as to help protect the financial integrity of the gas distribution utility should customers depart the system.  Now, how to -- there may be reason to take a look if that trend is occurring in an acute manner.  If a lot of high-income customers are departing the system over a planned period there may be reason to look at how to mitigate impacts on, or disadvantage, or low income customers.  However, I would suggest that if, in a future where gas demand is declining and customer counts are being lowered, and if it is, in fact, the case as this hypothetical suggests that it is higher income customers that are departing the system then the asset base, the fixed costs, that remaining on that system that has a much lower use would as well be borne by low income customers.  And it is simply shifting the long term risks that could be associated with stranded assets from affluent customers to low income customers, which is something that I think should be taken a hard look at and be avoided if possible.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So, you have said -- you said a few minutes ago that, subject to further consideration, I think you  said that your plan could apply to the largest volume customers.  So, if a large industrial customer has to leave the jurisdiction and you have done this rate class decoupling the other large industrials in that rate class are going to pick up that cost during the planned term; right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Certainly, as proposed that would be the case.

MR. MONDROW:  And do you think that is appropriate?

MR. McDONNELL:  What I don't think is appropriate is if large industrial customers were to depart the system and those under collection of revenues as a result of those departures is then passed on to low income residential customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So, is it appropriate that the remaining large industrial customers have to pick up that cost during the planned period under your proposal?

MR. McDONNELL:  During the planned period I think it is appropriate for revenues per cost to be reconciled on a per class basis.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And, in fact, your proposal is specifically designed so that Enbridge has no incentive to try to keep that customer; right?  That is the whole point your incentive mechanism?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would not strictly agree with that question.  I think Enbridge Gas has a strong incentive overall, and if we zoom out and look at the entire framework to keep that customer.  But it is in design, in the near term, if customers were to depart that that's the sting of that departure is not as acutely felt by the utility.  That is correct.  And so, the case that you provide -- the hypothetical you provided, yes, if demand decreased or customers departed industrial class there would be a reconciliation across that class.

MR. MONDROW:  And, sorry, Mr. McDonnell, I have to ask you one more question then I can finish, I'm probably at time.  But I thought, and I am suggesting, and I thought you were very clear, that your incentive mechanism, whether it is the decoupling or the revenue -- whether it is customer number decoupling or revenue decoupling was designed to do two things one of which was to preclude incenting Enbridge from retaining departing customers.  Is that not the case?

MR. McDONNELL:  To -- you will have to -- the way that was phrased -- I just want to make sure I'm --


MR. MONDROW:  Well, you phrase it however you want.  I thought your point was that Enbridge shouldn't be incented to keep customers that want to leave.  Isn't that half of what your mechanism is supposed to achieve?

MR. McDONNELL:  Within the context of a planned term.  I think there -- I think what we are talking about is there is a time dimension to this, a time horizon to the this.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, I don't understand that all.  So, during the planned term you want them to let customers go, and then what happens after the plan term when those customers are gone?  I don't understand what the...

MR. McDONNELL:  I have no preference.  You are suggesting I  have an interest in Enbridge letting customers go.  What I am suggesting is, with respect to this mechanism, it reduces the near term financial disincentive for customers to be departing the system.  So, as we discussed there would be a reconciliation across specific customer class.  Now, that is different than suggesting that Enbridge has no incentive in the long term to keep large industrial customers connected.  There is a lot of reasons for Enbridge Gas to want to keep large industrial customers connected, including the long term revenues that would be provided from that customer, beyond the narrow focus of a single plan term.

MR. MONDROW:  And, sorry, I said that was my last question but it wasn't now.  So, that longer term incentive is appropriate in your view, that is you don't need to deal with that.  You don't need to correct for that?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is not -- that is not present within the rate mechanism that I have proposed.  I did not speak to the long term structural --


MR. MONDROW:  Well, so I am asking you.  Is that an appropriate financial incentive or not?

MR. McDONNELL:  I think -- I don't purport to opine on its appropriateness.  What I do think is appropriate is that it be continued to be evaluated in light of changing circumstances and uncertainty going forward and that, again, that in evaluation of long term structural incentives are simply just balancing risks and making sure that a stranded asset risk profile does not get  too high in the view of the regulator and that customers continue to be protected.  So, I think that is an appropriate and important role of a regulator in circumstances such as this.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for your answers, sir.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  It is 3:00.  We will take a 15 minute break and be back at 3:15.

--- Recess taken at 3:01 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:17 p.m.
Preliminary Matters


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  On the break, we were just reviewing the schedule, and we have fallen behind by about, I think, 20 minutes or so.  And we don't want to carry that over, tomorrow.  So we are hoping that, with the indulgence of everybody and the witnesses and the court reporter, that we can carry on until we are finished this panel today, if that is okay.  Is there any --


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I asked the witnesses whether they can stay a bit late.  Mr. McDonnell advised me that does have a conflict at 5:00, but he can push it off until 5:30.  And so, if we are 20 minutes late, we can catch up a bit.  I think that should be okay.

Is that correct, Mr. McDonnell?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is correct.  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will take you up on that, Mr. McDonnell, and carry on.  And we are really going to have to hold people to their time estimates in order to achieve that, as well, if we could.  We do really want to start off with a fresh page tomorrow.

And just while I am on it, the reason that we are behind primarily is because of the objection to the qualifications of witness, which we became aware of only at the very last moment.

Generally, and we do have rules of practice and procedure and generally, when somebody wants to object to the competence of somebody, they are required to give notice.  We didn't get notice, and that is why we are behind.

If there are going to be any more objections to the qualifications of any expert witnesses, or any witnesses, for that matter, who are still to appear, anybody who wants to make such an objection will have do that in writing with a complete argument so that we can deal with it in writing, separate from the schedule here.

So, as I say, we don't want to get into this, into the problem that we got into today.  We do want to finish this in the next two days.

So, with that, Mr. Brophy, you are up.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy


MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, Chair.  My name is Michael Brophy, and I am here on behalf of Pollution Probe.

We did file a compendium which, like SEC's, for the entire hearing, so maybe we can get that marked as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  That is Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT K1.5:  POLLUTION PROBE COMPENDIUM

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I don't know what is visible to the OEB Panel or not, but we had filed after we received the schedule yesterday, which was even further truncated than what we had been provided before, we had filed our questions to all parties in advance this morning, and in the hope of it being more efficient and perhaps even being able to be dealt with as an undertaking.  But we ran into some issues with some parties over lunch, and we are not going to be asking for that to be answered in undertaking.

We just wanted to mention that, and to the extent that we are going to be truncating some of the questions, to try to be efficient in time, and hopefully save a little tiny bit.

And we gave Enbridge a heads-up, if it is possible when we get to question 3, there is a list of five items there, so that the panel, their expert panel would be able to see that, that would be terrific.  If there is trouble with that, then we will -- we will just read it at that time.  But I just wanted to give a heads-up there.  Okay.  Thank you, very much.

Okay.  So first, a question is really in relation to your proposal.  And I understood that CEG's, you know, proposal, even though you have two alternatives that the OEB could consider and you went over that in detail with Enbridge this morning, that it is not meant to be exclusive to other synergistic opportunities or things that the OEB could consider either in this proceeding or in future proceedings or parallel proceedings.  And so it is really meant to be, you know, one piece of the puzzle rather than to solve everything.  Is that accurate?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I have gotten that right, so far.  Okay.  So why don't I just jump to the next question.

And we had provided some preamble in what we call question 2, but I will just orient you on it because I don't think that it would be on the screen.

So we had indicated that Enbridge had provided certain wording in their submissions.  For example, Enbridge's response to the ED motion, Enbridge indicated, and I guess it is in quotes:
"Enbridge Gas fundamentally disagrees with the position that it should be disincentivized from adding new customers."

And that was page 6 of their response to the ED motion.  Similarly, in the evidence that the OEB asked Enbridge to file, which was just recently filed, on page 2 of that, similarly it indicates Enbridge Gas is not indifferent to adding new customers and should not be disincented from doing so.

And so Enbridge has used this word, you know, "disincentive", in several of its submissions and documents.  And I just wanted to ask the panel about that in relation to, you know, what they see elsewhere.

So my understanding is a disincentive is something -- it is a relative term.  So you are looking at a status quo and, you know, something that doesn't change ever is neither an incentive nor disincentive from the way I am interpreting the wording or, you know, if it gets better it is an incentive, and if it gets worse it is a disincentive.  But that is not really the way the regulatory construct works.  It is always, you know, changing, evolving, particularly in relation to the energy transition which, you know, isn't static.  And, you know, in every rate term, there is, you know, things that change.  You know, there is a cost of capital proceeding going on right now, where there will be a decision on parameters on cost of capital, and they may change; they may go up, they might go down.

So I struggle with this word "disincentive."  And maybe, I was going to ask CEG if you have any comments on the use of that term, you know, versus comparing it to what is in the ratepayers' and public interest, particularly as it relates to the energy transition.

I have the feeling "disincentive" is the wrong word, but I just wanted to get your opinion on that.

MR. CEBULKO:  Excuse me, this is Brad Cebulko.  May I ask, can you use a prescribe citation of the term, how we should be using or interpreting the word, "disincentive"?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  So --


MR. CEBULKO:  And if it could be on the screen, that would be helpful.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, sure.  Does Enbridge have its most recent, the evidence that it filed in relation to the -- so it will be EGI's 2024 rebasing and IRM evidence outline, 2024/12/16, page 2?

MR. STEVENS:  Are you speaking, Mr. Brophy, to the outline of evidence that the Enbridge witness panel would speak to that was in --


MR. BROPHY:  Correct, yes.  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  -- that was in the December 16 letter?

MR. BROPHY:  That is probably the easiest thing for Enbridge staff to find and put up.

MR. STEVENS:  And once that comes up, Mr. Millar, I don't believe it is in our compendium, at least, so perhaps it needs to be marked as an exhibit.  It has been filed on the record, so I am in everybody's hands as to what should be done.

MR. MILLAR:  I think it should be marked, if it doesn't currently have a number.  So I guess it is an exhibit, K1.6.  And I am sorry, this is...?

MR. STEVENS:  It is a letter dated December 16, 2024, where Enbridge sets out a summary of the testimony that may be provided by its witnesses in relation to the revenue decoupling proposal and in response to Mr. Neme's proposed presentation on his Phase I evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.6.
EXHIBIT J1.6:  LETTER DATED DECEMBER 16, 2024 SETTING OUT A SUMMARY OF ENBRIDGE WITNESSES AND RESPONSE TO MR. NEME'S PHASE I EVIDENCE

MR. BROPHY:  It would be page 2 of that document, I think just down a little bit towards the bottom.  Okay.  Perfect.

So the third bullet from the bottom, if you can see that.  So:
"Enbridge Gas is not indifferent to adding new customers and should not be disincented from doing so."

That is a specific reference, but the term "disincentive" has been used in other letters and submissions by Enbridge in this case, but here is one example we can use.  Do you see that?

MR. McDONNELL:  I do, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I think you gave some clarity this morning when you were talking to Enbridge, that your mechanism is not meant to incent or disincent; it is meant to be a symmetrical true-up based on what the OEB has approved.  Is that right?  Is that accurate?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, actually, I think that actually answers that question.  I didn't know that Enbridge was going to ask that this morning.

Okay, so why don't we move on to the last question, which is going to take the most time:  Is the question 3 wording something that Enbridge would be able to put up, from the document that we filed this morning?  Oh, perfect, okay.  So there are five items there.  Maybe we can get the five bulleted list at 3A.

MR. STEVENS:  Can I interrupt for a second, please, Mr. Brophy?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps we could also mark this letter as an exhibit.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, sorry.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.7.
EXHIBIT K1.7:  LETTER DATED DECEMBER 17, 2024

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry.  To be clear for the record, this is letter from [audio dropout] December 17, 2024.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, that is correct.  Okay, so I will walk through it, but it is probably easier for you to read kind of as I talk through it.

So, to the point earlier, that the two options that you put forward before the Board are just part of the overall solution and that there are other solutions, we have spent some time thinking through things that are existing and in play or potential that could be synergistic to that.  We have listed five here as examples.  There is actually a sixth one we may include in our further documentation later.

But I wanted to walk through these and see if CEG agreed that these types of things made sense and are appropriate.  The first one is --


MR. STEVENS:  I apologize for interjecting.  I know we have been admonished to try to keep [audio dropout], so I apologize in advance.  But I am concerned that we have set a very narrow issue to be determined at this juncture of the proceeding.  Issue number 7 was settled but for one exception.  The settlement proposal sets out the basis on which all parties, including Pollution Probe, settled issue 7, which is:  How should Enbridge Gas be incentivized to implement economic [audio dropout] infrastructure [audio dropout] recovery of its costs be treated?  This was settled on the basis of a number of agreements from Enbridge Gas as to what it would look at in the future, and it was settled on the basis that no options were off the table in the future.

But, for the purpose of this proceeding, for the purpose of Phase II, all that is left is the statement that:  There is no agreement as to whether the '24 to '28 IRM should include a mechanism to decouple revenue from customer numbers.  The parties agree that the OEB should determine this item through a hearing process.

And so that is what CEG is here to speak about.  That is what I asked question about today, and that is what I assume we will see argument about.  It strikes me the questions you are asking now, Mr. Brophy, are about, well, what are the other things that Enbridge Gas could be doing to deal with energy transition considerations.  And, while those might be interesting questions and while those might be relevant questions in another context, I suggest they are not relevant for the narrow question that is in front of us.  And so, odd as it is for me to object to the questions of one party to another party's witness, I am raising this as a relevance concern.

MR. BROPHY:  And thank you for those comments.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Just a moment, please, Mr. Brophy.  I am looking at what is up on the screen.  First of all, you have 15 minutes.  It has taken 10 minutes already, and we still don't have a question answered yet.  But I am looking at what is on the screen, and you are saying:  Please provide comments as appropriate with respect to the following options.  And then I look at the numbered set of statements there, and I don't see options there.  So I am just struggling to understand what you are trying to achieve here with your current question.

Leaving aside Mr. Stevens' concern or in addition to Mr. Stevens' concern, I am just wondering where we are going with this.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  So part of this is to make sure that there is an understanding that there is no conflict in relation to the proposals from CEG in relation to things going on.  So, you know, cost of capital is going to be what it is going to be.  It is going to set certain parameters that influence the utility's returns on capital and other things.  That is not a conflict with the CEG proposal.  Phase I dealt with the capital already, right, so that is kind of set, no challenge.  I think in fact that is the point CEG was trying to make this morning, is that, when the Board makes a decision, their mechanism is meant to make sure that execution aligns with that.  That is the purpose of the variance account.

The IRP items that relate to adding customers and the related capital are Phase III, so that is no conflict; that was in the settlement agreement.  And then the last one is a new one in relation to services from customers that aren't currently used and, if those are retained in rate base, does that drive an incentive to attach the customers even if those assets may not be used in the future.

So I don't know if that provides the clarity you are looking for, but it was contextual around the, the, um...

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Brophy, I think that Mr. Stevens is correct.  We are here to examine a very specific proposal that these two witnesses have been asked to speak to.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  And I think you are going to have to confine yourself to that specific proposal.  I don't think they are in a position to comment on what happens in another proceeding they are not parties to, what is happening with IRP that they are not involved in and so on.  And so I guess I think you are going to have to move to -- you are going to have to cut to the chase, and, if you have questions around the specific proposal, this is your opportunity to ask those.  If you are here to support the proposal, then I am not sure that we need any further cross-examination on your part because you can express your support in your argument.  But you are running out of time, so it is in your hands.

MR. BROPHY:  So let's, to make it simple, maybe perhaps the panel can answer:  Are you of any aware of any barriers currently, from a regulatory perspective, that would block either of your options from being pursued by the OEB?  Is there anything structural that would block either of those options?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not aware of any structural elements that would block the adoption of the proposals, no.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, and I think you answered earlier that this is part of a broader solution, so, to the extent that there are other elements that are considered by the OEB, they can be put in place in a complementary manner.  I think that is what you agreed to earlier.  Correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would agree insofar as a revenue decoupling mechanism should be viewed as but one of many regulatory mechanisms that can be brought to bear in complement with one another to effectuate the totality of a ratemaking framework that is aligned with public interest.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  I think I am at time, so I am going to need to stop there.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  Next is Energy Probe.  Mr. Ladanyi.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  First, I want to greet the witnesses.  I didn't do that before.  Good afternoon, witnesses.  Sorry about missing it earlier.  I am going to try to move quickly as possible.  I actually have about an hour of questions, but I am going to try to squeeze it into 15 minutes.

Mr. Mondrow asked you and I want to follow-up on something you discussed with him.  Do you believe that Enbridge Gas is preventing customers from leaving the system?

MR. McDONNELL:  I don't believe Enbridge Gas is preventing customers from leaving the system, no.

MR. LADANYI:   Thank you.  So, do you believe that the current OEB guidelines for gas system expansion and gas customer attachment should be changed?

MR. McDONNELL:  It is not my position that any changes should be made to any existing guidelines with respect to gas system expansion.  What I am suggesting through this mechanism and through our submitted evidence it that it is prudent to evaluate the regulatory framework in light of changing circumstances, in light of different risk factors, consistent with energy transition in the prospect of potentially declining demand, and in the particulars of the decoupling mechanism that it is appropriate to ensuring that there is the right balance of financial incentives being extended within the near term IR plan itself.

MR. LADANYI:   You will have to trust me on this: Under the EBO 188 guidelines there is a revenue horizon of 40 years.  So theoretically, a marginal customer, a customer that is just profitable is not going to reach the rate of return until 40 years from today.  So, until that time, which is previous to the 40 times, Enbridge is going to be under-earning for that customer, and other customers will have to subsidize that customer.  These are the current guidelines, you will have to trust me on this.  In fact I was involved in the development of the guidelines.  So, do you feel -- don't you agree with that?  So there is no way that Enbridge could possibly be over-earning for new customers.

MR. ELSON:  I am sorry, that is not a fair question.  You said you are going to have to trust me on this and you --


MR. LADANYI:   Okay.  Well, don't trust me.  Let's move on.  We have no time.  Okay.  So, you are not -- I understand you are not familiar at all with any of the customer attachment guidelines.  You don't know nothing about EBO 188; do you?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not here to speak as an expert on the attachment guidelines.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  And don't know anything about EBO 134?

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, I think his answer would probably be the same, because those are both talking about --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I just wanting to establish that he knows actually very little or next to nothing about what we do here in Ontario.  So this actually proves my point.  Thank you.  So, please turn to answer to interrogatory M2-EP-6.  Can we have that on the screen?  When you use the word "customers" who are you referring to?

MR. McDONNELL:  With respect to the preamble that is in quotes here?  Is that correct?

MR. LADANYI:  So are you referring to current customers or prospective new customers?

MR. McDONNELL:  So, with respect to this preamble that is highlighted, the use of the term "customer interest" is intended to be expansive, and in terms of all customers, but certainly when we talk about risk profile and the stranded asset risks that can be present, you know, there is -- it can be important to be looking at the delta between existing customers and new customers going forward.  But this is intended to refer to all customers.

MR. LADANYI:  Are you saying that new customers should not have gas service or are you saying they can have gas service if they pay more for it?

MR. McDONNELL:  No, I am not saying either of those things.  That is not present in my evidence, no.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  But are you proposing that Enbridge should earn a lower return on system expansion investments to add new customers.  Would that not result in lower rates for new customers, since Enbridge would have to charge them a lower return on rates in rates?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not sure that is at issue in this specific hearing.  I think we are here to talk about the revenue decoupling mechanism specifically.  Consistent with the current --


MR. LADANYI:  But you are proposing a low return on investment in adding new customers; aren't you?

MR. McDONNELL:  We did offer a differentiated ROE proposal within our evidence, absolutely.  And I stand on the submitted report with respect to that.

MR. LADANYI:  So as an alternative.  But you not proposing that; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not certain of the question.  And I am a little confused by the line of questioning insofar as we are here to talk about the revenue decoupling mechanism.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I read your evidence.  I read your interrogatory responses.  That is my conclusion.  Please explain to me what exactly are you asking for relating to the return on assets to add new customers.  What exactly are you proposing?

MR. ELSON:  Can I interject, Mr. Ladanyi?  The issue with differentiated ROE that was settled as part of the settlement conference, and so questions to the panel about a settled issue in my submission aren't relevant or helpful because the answer is that the parties decided that that should be something that is expressly studied and, you know, a concrete proposal put forward for the next rebasing case.  So, that is where that lands at the moment, which I think you know, so maybe I am missing something but I think that would be the answer to your question.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Could you turn to M2-EP-11.  So, are you aware that Enbridge Gas customers on system gas payer rate that consist of a fixed monthly charge and a volumetric charge for the gas they consume?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Do you know what proportion of Enbridge Gas fixed charges are recovered through the fixed monthly charge in the residential rate?

MR. CEBULKO:  Can you repeat that question?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Again, do you know what proportion of Enbridge Gas fixed charges are recovered through the fixed monthly charge in the residential rates?

MR. CEBULKO:  I do not know the answer to that, but I am a little concerned about the use of the term, what we are including in the term "fixed charges".  If you are using it broadly, or narrowly within how it is defined within the rate design itself.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, the way I am defining fixed is when I get my gas bill there is a fixed monthly charge and there is a volumetric charge.  That is what I am talking about.  I am not talking about anything else.  So, I am a gas customer of Enbridge.  So, can you explain to me how are you defining it?

MR. CEBULKO:  Right.  I was just making sure you weren't defining it broadly speaking about the fixed -- like, the delivery system rather than the piece that is in the fixed customer charge.  I apologize.

MR. LADANYI:  So, let me -- I am not allowed to explain anything because Mr. Elson will object so let me ask you a subsequent question.  Are you proposing that some of the fixed costs that are now recovered through the fixed monthly charge should be recovered through volumetric charge?

MR. CEBULKO:  I don't believe that that was a part of our revenue decoupling proposal.

MR. LADANYI:  So, tell me what it is, yes or no?  It was a yes or no question.

MR. McDONNELL:  No.

MR. LADANYI:  The answer is no.  Now, there are three methods of setting rates under the fourth generation IRM in Ontario.  Which method does Enbridge Gas use?

MR. CEBULKO:  You said there are four methods of -- could you repeat the question, please?

MR. LADANYI:  No, I said there are three methods, not four.  But it is called fourth generation because there were previously three other generations.

MR. CEBULKO:  Understood.  So, sorry, can you please identify -- ask your question one more time, please?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Okay.  There are currently three methods of setting rates under fourth generation IRM.  Which method does Enbridge Gas use?

MR. CEBULKO:  I don't have the answer off the top of my head.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Now, Enbridge Gas also uses the incremental capital module under its IRM.  Can you describe what this is and how maybe we should use it?

MR. McDONNELL:  Is this connected to the revenue decoupling mechanism design?

MR. LADANYI:  Most definitely, because you want to change the IRM.  That's what you're proposing.  That's what -- revenue decoupling, you want to change it.  And I want to know if you understand how Enbridge rates are being set now under the existing IRM.

MR. McDONNELL:  So without -- you know, without more opportunity to sort of respond with specificity, I think what we are suggesting is a modification of an existing reconciliation mechanism.  There is already a reconciliation mechanism within the IRM that is known as the average use variance account.

We have put forward a proposal that would seek to introduce opportunities for modification of that.  What you are asking me is to explain on the stand a lot of detail around the mechanics of, you know, the overarching mechanism and the incremental capital module of that.

And, you know, I am happy to take that in as an undertaking, but I am not certain that I would be able to do so on the stand here, at this moment in time.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Mr. McDonnell, you are actually a Dr. McDonnell; I don't know how you would like to be referred to.

MR. McDONNELL:  Mr. McDonnell is quite all right, thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I understand from your CV that you are based in Arizona.  Is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And there are gas utilities in Arizona?

MR. McDONNELL:  Gas utilities do exist in Arizona.  Correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And can you tell us what are the system expansion policies for gas utilities in Arizona, just roughly?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am sorry, the question to me is to explain the gas system expansion policies of utilities in Arizona?

MR. LADANYI:  That is right.  You are here in Ontario, proposing that we change our gas system expansion policies.  As I just found out, you actually don't know much about them.  But I thought maybe you could, since you live in Arizona, you should at least know what is happening in your own state.

MR. ELSON:  I don't think these questions are relevant and, in the interests of time, I suggest that we move on.  I will add that there isn't a proposal to change gas expansion policies.

MR. LADANYI:  No, there isn't.  Okay.  Very good.  Well, we will see in the argument how that works out.  Okay.

So what are the rate-setting methods in use in Arizona?

MR. McDONNELL:  Mr. Ladanyi, I am not here to present evidence on the rate-setting methodologies utilized in Arizona for gas utilities.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  But you don't --


MR. McDONNELL:  If you would like for me to take that as an undertaking, I am happy to provide --


MR. LADANYI:  Not at all.  No, not at all.  I am just exploring the extent of your knowledge, because you have been presented as an expert and has been adopted -- accepted by the Board as an expert.  And I am testing the amount of knowledge that you actually have.

So I am going to actually leave it right now, and pursue the rest in argument.  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  I am sorry, sir, administratively, the time was allocated for this panel -- was accorded to the Enbridge panel, which is what I intended.  And so --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Yes, I did get that message.  I had forgotten, I am sorry.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Next on my list.  You don't have any questions.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  That's right.  Mr. Garner, you are up next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, and let me see if I can beat my 15 [audio dropout] and less time.  I only have, I think, three areas, panel.  My name is Mark Garner, and I work, I am a consultant for the VECC, which represents low-income consumers in this proceeding.

So let me just start with this:  You call this revenue decoupling, and I want to, you know, speak to that.  And it is not revenue decoupling in the way I think of it.  And I went to look at something.  Do you know what NARUC is?  Both of you are experts, so you both know what NARUC is.  And I found something in NARUC that says:
"Revenue decoupling:  In the electricity and gas sectors, revenue decoupling is a generic term for a rate-adjustment mechanism that separates/ decouples an electric or gas utility's fixed-cost recovery from the amount of electricity or gas it sells."

So the way I think about decoupling is it is a separation of the commodity cost from the non-commodity cost.  Is that the way it is generally used in rate making?

MR. McDONNELL:  No.  I think the passage that you are referring to, it was intended to be reflected there, which is the common sort of literature definition of revenue decoupling mechanisms is loosening the link between sales volume and the recovery of costs, be they fixed or variable.

MR. GARNER:  But I am not sure I understand, but I am going to move on -- your answer, but let me move on quickly.

The purpose of your mechanism isn't -- as I take it, it isn't to separate the volume cost that customers are paying in its rates from the non-volume distribution charges.  That is your mechanism goes to customers actually attaching to the system.  It is a slightly different type of proposal, or maybe a very different type of proposal.

Is that fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  No.  The proposal itself is -- we presented two alternatives.  The first proposal as we have described today and as described in the evidence is a revenue decoupling mechanism that would reconcile and true up actual revenues collected from target revenues.  What we did offer as an alternative proposal for consideration was a modification, a variant that could sit alongside an average use per customer variance account that would true up on a per customer account basis.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I was a little confused about what you were putting forward -- so the two.

Well, let me ask you this question:  Are either of you aware that in Phase III of this proceeding, which seems to never end, there is going to be an exercise in rate-making to look at something Enbridge has called a straight fixed variable rate?  Have you looked at that?

MR. CEBULKO:  I am aware of certain fixed variable rates, and I think we are generally aware that that was an issue --


MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. CEBULKO:  -- in the next phase.

MR. GARNER:  I am not particularly asking you about what their proposal is.  I am just really trying to get to this issue.

If the Board were to adopt that proposal, their proposal, how does that impact your proposal?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would have to learn more about the specific rate design that was ultimately adopted by the Board.

MR. GARNER:  Well, that is fair enough, but maybe I can put it this way:  Here is the struggle I am trying to get through, maybe you can help me with, is that are you a little bit of the cart before the horse in the sense that, should the Board make that determination first and then come back and look at your mechanism?  It is not clear to me that the order of those two events makes a difference to things.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Garner, if I can interject:  If it would be helpful, I think the witnesses could provide an answer to both of your questions by way of an undertaking, and then be able to actually review the specific proposals in Phase III.  It is entirely up to you and the Panel, but it would seem to me that that would elicit more helpful answers -- up to you.

MR. GARNER:  Well, it is clearly up to the Board, what they would like to hear.  But may I say this, Mr. Chair, is the only difficulty is I won't be able to examine that and do discovery on whatever that answer is.  And so I have the witnesses here today, to answer.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Well, let's see what the witnesses can do to the specific question that you just asked.  You might want to repeat the question at this point.

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  The question is if the Board were to adopt what I am going to call a revenue decoupling rate mechanism as either -- either the one that is being proposed by Enbridge, or what I would call, let's say, a variant of it, would that impact either one of your proposals?  Would they have to be adjusted in any way?

And if you don't know, that is perfectly fine.  I am not trying to put you on the spot.

MR. McDONNELL:  I don't view the proposal as mutually exclusive to the adoption of the straight fixed variable.  However, there are maybe certain factors that I would want to understand about, whatever specific rate design is present.

Generally speaking, no.  What we are offering is a reconciliation mechanism that is affecting the actual revenue collection during the plan period.  We are not speaking to the specifics of rate design itself, and that is where I would draw the line between what we are offering and how the rates are designed in order to collect revenues from customers, specifically.

MR. GARNER:  One of the reasons I ask you is in your own evidence it seems to say, or it's -- I am looking at page 12 of your evidence -- that you are not a proponent for straight fixed charges because there is a disincentive for customers in the sense of separating the commodity out of that, and they may -- "over-consume" may be the wrong word, but generally they are incented to consume more under those kinds of mechanisms that separate the fixed charges from the volumetric or commodity charge.  Is that an incorrect thing?  I just looked at page 12 of your evidence, the last paragraph.

MR. CEBULKO:  This is Brad.  Yes, generally, we have concerns with straight-fixed variable because it reduces the incentive for energy efficiency and reduces the customer's ability to control their bill.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  Now, I have another question about the way yours worked, and you will have to pardon my -- I am not getting this right because your stuff didn't have a lot of information in the interrogatory that kind of explained it.  I am a little bit confused.  If I understand your mechanism, the utility would set a connection target in each one of the years, and then, depending on how it meets or doesn't meet that target, it would make some financial adjustment.  Is that the way it works?

MR. McDONNELL:  So --


MR. GARNER:  In a high-level, high-level way of working.

MR. McDONNELL:  Well, so there are two proposals that have been put forward.  So, just to clarify, under the revenue decoupling mechanism that is sort of the revenue per customer class mechanism, that is -- what would be established at the beginning, there would necessarily be a revenue target that would be established to true up against, and so, therefore, the reconciliation would be against target revenues as against actual collected revenues.

And, with respect to the per customer count variance, that could be established in one of two ways.  One, it could be the customer count in terms of the going-in test year, going-in rates, or the customer count could be designed in such a way that it is a forecasted customer count, which would allow the regulator to have some visibility as to Enbridge's forecast of customers, and it could be designed such that that is then trued up against that forecasted amount.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So let's go back to those one at a time.  Here is where I am really going with this question, is:  If the Board were to adopt one of these mechanisms, would it be correct to say that the utility would then have to go back and revisit forecasts that it was already making on things like customer count in order to adopt them to this new mechanism?

Presumably, the idea is, if you are not now, you are making things neutral and you are going to change, let's say, your customer count forecast, what the utility has put in front right now, it hasn't contemplated that, and they would have to then [audio dropout] that adjustment.  Would that be fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  It would be fair to suggest that the specific variant of the second alternative design, to the extent that the Board would want to include a customer count forecast as a part of that, it is fair to say that a customer count forecast would need to be developed.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I hope I am not [audio dropout]  Thank you, Panel.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  You beat your estimate by six minutes.  I think you are the first person to do that today.  All right.  Mr. Gluck, I think you are up next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Gluck


MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Lawrie Gluck, and I have a few questions on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.  Can everyone hear me okay?

I would like to first discuss your second decoupling approach, described as the customer count variance account, and you just had a brief discussion with Mr. Garner about it.  But I was hoping that we might be able to walk through a few hypothetical examples to make sure that I understand how it actually works.  I filed a compendium, and I am hoping we could pull that up and have that marked.

MR. MILLAR:  It will be Exhibit K1.8, this would be the compendium.
EXHIBIT K1.8: CCC COMPENDIUM FOR ED PANEL 2


MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  If we could, go to PDF page 7 of the compendium.  Okay.  So, here, I have laid out five hypothetical examples with respect to your customer count variance account proposal.  The first example is the one that is in your evidence or in the IR response to CCC-3.  And, on the far column, I have added a column that is described as "Methodology, Source of Information."  And I just want to confirm that I am understanding what the proposal is.  So, with respect to line 1, is the number of actual customer connections that would go in there relative to the test year forecast?

Is that how you expect it to work under a price cap IR, where we are not re-forecasting things in later years of the term?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.  So that could operate as a delta against total customers at the start of the planned term, or it could be reconciled against a customer count forecast that would not be revisited over the planned term.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Line 2, is your revenue per customer in your proposal actual weather-normalized revenue?  Is that what that line would represent?

MR. McDONNELL:  Under this proposal, I just want to be -- let me just be helpful about that because this would sit alongside an average use per customer variance account.  So, yes, I would agree that it would include actual weather -- I think it would include actual revenues.  Let me just pause a moment.  I would agree that it includes actual weather-normalized revenue.

MR. GLUCK:  And would that be the only thing in that line, or are you trying to suggest that it would be actual weather-normalized revenue netted against something?

MR. McDONNELL:  Well, insofar as we have also included the allowance of incremental cost or incremental O&M cost per customer, that would also be netted.  And that is included, I believe, as your line 3 here, as well.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And, for line 3, just to confirm, this would be the test year cost escalated by the price cap index?  Is that how you would calculate that?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And, based on your conversation this morning with Mr. Stevens, I understand that your proposed incremental costs, incremental costs are only OM&A costs.  Is that -- am I right?

MR. McDONNELL:  O&M costs is correct.  The intention would be for capital expenditures to be treated outside of this, just as any other capital expenditure would be treated during the planned period.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  In hypothetical scenario 1, because there were 10,000 incremental customer attachments relative to the test year forecast, the costs are lower than revenues; the result is that Enbridge has to refund ratepayers.  Is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  We are looking at hypothetical 1, just to confirm?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  In terms of example 2, given that we are measuring a variance of customer connections relative to the test year connections, it is possible that they, Enbridge, would connect exactly the forecast number of connections, and, in that scenario, there would be no variance to true up.  Is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Thanks.  And then, in hypothetical example 3, this reflects the assumption that actual customer additions are lower than the test year forecast and they maintained all the revenue and cost assumptions that you made.  And here, because there are 10,000 less attachments, Enbridge would have to collect $5 million?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And hypothetical example 4 reflects the assumption that actual customer additions are higher than forecast, but now I have reflected the assumption that forecast costs are higher than the actual revenues in the early years of a customer attachment.  So you will see in line 3 I have changed the "100" box to 610.  And, in this example, because there are 10,000 more customer additions, you, Enbridge, actually has to collect additional dollars from customers because the revenues aren't covering the costs?

MR. McDONNELL:  I right, I understand the mechanics of the hypothetical as proposed.

MR. GLUCK:  So that makes sense to you.  If the costs are higher than the revenue and they have more additions than forecast, they are actually just going to collect more money?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes, I am not sure that this hypothetical reflects the underlying incremental O&M cost per customer, but, if it were the case that the average incremental O&M costs per customer exceeded the average revenue per customer then this hypothetical is, you know, mechanically is accurate.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And if we could move to the first decoupling approach that you describe as the revenue decoupling per customer class, which is described at PDF page 4 of the compendium, please.  This approach operates to true up the total actual revenues only adjusted for weather relative to normal to the total approved revenues for each rate class; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  This is different than your second proposal.   This one is actually a full class true up and it is not really targeted at customer connection.  It is just a true up of revenues by class?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And if we could go to PDF page 6 of the compendium, please.  And it is actually the bottom of this page.  Here you say that the comprehensive revenue decoupling mechanism shares similarities with the Hawaiian Electric company's revenue decoupling mechanism.  And am I right that this is similar to your first option, the full class revenue true up?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct, insofar as revenue decoupling mechanisms are typically designed on either a per customer basis or in this proposal on a class basis.  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And I understand that you were counsel at the Hawaii Public Utilities Commission; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  I did serve as Commission counsel to the Hawaii Public Utilities Commission, correct.

MR. GLUCK:  And if we can go to PDF page 8 of the compendium, please.  This -- I understand this to be a decision of the Public Utilities Commission of the state of Hawaii that originally established the revenue decoupling methodology applicable to the Hawaiian Electric utilities.  Are you familiar with this decision and I am right that this is the first decision that launched revenue decoupling in Hawaii?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes, subject to check, this would appear to be the initial decision and order establishing a revenue decoupling mechanism in Hawaii for Hawaiian Electric company.  I believe the decision is dated August 31 of 2010.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And you have some familiarity with it if we were to -- if I were to walk through it with you?

MR. McDONNELL:  It has certainly been -- I was not Commission counsel at the time this decision was passed and certainly familiar with the revenue decoupling mechanism having served as Commission counsel with the Hawaii PC.  Certainly familiar with the revenue decoupling mechanism as it's evolved over time or as it has been integrated into the most recent performance based regulation framework that the Commission has adopted far more recently than this decision, but I am happy to follow along within this decision with you today.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, if we go to PDF page 60, please.  And here in the decision the rate setting mechanism is described.  And I would like to confirm my understanding of that mechanism with you.  So, my understanding is the revenue requirement is initially set on a cost of service basis; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  And then that cost-based revenue requirement that was established is escalated each year through an annual adjustment mechanism which appears to be an inflation minus productivity type adjustment?

MR. McDONNELL:  As originally designed the RAM that is referred to here did not operate quite in that fashion.  The way the revenue decoupling mechanism functions today, within the context of the current performance based regulation plan, does operate in a I-minus-X formula practice.  So, different than how it is being described here though, just to be really clear.  The RAM, as described here, is no longer -- and, in fact, there has been a couple iterations since this decision came out.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  If we go do PDF page 42 of the compendium, please.  And here it describes that the revenue requirement, as escalated each year by the annual adjustment formula, is considered the target revenue; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct, yes.  That there is establishing of target revenues, the target revenue would be allowed to adjust over it planned period.  Within our proposal we suggested that there is an opportunity to identify, at the planned period beginning, what target revenues could be as a result of the price cap mechanism and those revenues could also inflate, consistent with the I-minus-X approach to the price cap itself.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  If we can please go back one page in the compendium, and here it describes that the actual revenue is compared against the target revenue and the revenue variance is trued up through what is described as the revenue balancing accountability or the RBA; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So, a few things I couldn't find in the decision, and I assume they are not there because it is not part of the rate framework, is there is no weather normalization applied in Hawaii; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Not within that specific design, correct.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.

MR. McDONNELL:  There are other revenue decoupling mechanisms that do accountability for weather normalization.  It is not an uncommon adjustment to it.  There is many different types of revenue decoupling designs across North America, some of which do include accounting for weather, some of which do not.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And there is no cost true up in Hawaii; is that right?  The cost flowed, if they spend more they have low earnings if they spend less they would have higher earnings; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not sure I -- I want to make sure that I am understanding your question correctly.  Could you restate it for me, please?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  So, all that is trued up is the revenues.  You true up actual revenues to target revenues, but the utility spends what it is spends and that is not trued up.  The cost side of the equation is not trued up during the IR term there?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.  I am a bit hesitant because -- that is correct.  And, you know, I want to make sure that I am -- because we are looking at a decision from 2010 that includes structures that are not in place today, so I just want to -- but, yes, it is correct.

MR. GLUCK:  No, that is fair.  I am looking at the decision that launched revenue decoupling somewhere; right?  Which is what you are suggesting here.

MR. McDONNELL:  Well, I -- sure.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So, in terms of a comparison between your revenue decoupling per customer class approach and the approach applied in Hawaii, they are similar in terms that they both set a target revenue based on the escalated approved cost base revenue requirement; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct, yes.

MR. GLUCK:  They both then compare the actual revenue against target revenue; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  In Hawaii a difference, I would say, is in Hawaii the true up is done on a utility-wide basis; is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. GLUCK:  And here you are suggesting it is done on a rate class basis?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.  Though with respect to the revenue balancing account, the utility-wide basis in effect is then passed through to the customer class tariffs themselves.  So, there is -- but in this instance I am suggesting that we look at revenues on a per class basis.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  And so, overall you would agree the approaches are relatively similar?

MR. McDONNELL:  They share some similarities, which is why I refer to it as a example of a non-per customer reconciliation mechanism.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  If we go to PDF page 54 of the compendium, and here the Commission describes that the implementation of decoupling would have the effect of reducing the Hawaiian Electric company's financial -- is that right?  I think it is a little bit further down on the page.

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes, insofar as I don't have the specific language in front of me.  But I am reading it now, so I do see that language there, yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  And if we could please go to the next page of the compendium, and here the Commission found the Hawaii electric companies would start capturing the variance between target revenues and actual revenue only after the utility's reset their base rates to reflects a reduced ROE.  Do you see that?

MR. McDONNELL:  I do see that.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  So, in Hawaii, when revenue decoupling was introduced, the commission did not just start the approach of having revenue decoupling with the existing base rates that were in place.  They required the companies to reset base rates to reflect a lower ROE before decoupling could begin.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  So maybe just add a little nuance:  The way that this decision was, was the product of an investigatory docket.  So the structure of this was to examine the development of a decoupling mechanism through an investigative proceeding.

It is accurate and it is reflected here that there was a suggestion that there is a reduction in financial risk due to declining sales, and that that should -- that reduction in risk should be reflected in, as I am reading here, a reduced ROR due to decoupling.

I don't have the next rate case in front of me to see whether that guidance and intention was actually reflected in an authorized ROE that was set for going electric.

I do think there are differences structurally in terms of the procedural vehicles that were used in Hawaii to establish this mechanism.  And there is a lot of reasons for that, including what is referenced throughout the decision is HCEI, which is the Hawaii Clean Energy Initiative, and some other cross-agency initiatives that this was a product of, in part.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I think I understand from your previous responses today that the revenue decoupling approaches that you have proposed do nothing to mute the incentive to grow rate base in the long term.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is fair.

MR. GLUCK:  And these decoupling mechanisms also do not influence a customer's own decision to attach or not.  And, by that, I mean there are no price signals from this approach that would make the direct cost of connecting higher or lower.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is true.  That is fair.

MR. GLUCK:  And, in the circumstance that customer attachments on an actual basis are lower than forecast due to customers themselves making the decision to not attach or to leave the system, and assuming actual revenues associated with new attachments are higher than forecast costs, then the proposed decoupling approach simply allows Enbridge to recover additional revenues associated with the customer's own decision to not attach or to leave the system.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  There was a lot there to follow, so forgive me.  Would you mind repeating that one more time for me, to make sure I am with you?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  So a customer makes a decision to leave the system.  A customer decides not to attach.  Your approach is basically allow Enbridge to recover additional revenues associated with those customers' decisions.  Is that fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  No, I wouldn't characterize it that way.  I don't know that it is additional revenues.  What is being proposed is that there is a revenue target established consistent with an OEB decision on revenue requirement.  And that target revenue could adjust over the plan period.  And that would be reconciled.

So, you know, if I am understanding correctly, if a customer did depart the system or if there was a reduction in use, just as how the average use per customer variance account functions today, there would be a reconciliation of that.

So today, as I understand, you know, if average use per customer is lower than anticipated, there is a variance account to true that up.  This would function in a similar mechanical fashion with a larger aperture in terms of target revenues rather than just average use per customer.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And if I didn't use the words, "additional revenues", but it allows them to recover revenues that they otherwise would not get in the absence of the reconciliation.  Would you agree to that?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would, yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  And I just want to take this one step further:  If there is an inflection point, and every customer decides that a heat pump is the way to go in this next IR term, under the revenue decoupling approach the remaining customers are essentially just propping up utility revenues and Enbridge doesn't need to react to a declining customer base in the short term.  Is that fair?

MR. CEBULKO:  Can I ask a clarifying question:  Did you say within this term, this short term?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes, in the short term.

MR. McDONNELL:  So, just to restate, the question is within the short term, if every -- let's say 40 percent of customers decided to depart the system the -- yes.  So I think -- so if 40 percent of the customers, let's say, decided to depart the system within the plan period, I would not agree with a statement that Enbridge would have no interest in sort of addressing that.  That would be a material issue for their financial integrity in the long term.  And, you know, there would be a strong interest in that, if that were an outcome.

It is accurate to suggest that the mechanism as proposed is intended to reconcile those collected revenues, and that those customers that are still connected to the system and paying bills would be trued up accordingly.

There are ways in other decoupling -- it is a common practice among decoupling mechanisms that a cap be established to prevent any extreme outcomes like the one that you are describing.  And so, in this particular case, a cap on the high end or the low end could certainly be established to prevent against any sort of extreme outcomes like the one that you are suggesting, a material defection of lots of customers over a single plan period.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Gluck.  Mr. Daube?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Daube


MR. DAUBE:  Good afternoon.  My questions address the topic of what your proposal will mean for First Nations in Ontario.  I was hoping we could start with actually the Enbridge compendium, at page 193.

Are you familiar with Mr. Neme's work in this proceeding?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am aware that Mr. Neme is in this proceeding; I have not studied all of his work.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Well --


MR. McDONNELL:  I would defer to Mr. Neme, to speak to his own evidence.

MR. DAUBE:  Yes, it is not crucial; I am just trying to situate us here.

So are you aware that, for example, he has identified certain risks arising from the possibility of decarbonization, and those three risks are identified under the second bullet there?

MR. McDONNELL:  Subject to check, I will -- and for purposes of making sure we can continue, I will accept that.  I am not able to independently verify that, beyond this.  This is the first time I am seeing this particular slide.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Well, if it gives you comfort, this comes from Mr. Elson.

MR. McDONNELL:  Sure.

MR. DAUBE:  But really, what I am driving to here is these three risks, so increased risk of underutilized stranded assets, future ratepayers saddled with paying high fees -- sorry, high rates for those assets, inequities between customers today and those left on the system later, these are the kinds of risks that were among the kinds of risks that your proposal is aiming to mitigate.  Is that right?

MR. McDONNELL:  I agree that these risks are present, and I would agree that these are risks that should be evaluated, and the rate-making framework should be examined and calibrated to ensure that it is appropriately balancing risks such as these.

I don't know -- it is not fair to say that the revenue decoupling mechanism itself addresses all of these risks.  The revenue decoupling mechanism is but one tool in the toolkit, and is really intended to, you know, address either over-incentives to add new customers within the plan period, or mitigate financial disincentives from the perspective of Enbridge Gas for customers departing the system.

MR. DAUBE:  I see.

MR. MCCONNELL:  So it is not fair to say that it addresses all three of these risks in this --


MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Let's talk -- sorry.

MR. McDONNELL:  Go ahead, please.  Sorry.

MR. DAUBE:  Let's talk specifically about the third bullet, inequities between customers today and those left on the system later, and even more specifically, especially for low-income households who face barriers to leave the system.  What does your proposal do in relation to that risk?

MR. McDONNELL:  Go ahead.

MR. CEBULKO:  I will let Mr. McDonnell speak to the revenue decoupling mechanism in a second, but, first, I want to say that our report was addressing a variety of tools to address energy transition as a whole.  Right?  So we identified multiple tools that the OEB could be considering to address each of these risks amongst others that are out there.  And so I just want to, for awareness, though, that today's proceeding is focused on one of those tools, and I don't think it would be fair to say that any one tool addresses all risks.  So I will stop there.

MR. McDONNELL:  Thank you, Mr. Cebulko.  Maybe just to try, to attempt, to respond to the question, I don't -- one concern that I think could be present with a regulatory framework that is not properly calibrated in terms of the incentives being extended to the gas distribution company for adding new customers is that, when it comes to potential departures of customers in the future or decreasing demand in the future, because as the future is uncertain and there may be, with the prospect of energy transition, there may be declining demand, we may see certain customers leaving to the future.

The risk there is of course one of a stranded asset risk, and there would be concerns from an equity perspective that those with the greatest means to finance their own migration away from the gas system and electrify, it may place an undue burden on lower income customers into the future.  It is not accurate to state that the revenue decoupling mechanism on its own can address that issue.  It is multi-faceted, and there are also structural incentives in place beyond the scope of a revenue decoupling mechanism.  But it, in conjunction with other tools that a regulator maybe brought to bear in a well-calibrated regulatory framework with many pieces of the puzzle in place, this is an important piece in my view to start to help address some of that risk.

MR. DAUBE:  Right.  Okay.  Can we pull up my client's compendium, please, and we will go to page 112 according to the transcript pagination.  So I believe that is going to be --


COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Can we get an exhibit number for that, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  K1.9.
EXHIBIT K1.9:  THREE FIRES / MINOGI COMPENDIUM FOR ED PANEL 2


MR. DAUBE:  Four, five, so it is going to be the sixth page, please.  So speaking, Mr. McDonnell, about a general risk that you were just describing, you can see from the transcript here that, in Phase I, Mr. Vollmer and Mr. Neme had an exchange about whether those same considerations might apply to First Nations communities that lack in resources to adopt alternative energy sources if they want to or face challenges due to the fact that they are more remote.  And so my question for you is, number one -- well, first of all, I should ask:  Do you accept that First Nations communities that are either lacking in resources or more remote may face some of the same risks that you were just describing?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes, I would accept that.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  We can take this down, please, just so -- thank you.  Now, am I correct that in the relevant passages report there is no mention of First Nations or no analysis of the impact of your proposals on First Nations?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is accurate, correct.

MR. DAUBE:  So I am wondering if you could provide views here or whether you have any views on what your proposal might mean what, sort of impact it would have, for First Nations.  And, sorry, just for completeness so I don't leave it totally open here, what sort of impact in terms of the three risks that we have reviewed from Mr. Neme's presentation and even more specifically with respect to the more specific risk that you and I have just spoken about, Mr. McDonnell?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.  Let me attempt to answer that directly, and then I will give me colleague, Mr. Cebulko, an opportunity to respond, as well, if he would like.

Insofar as First Nations communities may be more at risk as a, you know -- if it would be not unfair to characterize First Nations communities as sharing some of the concerns or constraints as low-income customers more broadly, what I think is attempted here, within the revenue decoupling mechanism, but again making sure we are contextualizing grounding this mechanism within a much larger frame, that this is just one of many tools that can be utilized to better balance risk.  And, when we say "risk," I am referring to the prospect of potentially stranded asset risks into the future as one risk to be concerned about.  I would suggest that longer term stranded asset risk does have the potential to be borne in a disproportionate manner by lower income customers as well as First Nations customers, given the characteristics that you have described to me and accepting those.

Now, the revenue decoupling mechanism alone cannot guard against all those risks.  What it can do and why it is being offered is that it can help to balance some of the near-term incentives for new customer additions, so start to balance that in a more appropriate manner perhaps, given risk profile into the long term.

It also, as I have mentioned today, lowers the disincentive for customers to exercise choice.  So, were it to be true of First Nations customers that they were interested in exercising choice, this would impact them insofar as there is less of a financial disincentive on the part of Enbridge Gas to their exercising that choice and departing the system, as well.

MR. DAUBE:  Now, if the Board generally accepts your recommendation and moves forward generally with the proposal, as it over the coming whatever period of time thinks through the details of implementation, do you have any further analysis that you recommend that would assist the Board in understanding the impacts of revenue decoupling specifically on First Nations?

MR. McDONNELL:  So, to respond, I think that, to the extent that a revenue decoupling mechanism is adapted consistent with our initial proposal of establishing allowed revenues to be reconciled against target revenues, further analysis could be useful in terms of providing some safeguards and consumer protections around the percentage amount of how much that reconciliation impacts customers within a planned term.  There can be some guardrails established there.

In the longer term -- this is separate and apart from the revenue decoupling mechanism -- I think, if we are to zoom out and sort of look at other options, this applies more generally to low-income customers as a whole.  There may well be options to look at ways in which the Board can ensure that low-income customers are not being disproportionately impacted by a situation where there is declining demand into the future and there are mechanisms to do that that exist outside of the revenue decoupling mechanism, itself.

MR. DAUBE:  Can you give a bit more detail on that?  Can you elaborate on that last point a little bit?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes, for a bit.  This is Brad.  To the extent that the OEB and the utility and parties can identify socioeconomic data about customer additions and customer departures to better understand who is being -- what types of -- what income levels and from where are being added to the system, and conversely who was leaving the system and to the they extent they are First Nations that should be able to inform the OEB in its next consideration of does this mechanism need adjustment or and if so, how to address the specific concerns of your clients.

MR. DAUBE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Daube.  Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Mark Rubenstein.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I just have a few areas to ask you about following up on some of my friend's questions.  I first want to ask you about the customer account variance account proposal.  If the incremental revenue from each new additional customer equals the incremental cost to Enbridge for that new customer, would you need this mechanism?

MR. McDONNELL:  There would be less net impact to a customer account variance, if that were the case.  What I think is hard to say that that would always be the case.  Even if that were the case at the outset, that customer revenue profile, it may well change over time.

So, it is hard for me to speculate in hypotheticals, but it would -- as I understand your hypothetical, if, you know, I think we went through a few hypotheticals during some of the prior questioning.  If the net impact would be zero the net impact would be zero in that specific example.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If the incremental -- I am speaking in generalities, I accept that.  But if the incremental revenue was higher than the cost, which I think is the premise of a number of your examples, in your view, obviously, this account is beneficial; correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  Beneficial insofar as it helps to mitigate any over-incentives for adding new customers during the planned period and any disincentives to customers departing the system through the planned period, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if the costs are higher than the revenue, so at least this is what I took Enbridge to be suggesting to you in their questions; is the account still a good idea?

MR. McDONNELL:  If the incremental O&M costs, specifically incremental O&M costs, not an allocation of both capital and O&M, were to exceed the average revenues then, you know, there would be perhaps a reason to evaluate whether that is a particularly effective mechanism design.  And recall that this is just one of two variants that were put forward.  As I understand some of the data that was put forward on behalf of Enbridge, the incremental O&M cost per customer did not exceed the average revenue per customer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I know you are excluding capital cost, but maybe the Board disagrees and ultimately includes it, so I am -- that is why I just want to talk about costs generally.  If the Board is thinking of approving an account that includes a bucket of incremental costs, however we are defining that, and the revenue.  If the cost exceed the revenue should the Board approve the account?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would not recommend a per customer variance account to be adopted in a manner that includes both incremental O&M costs and incremental capital costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But ultimately -- but imagine the Board says we are going to include both, or that is how we consider costs.  I know you disagree with that and I will ask you about that in a moment.  Should the Board still approve the account or is the purpose of which you are proposing the account, would it be defeated in such a situation?

MR. McDONNELL:  I am not sure that it would be defeated.  I think the cost -- what is probably accurate to suggest is that it would have less impact on variances being trued up on a going forward basis, particularly if average costs and average revenues are equivalent.  That being said, I don't know that it is an inappropriate mechanism to have in place as those figures may adjust over time.  Yes, I will pause there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I at least I think what we take from this that determining what the actual incremental costs are important not just to the calculation, but to determine how if the -- if we are getting a good -- if this is going to be a very useful account or as you said would be, you know, there may be some use but it will obviously be diluted; correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  With respect to the specific alternative recommendation of a customer account variance account, the determination of incremental costs is an important characteristic and design feature.  I would agree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And your evidence does not do an analysis of the costs; correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  My -- I do not have time, resources or data available to do an analysis of all the costs, correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, let me ask you essentially the implications with respect to your, I will take it as, your primarily proposal which is the customer class approach.  If the  incremental revenue from new customers equals the incremental costs to Enbridge for that customer, should we still utilize your primary recommendation the customer class approach?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would suggest the answer to that is yes, because the real spirit behind that revenue decoupling per class mechanism is to decouple sales volumes from actual revenues collected.  And so, in that sense I think it still is applicable, but it may change over time and it may need to be iterated upon into out years beyond the specific planned period at issue here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you mentioned it to me and you had mentioned it to my friend Mr. Mondrow earlier, that in your view with respect to the customer account variance account you should only be including the O&M costs, not the capital costs.  And I'm not sure I fully understood, and that may be my fault, of why you would not include the incremental capital cost, or at least the revenue requirement equivalent of the incremental capital cost.

MR. McDONNELL:  Well, for purposes of that variance account, my recommendation would be the variance account accounts for incremental O&M costs.  To the extent that there is a capital expenditure budget envelope already in place for the planned term, that capital expenditure is for new customers connections are accounted for within that budget envelope and would be handled as any other capital expenditure over a planned period term.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if it was determined that capital budget or the base rates do not include either sufficient or the full incremental capital cost for new additions, would your opinion change?

MR. McDONNELL:  There could be an allowance.  I could envision a design variant that would accommodate some amount of additional capital funding.  I don't know that that would be optimal.  And I would want to study that further before opining in detail.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree with me that an important component of this Panel will need to know if rates include funding for the capital for incremental additions or not?

MR. McDONNELL:  Could you restate that for me one more time, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you would agree with me that it is important for this Panel's finding, or take a view, if either the capital budget, or rates or however it may be looked at includes the capital component of incremental costs, that is already being recovered?  I mean, you say it is; Enbridge says it isn't, so the Board will have to make a determination, because that is important to determining how to design the account.  Fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  Fair.  I think it is an important component, is to understand whether there is an account -- I mean, as with any sort of expenditure, that is a factor to be considered in a plan design and a plan period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I want to just explore with you the scenario where, over time, Enbridge loses customers.  So where disconnections are higher than new -- in a given year, for example, are higher than the number of new connections.  And under the current proposed price cap framework, Enbridge's revenues would decrease in that situation.  Fair?

MR. McDONNELL:  Fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And under your revenue decoupling customer class approach, at least during the IRM term, the overall revenues would not decrease.  Correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can we go to page 50 of SEC's compendium?  This is K1.3.  This is just from your report; this is page 13 of your report.  If we scroll down to the last paragraph, you say:
"Given the concern that the energy transition is expected to result in declining sales from smal- volume customers, an average use variance or revenue per customer decoupling mechanism may not adequately address the utility's financial exposure to a decline.  In lieu of an average use variance account, the OEB should consider an alternative approach, the revenue per customer class.  Like revenue per customer, revenue per customer class determines the appropriate revenue to be collected, regardless of the level of demand from customers.  Revenue per customer class, on the other hand, is indifferent to the number of customers on the system or to the average use."

Do you see that?

MR. McDONNELL:  I do.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to focus on the sentence where you say, essentially, the existing mechanisms or the revenue per customer mechanisms may not adequately address the utility's financial exposure to a decline [audio dropout].

And I want to understand from your perspective in the context of the energy transition, why we wouldn't want -- with respect to, from a customer's perspective, want to have the utility face that financial risk, and so that it is able to adjust its costs because of its declining revenue, and adjust its business model because of this declining revenue.  Why do we want to insulate them from that?

MR. McDONNELL:  Go ahead, Mr. Cebulko.  Please.

MR. CEBULKO:  I don't believe that our proposal would insulate them from it over the longer period of time, right? -- just with -- in the specific plan period.  And revenue stability within that plan period, it can be a benefit to customers in the sense that it minimizes the financial risk exposed to the utility.

We certainly wouldn't want to get into a situation where the utility is financially in peril and not able to make basic investments to maintain a safe and reliable system.  So this is kind of a control mechanism.  But certainly there will be a longer term financial impact on the utility of declining revenue, and which would be picked up in the next rebasing period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But sorry, just if I could stop you there:  I mean, the scenario you are describing is of significant decline.  Right?

MR. CEBULKO:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The utility in sort of a free-fall scenario.  And then in your -- if that occurs in a situation where other customers are having to pick up the revenue, you are actually just expediting the death spiral.

But I am talking about the more short to medium term.  At least, let's talk about the next -- this rate term and maybe into the next rate term, where we are seeing a decline, but it is not the situation you are describing.

Why do we want to insulate them from having to adjust their costs, adjust their practices, to take that into account?

MR. McDONNELL:  I would suggest that, as we describe within the report, I mean, really this is just as, you know, revenue decoupling initially emerged to deal with the decline in sales as a result of efficiency, I mean, I think here what we are suggesting as well is we are trying to remove a financial disincentive for customers to make that choice, to leave the system.

And so it is an intentional balanced approach to, on the one hand, mitigate some of the sharpness of financial impacts were customers to be departing the system and, conversely to, you know, start to make a bit more neutral the Enbridge Gas's financial incentives to be adding new customers within the plan period.

This is not to suggest that we would not want -- we would want to insulate them entirely from risk.  In fact, this mechanism is offered in balance with some other tools that should be used in the toolkit, to appropriately balance risk.  But I think that risk should be evaluated holistically, and within the context of the plan, overall.

So it is not to just focus on this specific mechanism, but look at the totality of regulatory mechanisms, how they interact with one another and compliment each other, and what is that risk profile overall.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me just ask you about those two things.  So the first thing you talked about and you have mentioned it before was -- and I am maybe getting it wrong, exactly how you put it, but essentially it is you want to eliminate or reduce the -- I take it as the incentive for Enbridge to try to keep customers in the system.

Is that what you are talking about, when you are talking about the customer's disincentive to leave?

MR. McDONNELL:  From the perspective of Enbridge, yes, correct.  Insofar as if a customer were to leave within a plan period, that would result in a decline of revenues.  Therefore, there is an indirect or, you know -- there is a barrier that is implicit in that structure, currently, and this is intended to lessen that barrier part, within the context of a plan period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can you help me understand from your perspective what you see as Enbridge -- like, what are they actually doing to keep the customers?  I mean, they can't offer them a deal, like, they can't offer them a price reduction.

So can you help me understand what you are really getting at?

MR. McDONNELL:  Well, I think there is a number of factors that can indirectly influence the opportunity for customers to exercise choice.  It can also have an influence over investment decisions within a plan period, depending on the impacts to revenue.

So I think there is a number of things; it is not as though it is as simple as, you know, the utility sitting down at the kitchen table with a customer and directly lobbying or influencing the specific customer's decision.  But the incentives that we extend, both within the specific mechanism we are talking about, but within the rate-making framework writ large, do influence behaviours and do influence investment decisions overall.

And that is in part what we are looking at here, is just making sure that this is balanced within the plan period in particular.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then you talked about the incentive to add new customers.  And, you know, there is a lot of discussion in the evidence and obviously in the discussions today about, you know, they should be neutral to adding or -- I took your view that they, the company -- you are trying to create a system where the company is neutral.  Correct? -- to adding or losing customers, at least in the short term.

MR. McDONNELL:  Specifically in the short term, I want to emphasize that.  I am not suggesting that a revenue decoupling mechanism is able to address the full suite of, sort of, structural incentives to adding new customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I just want to understand how you -- I just want to understand what neutrality means from a practical perspective.  I think you would agree with me and I take it from other parts of your evidence that generally speaking Enbridge, like all regulated utilities, has an incentive to build capital because it earns a return on that capital.  Correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if the mechanism -- and so let me ask you a question:  If incremental revenue equals incremental costs, costs include capital, and included in those -- in that cost, in that incremental capital cost includes their cost of capital, is Enbridge neutral in that situation to adding a customer?  Or not?

MR. McDONNELL:  In the long term, I think there is still a preference to have customers connected to the system.  In the near term, in that specific example, there is less of a sharp preference within that limited example.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, still in the short term, they have -- in your view, are they fully neutral?

MR. McDONNELL:  No.  And I don't mean to suggest that this revenue decoupling mechanism is "fully neutral" in a very broad, holistic comprehensive sense.  It is intended to, you know, balance it more in that direction than the existing approach.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you, very much, panel.  Those are my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Millar?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  Some of my questions have been covered, and, given the time of day, I will endeavour to get through this as quickly as we can.

Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for OEB Staff.  When we look at your report, I understand -- the initial report you filed is Exhibit M2 -- it makes six recommendations to better align Enbridge's financial incentives with customer interests.  Is that correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, through the settlement agreement, the parties agreed to move the consideration of most of these recommendations to the next rebasing.  Is that correct?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is my understanding, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But there was no agreement regarding revenue decoupling, and that is why we are enjoying this discussion this afternoon?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is my understanding, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit M2-SEC-2.  I believe this is the interrogatory responses to questions on your reports.  Yes, there we go.  And there is a question about the recommendations, and then, if you look to the last sentence of your response, you state:
"CEG observes that a regulator should view a utility's risk profile within its regulatory framework in a comprehensive manner rather than viewing individual mechanisms in isolation."

Do you see that?

MR. McDONNELL:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  So, whatever the merits of revenue decoupling may be, I think that some parties may suggest in their final argument that the OEB should be deferring a consideration of revenue decoupling to the next rebasing along with all the other recommendations that you have made.  What do you think of this approach in light of your response that it is preferable for a regulator to examine these matters in a comprehensive manner and not in isolation?

MR. McDONNELL:  I simply stand by the statement.  I think that is the optimal approach for any regulator to take, that these mechanisms be evaluated holistically.  That being said, this statement should not be read to preclude a regulator from making some modifications or adopting certain mechanisms that can generate customer benefits in the near term.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so you remain comfortable looking at the revenue decoupling issue on its own?

MR. McDONNELL:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there a preference from your point of view that ideally it would be looked at with all the other elements at the same time?

MR. McDONNELL:  Certainly in the long term, beyond this particular planned period, it is always beneficial for a regulator to be evaluating all mechanisms in a comprehensive manner.  I don't think that precludes consideration of the adoption of a revenue decoupling mechanism in this forthcoming planned period.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  A similar question if we could turn to Exhibit M2-CCC-1, and, again, this is a response to an interrogatory from CCC.  Their question about all of your recommendations.  You state, "Not necessarily," and then, if we look to the last sentence, CEG recommends the Commission prioritize the adoption of differential ROE and customer class revenue decoupling.

So, again, a similar question here:  You identified two in particular that were of key importance.  Should the OEB be looking at the revenue decoupling absent looking at the ROE on growth-related assets at the same time?  Can those be reviewed independently?

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, and that would be the same reasons you gave me to my previous question?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct.  I don't view the two as being linked insofar as one would preclude the evaluation of the other.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Just some general questions about how revenue decoupling works:  First of all, the proposal is symmetrical, correct, in that it addresses both potential increases in customer numbers and decreases, as well?

MR. McDONNELL:  Correct, so both increases in actual revenues collected as well as against target as well as through the undercollection of revenues against target in that specific example.  And then, with respect to the customer count variance proposal, yes, both the addition and subtraction of customers is intended to be covered by the mechanism.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  You put it better than I did.  If we look at your report -- and, I am sorry, I didn't have a compendium for this.  It is from page 2 of your report, which I think is M2.  I am just going to read you a quote which I don't think you will have any difficulty with, and it is just to frame the question.  But you state that revenue decoupling from customer numbers reduces the incentive to connect new customers, which requires significant capital outlay that increases rate base and energy transition risks.

You are familiar with that quote?  That is from your report.

MR. McDONNELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And so what you are talking about there is the stranded asset risk.  Is that correct?  In other words, that you may get a bunch of new customers; there may be incentives to add customers, and, if energy transition goes forward as many people think it will, then you will have greater stranded asset risk.  Is that what you are talking about there?

MR. McDONNELL:  That is one of the risks implicated there, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. CEBULKO:  Can I add that there is a second risk, which is just customer departures in the event that that asset is not stranded, that there will be higher, considerably higher, rates, right, The fixed costs that exists spread out over the fewer customers [audio dropout]


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so that is actually what I wanted to ask you about.  If look on the flip side related to customer exits, what I want to put to you is that -- I don't want to say there is no stranded asset risk because I recognize what you just said, but it is a different stranded asset risk, is that right, because those assets are already built, the capital costs are already in rate base?

So do you care to comment on that?  Maybe to put it more clearly, what I am saying is:  There is no risk of overbuilding assets on the customer exit side.  Is that fair?

MR. CEBULKO:  I am not sure I understand what you mean, "There is no risk of overbuilding assets on the customer exit side."

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, so perhaps I can put that more clearly.  Let me try again.

When I read you the quote before, there was a focus on avoiding overbuilding assets.

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me that that applies on the one side of the equation relative to customer additions?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes, and I think that a key piece of this is that new capital plan will have a longer service life than existing capital plan, generally speaking, right.  So it is even more risky relative to plan that is already in service.

MR. MILLAR:  Indeed, and I think that was the point I was hoping to discuss with you.

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That there are stranded asset risks of a type on when you have customer decreases because you have a decrease in customer base, I guess, and then the people who are there are stuck with higher costs.  Is that right?

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But those risks are a little bit different than the risks that you see relative to stranded assets for customer additions; if you are going to be putting new plant in the ground.

MR. McDONNELL:  I might offer that there is a nexus there, and a relation there insofar as a regulatory framework that is structured in a way that is perhaps extending very strong incentives to continued expansion of a gas system, that those new assets could be underutilized in time even if they are not completely stranded, which does push up rates.  So I wouldn't necessarily -- it is challenging maybe to sort of separate those two because they do interplay with one another.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I do recognize it is late in the day, and if I am feeling tired, you must be even more so, having been on the stand for so long.  So I will just try this from one more angle and leave it at that.

MR. McDONNELL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  The account is symmetrical in that it protects, if I can put it that way, both ways.

MR. McDONNELL:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  But are the risks symmetrical both ways?  Like, is it more important to protect on the customer addition side than on the customer exit side, or do you view them as in balance?

MR. McDONNELL:  I will offer a response and then see if my colleague, Mr. Cebulko, has anything else to add.  When one zooms out to examine the risk profile as a whole, I think my recommendation and my view is that a regulator should look at the totality of the framework and how well it does balance risk between the utility and the customer.

On the whole, I think generally speaking it is appropriate for a regulator to look to share a risk with the utility as the utility is often the one that is best positioned to address that risk, as opposed to customers, going forward.  So, if I am understanding the thrust of your question, it may well be the case that risk is not symmetrical.

I don't have a specific and detailed position on that at the moment, but it is, within sort of the regulatory construct, incumbent upon the regulator to sort of balance risk between customers and utility and also, you know, in part examine utility financial integrity over the long term as well.  And I will pause there to see if my colleague has anything further to add to that.

MR. MILLAR:  No, he has had enough of this line of questioning and maybe I have as well.  So, thank you very much, panel.  I appreciate your indulgence with my questions.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Commissioner Sword, any questions?
Questions by the Board


COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you.  I have just one, and thank you for staying into overtime.  Much appreciated.  Speaking of choices that have to be made on that, you worked in different jurisdictions and now you are entering into the Ontario picture.  What role does the state have in terms of the entity in terms of energy planning?  And I just say as example Ontario is starting with its first integrated energy plan.  We haven't had one before, so it is taking all fuels into account.  One of them that's not present is actually oil, because a lot of money is being invested in electronic vehicles, with batteries and things like that, which is a signal that the state would like electricity to take account for the demand in oil and assume that accountability.  How does this get taken into consideration by a regulator and how does that sort of impact the model that you are proposing?

MR. McDONNELL:  I will allow my colleague Mr. Cebulko to take that first, if you would like, Mr. Cebulko.  Otherwise I can.

MR. CEBULKO:  Well, to the extent that -- may I ask a clarifying question?  Are you focused on revenue decoupling mechanism or kind of our suite of realigning utility financial incentive with customer interest and public policy?


COMMISSIONER SWORD:  I think just your general suite in terms of the direction you are taking, please.

MR. CEBULKO:  Yes, this has been an area that I have been quite interested in for a while, integrated energy planning at a kind of a higher level.  And I think there is, you know, I think there are benefits to a province or government level providing a high level kind of strategy and assessment.  And I think planning is useful, because it helps -- while it is impossible to forecast the future, you can run various scenarios that put bounds on the future, right, to kind of understand what are the potential possibilities out to the future.  And then identify at, a very high level, kind of the investments that minimize cost and risk over that period of time.

I think that it is appropriate, at a high level, government level, but then it needs to break down into the utility-specific, right, and to coordinate in between the electric and gas utility to ensure that their assumptions reflect each other's assumptions; right?  And maybe not in balance, but aren't completely divorced and unrelated so that there aren't duplicated investments or expectations.

And so I think planning is a key part to set up the regulatory structure that we are talking about here, this rate making and regulatory structure.  So the plan helps identify what are they, kind of the risks in the future, and what the future scenarios could look like.  And then the rate-making helps guide the actual implementation to ensure that customers and the utility are, you know, both financially -- they are affordable rates, they are fair and just, and for the benefit of public interest.

COMMISSIONER SWORD:  Thank you.  Commissioner Moran, that was my only question.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Sword.  My other colleagues have indicated they don't have questions.  And I just have one.  Ms. Monforton, can you please pull up the settlement agreement, please, and if you could go to page 16 of the document.  Just scroll down just a little bit more so be we get the -- okay, so that is good.

Just an implementation question.  If the OEB were to implement your proposal, how would that factor in to the formula that -- you will see the formula that has been agreed upon by the parties, subject to the resolution of this issue.  Do you see this as being like a Y-factor?  Just asking a practical question.

MR. McDONNELL:  Practically speaking, to the extent that the average use variance account is considered a Y-factor today, this would likely be -- there would be logic to that being the same.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That was my only question.  Mr. Elson, do you have any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Elson


MR. ELSON:  I would just like to ask one quick question, and I apologize to my witness panel.  I just wanted to follow up on the questions that Mr. Stevens was asking about government policy, to just put the question to you.  Is decoupling revenue from customer numbers contrary to customer choice, keeping housing costs down and maintaining a viable gas system?  Can you explain why or why not?

MR. McDONNELL:  With apologies, Mr. Elson, can you just repeat that one more time to make sure I respond to each component of that?

MR. ELSON:  To try to be quick I asked you a triple-barreled question, so I apologize.  Is decoupling revenue from customer numbers contrary to the policy of customer choice?  Why or why not?

MR. McDONNELL:  No, it is not contrary to the -- to the principle of customer choice.  It is not contrary because, by its design, it is intending to lessen either positive or negative incentives for the addition or subtraction over the planned period in the near term.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thanks.  In the interest of time I should stop there, so thank you very much, panel.

MR. McDONNELL:  Thank you.

COMMISSIONER MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  And thank you very much to the panel for your assistance on this matter.  You are excused.  I think we have no further business tonight, so we will see you tomorrow.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:16 p.m.
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